102145

JPRS-UPS-85-023

15 March 1985

# **USSR** Report

# POLITICAL AND SOCIOLOGICAL AFFAIRS

DESTRIBUTION STRATE STRAT Approved for public releases Dismisunon Uniumited

19980324 144 DALITY INSPECTED 2

FBIS

# FOREIGN BROADCAST INFORMATION SERVICE



8 156 A08

JPRS publications contain information primarily from foreign newspapers, periodicals and books, but also from news agency transmissions and broadcasts. Materials from foreign-language sources are translated; those from English-language sources are transcribed or reprinted, with the original phrasing and other characteristics retained.

Headlines, editorial reports, and material enclosed in brackets [] are supplied by JPRS. Processing indicators such as [Text] or [Excerpt] in the first line of each item, or following the last line of a brief, indicate how the original information was processed. Where no processing indicator is given, the information was summarized or extracted.

Unfamiliar names rendered phonetically or transliterated are enclosed in parentheses. Words or names preceded by a question mark and enclosed in parentheses were not clear in the original but have been supplied as appropriate in context. Other unattributed parenthetical notes within the body of an item originate with the source. Times within items are as given by source.

The contents of this publication in no way represent the policies, views or attitudes of the U.S. Covernment.

### PROCUREMENT OF PUBLICATIONS

JPRS publications may be ordered from the National Technical Information Service (NTIS), Springfield, Virginia 22161. In ordering, it is recommended that the JPRS number, title, date and author, if applicable, of publication be cited.

Current JPRS publications are announced in <u>Government Reports Announcements</u> issued semimonthly by the NFIS, and are listed in the <u>Monthly Catalog of</u> <u>U.S. Government Publications</u> issued by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

Correspondence pertaining to matters other than procurement may be addressed to Joint Publications Research Service, 1000 North Glebe Road, Arlington, Virginia 22201.

Soviet books and journal articles displaying a copyright notice are reproduced and sold by NTIS with permission of the copyright agency of the Soviet Union. Permission for further reproduction must be obtained from copyright owner.

JPRS-UPS-85-023

15 March 1985

# USSR REPORT

# POLITICAL AND SOCIOLOGICAL AFFAIRS

# CONTENTS

INTERNATIONAL

	•
U.S. Violations of International Law Alleged (KOMSOMOL'SKAYA PRAVDA, 22 Dec 84; IZVESTIYA, 30 Jan 85)	1
Book Review, by A. Piradov Article by Jurist, by Reyn Myullerson	
CIA, Italian Authorities Said To Back Red Brigades (TASS, 15 Jan 85)	. 6
U.S. Apologizes for RFE Broadcast to Poland (Moscow in English to North America, 18 Jan 85)	. 7
Editorial Review Lauds Gromyko Speech Collection (VOPROSY ISTORII KPSS, No 1, Jan 85)	. 8
Frolov Views Need To Avert War Under Modern Conditions (Ivan Frolov; NEW TIMES, No 2, Jan 85)	. 22
Swiss Arms Policies Said 'Incompatible' With Neutrality (APN DAILY REVIEW, 29 Jan 85)	. 26
KGB General Recounts Soviet Counterespionage in WWII (V. Pirozhkov; AGITATOR, No 23, Dec 84)	. 27
Western Attempts To 'Revise' Yalta Conference Results Hit (NEW TIMES, No 6, Feb 85)	. 34
Burmese Insurgents, Separatists Seen as No Threat to Unity (Viktor Lintov; Moscow in Burmese to Burma, 12 Feb 85)	. 47
IZVESTIYA Criticizes Pope's View of 'Liberation Theology' (R. Tuchnin: IZVESTIYA, 10 Feb 85)	. 49

- a -

Index of Articles Published in 1984 (NEW TIMES, No 52, Dec 84)5	51
Japan Accused of Poaching Soviet Salmon in Open Ocean (A. Illesh, A. Pralnikov; IZVESTIYA, 4 Feb 85)	74
CEMA Construction Specialists' Meeting in Tashkent (PRAVDA VOSTOKA, 25 Jan 85)	76
	77 77
NATIONAL	
Chernenko's Old Border Unit Receives Award (A. Ladin; KRASNAYA ZVEZDA, 20 Feb 85)	78
Communist Approach to Democracy Explained (E. Kuzmin; PRAVDA, 14 Dec 84)	79
Atheist Education Techniques, Problems Discussed (A. Okulov; POLITICHESKOYE SAMOOBRAZOVANIYE, No 12, Dec 84) 8	85
Author Decries Lack of Printed Legal Codes in USSR (E. Zhbanov; IZVESTIYA, 16 Jan 85)	96
Yerevan Hosts Conference on Use of Atomic Energy and Technology (KOMMUNIST, 23 Jan 85)9	97
First Play at Taganka Theater Under New Director (E. Surkov; PRAVDA, 7 Feb 85)	97
REGIONAL	
Vayno on Political, Ideological Education (K. Vayno; KOMMUNIST ESTONII, No 11, Nov 84)	98
Armenian Council of Ministers Review State Plan (SOVETAN AYASTAN, 6 Feb 85)11	15
Efforts To Stem Ural River Pollution Described (G. Sazonov; PRAVDA, 8 Feb 85)11	18
SOVETSKAYA LITVA Publishing Plans for 1985 (A. Gel'bakh; SOVETSKAYA LITVA, 13 Jan 85)	22
Uzbek Economist on Regional Development Problems (M. Sharifkhodzhayev; PRAVDA VOSTOKA, 18 Jan 85) 12	26

-

-

Uzbekistan's Internal Labor Demography Problem (K. Nomerovannyy; PRAVDA VOSTOKA, 18 Jan 85)	130
Book on Estonian Communist Party Reviewed (T. T. Popov; VOPROSY ISTORII KPSS, No 11, Nov 84)	133
Siberians Fear River Diversion Could Destroy Irtysh (Vladimir Cheshegorov; OKTYABR', No 12, Dec 84)	138
Snags in Increasing Uzbek Labor Productivity (V. Chervov; KOMMUNIST UZBEKISTANA, No 12, Dec 84)	142
Articles View Desertification, Water Use in Turkmen SSR (I. S. Zon, N. S. Orlov; TURKMENSKAYA ISKRA, 12 Dec 84)	144
Uzbek Komsomol First Secretary on Republic Problems (B. Allamuradov; KOMMUNIST UZBEKISTANA, No 12, Dec 84)	146
KaSSR Power, Electrification Ministry Collegium Meets (KAZAKHSTANSKAYA PRAVDA, 15 Feb 85)	147
Public Censure Endorsed as Means To Combat Alcoholism (L. Pastushenko; RADYANS'KA UKRAYINA, 29 Jan 85)	147
Uzbeks Have 4.2 Billion Rubles in Savings (SOVETSKIY UZBEKISTAN, No 1, Jan 85)	148
Uzbek 'Askiya', Verbal Dueling, a Developed Folk Art (Shoim Butayev; SOVETSKIY UZBEKISTAN, No 1, Jan 85)	148
Uzbek CP CC Meeting Discusses Consumer Goods (PRAVDA VOSTOKA, 18 Dec 84)	149
Briefs	
Ashkhabad Party Aktiv New Kirghiz Towns	150 150

- c -

### U.S. VIOLATIONS OF INTERNATIONAL LAW ALLEGED

#### Book Review

PM041257 Moscow KOMSOMOL'SKAYA PRAVDA in Russian 22 Dec 84 p 3

[Book review by Professor A. Piradov: "Anatomy of Lawlessness"--reviewing "U.S. Violations of International Legal Norms" (Narusheniya SSHA Norm Mezhdunarodnogo Prava), by M.M. Avakov, YU.M. Melnikov, YU.M. Rybakov, and others, Moscow, International Relations Publishing House, 1984]

[Text] In conditions where U.S. imperialism has set a course of spurring on the arms race and exacerbating international tension, an immeasurable increase is taking place in the role and significance of modern international law, which is intended to govern relations among states with a view to developing equal, mutually advantageous cooperation among them and strengthening international peace and security.

The White House administration, which lays claim to the role of ruler of the people's destinies and pursues a policy of diktat and violence, sees international law as a major obstacle to its aggressive imperialist course. Seeking to "surmount" this obstacle, official Washington tries to distort the true meaning and content of the fundamental principles and norms of modern international law and substitute arbitrary rule and violence for the law and order which has become established in the world.

The exposure of the White House administration's aggressive, hegemonist course, its crude violations of the most important principles and norms of modern international law, which are enshrined, in particular, in the UN Charter and the Helsinki Final Act, and also the U.S. violations of commitments under bilateral and multilateral agreements is the subject of the book "U.S. Violations of International Legal Norms" which has just been published at the International Relations Publishing House (chief editor Doctor of Juridical Sciences Professor M. Avakov).

There is no doubt of the topicality of this study, since the reactionary U.S. foreign policy course is characterized by clearly expressed nihilism in relation to international law and the refusal to reckon with the legitimate interests of other states and peoples, big or small. In recent years many instances have been recorded of frank refusals by Washington to fulfill its

1

commitments. At the same time the United States is resorting--not for the first time--to downright political forgery, trying to accuse the Soviet Union of violating its own commitments. The TASS statement of 21 October 1984 enumerates the most important agreements in the arms limitation and reduction sphere which are violated by the United States, while the United States seeks to shift the blame for wrecking these agreements onto the USSR. In this connection the TASS statement stresses that "while the USSR strictly and unswervingly fulfills the treaties and agreements concluded, practical actions have been and are being undertaken by the United States with the aim of bypassing and directly violating international commitments and disrupting normal relations between states."

Alongside the violation of existing accords, the United States hinders the adoption of agreement on banning the development, production, and stockpiling of chemical weapons and on destroying them; on a general and complete end to nuclear weapons tests; on limiting nuclear arms in Europe; and on banning the militarization of outer space. By blocking the attainment of accords on these and other key problems, the United States would like to secure a "free hand" for itself to step up its efforts in the arms race, which is aimed, in particular, at achieving military superiority over the USSR, exhausting our economy, and gaining domination of the world.

At all stages of the evolution of U.S. foreign policy, a trend has been clearly discernible for the law to be used to justify lawlessness and interference in other states' internal affairs, a trend for the creation of a kind of new, American international law to give the semblance of legality to illegal acts and military adventures.

This concept does not even suit the Americans themselves. A recently published book by Democratic Senator P. Moynihan entitled "Loyalty to Agreements" contains an appeal to the American administration to observe the basic principles of modern international law, in particular the UN Charter, in its foreign policy. The White House's arrogant attitude toward the United Nations and its charter, the author notes, is contrary to the "American concept of the international rule of law."

This trend can be discerned especially clearly in the U.S. Administration's Latin America policy. Having perpetrated the act of aggression against Grenada in October 1983--which was, incidentally, the 136th open armed intervention by the United States in Latin America in the last 100 years--official Washington tried to justify this criminal act in terms of an appeal by the Organization of East Caribbean States to the United States for "assistance" against the "Grenadian threat," as well as in terms of the need to "protect" American citizens in Grenada. Other international-legal "arguments" were also put forward, as is well known.

The current preparations by the White House administration for aggression against Nicaragua are clearly following the scenario which was tried out in Grenada. Washington does not shrink from any dubious methods, as is indicated by the "manual" which the CIA compiled and sent to the counterrevolutionary

2

gangs which are sent into Nicaraguan territory, instructing them to engage in political murders and terror. The case of the instructors is another clear confirmation that it is the American administration which inspires the policy of state terrorism.

The numerous aggressive wars which U.S. imperialism has unleashed, whether in Vietnam or Grenada, have always been accompanied by flagrant violations of international legal norms; the peaceful population has been the victim of these wars as a consequence of the aggressor's use of barbarous means of conducting hostilities, and civilian targets have been subjected to massive destruction.

The book demonstrates the obstructionist U.S. policy in relation to the UN Convention on the Law of the Sea adopted in 1982 and exposes U.S. violations of international legal norms on the immunity of states, the principles of respect for states' sovereignty, conscientious observance of international commitments, cooperation in the sphere of the international use of the mass information media, and so forth.

The publication of this collective monograph will undoubtedly help a wide range of readers to gain a still deeper understanding of the true nature of the present-day U.S. foreign policy course pursued by the most reactionary circle of American imperialism. A course which runs counter to the vital interests of the vast majority of states, which advocate that international relations be based on law, not tyranny. The Soviet Union has done and will do all in its power to improve the political climate on the planet.

#### Article by Jurist

PM311433 Moscow IZVESTIYA in Russian 30 Jan 85 Morning Edition p 5

[Article by candidate of Juridical Sciences Reyn Myullerson, member of the Soviet Association for International Law: "Do Laws Exist for Washington?"]

[Text] The contrast between the requirements of international law and Washington's course in the international arena has, perhaps, never been so striking. Attempting to reconcile the irreconcilable, the White House is distorting international law itself beyond all recognition.

Modern principles and norms of interstate relations unambiguously condemn the policy of force, the threat of force, and interference in other states' internal affairs. Hence Washington's attempts to amend these norms and pass off as international law the U.S. Administration's unilateral decisions.

When, after the CIA piratical operation involving the mining of Nicaraguan ports, Nicaragua appealed to the UN International Court of Justice in The Hague accusing the United States of "recruiting, training, supplying, financing, supporting, and aiding military and paramilitary actions against Nicaragua and guiding these actions," the United States announced its rejection of the International Court's jurisdiction 3 days before the complaint was filed. In this matter, official Washington referred to the peaceful settlement plan put forward by the "Contadora Group" states. The U.S. ambassador in the Netherlands declared that the Contadora scheme "enjoys the firm support of the United States and is the most suitable means for solving problems in accordance with the UN and OAS Charters, with a view to establishing lasting peace in the region. The United States is concerned that the legal procedures instituted by Nicaragua may obstruct this multilateral process."

Nevertheless, Nicaragua had only to announce its agreement to the "Act of Peace" proposed by the "Contadora Group" for Washington and its puppets in Central America to immediately reject it.

Despite all the White House's subterfuges, the court in The Hague unanimously ruled that "the United States must immediately cease all actions restricting, blocking, or endangering routes into Nicaragua's ports, and refrain from any similar acts in the future."

The U.S. international law doctrine attempts to justify the U.S. Administration's actions. For example, S. Schwebel, U.S. judge at the International Court of Justice, is trying to pin all the blame on the innocent party by attributing actions of which the Pentagon and the CIA have been found guilty to Nicaragua.

Being incapable of even verbally reconciling U.S. actions in Latin America with the requirements of international law, many Western observers say: "So much the worse for international law." TIME magazine quotes a statement by British jurist M. Green, who believes that "today's meaning of aggression is obsolete. The invasion of Grenada has created the need to redefine a number of terms in international law."

U.S. scientist J. Moore writes that the invasion of Grenada "corresponds with the requirement of lawful defense of one's citizens, humanitarian intervention (?!), and regional operations to maintain peace." He cites the occupation of the Dominican Republic by the United States as a valid precedent.

The desire to amend international law takes U.S. Professor (U. Reysman) as far as even suggesting the legalization of armed incursions for the purpose of establishing a "democratic" regime. He means, of course, U.S.-style "democracy," as in Chile and El Salvador. Columbia University Professor O. Schachter believes entirely reasonably that "such an approach would provide a new legal basis for war and for the almost totally unlimited right to overthrow governments which supposedly do not accord with the expressed will of the people."

Even U.S. jurists themselves, provided they have not descended to direct falsification or apology for any actions by the administration, are forced to perceive the totally unprovoked invasion of Grenada as a blatant violation of the principle of the nonuse of force.

For example, nine well known professors note in a letter to the AMERICAN JOURNAL OF INTERNATIONAL LAW that "during the 20th century the U.S.

Administration has simply made up alleged threats to the life and property of U.S. citizens as an excuse to justify armed intervention in states on the American Continent." These scientists are fully justified in fearing that "the illegality in international law of U.S. actions in Grenada could influence future U.S. foreign policy all over the world." "At present the Reagan administration is probably planning an identical fate for Nicaragua's Sandinist government," they suppose.

A.A. Gromyko, CPSU Central Committee Politburo member and USSR foreign minister, described Washington's actions against Nicaragua as the waging of an undeclared war. This description of U.S. policy stems directly from the definition of aggression adopted by the UN General Assembly in 1974. It is worth recalling that this definition perceives as actions constituting acts of aggression the "sending, by a state or on behalf of a state, of armed gangs, groups, irregular forces, or mercenaries who engage in acts involving the use of armed force against another state," as well as "the blockade of ports or coastline of a state by another state's armed forces." It is true that this latter form of aggression is usually described as "naval quarantine" in the United States, as if that changes the essence of this international crime.

Despite the claims by Western jurists, the definition of aggression is by no means obsolete. It accurately catalogues Washington's recent actions in Latin America.

CSO: 1807/222

CIA, ITALIAN AUTHORITIES SAID TO BACK RED BRIGADES

LD150954 Moscow TASS in English 0634 GMT 15 Jan 85

[Text] Moscow, January 15, TASS--"After a relative calm, both rightist, neo-fascist groups and the ultra leftist ones--'red brigades', have increased their activity again. Incidentally, the former differ from the latter by phraseology rather than by methods of actions," writes Gennady Zafesov, PRAVDA's Rome correspondent.

Today one can say with confidence, he points out that manifest in Italy is, like before, "the so-called 'strategy of tension'. Neither the much-publicized trials involving tens and even hundreds of defendants nor the fact that most of them have found themselves behind the bars have done any substantial damage to the forces which practise that 'strategy.' In brief, their aim boils down to undermining republican institutions and to swinging the country to the right. Terror is the method to attain that end."

One cannot but admit, the correspondent points out, that forces that stand behind the 'strategy of tension' are highly influential. Suffice it to say that scandalous connections between Italian secret services and the neofascists have come to light.

"Terrorists of every kind," Gennady Zafesov goes on, "enjoy the patronage not only of internal reactionaries from the judicial apparatus and secret services. The most powerful patrons of terrorism in the Italian peninsula are thousands of miles away from it. Those include, first of all, the U.S. CIA."

"Thus," the correspondent states, "terrorists perpetrate their dark deeds. Secret services virtually connive at them. And above all that there is an ominous shadow of the CIA which does everything to create an atmosphere of political chaos, violence and fear in Italy because in such conditions it is easier to manipulate the country as it sees fit."

CSO: 1812/147

#### U.S. APOLOGIZES FOR RFE BROADCAST TO POLAND

LD181624 Moscow in English to North America 0001 GMT 18 Jan 85

[Text] The United States State Department has apologized for a broadcast by Radio Free Europe to Poland, beamed earlier this month. Here are some details:

In response to a protest by the Polish Government, the State Department said on Wednesday it regretted the broadcast, which implied that Poland was similar to Nazi Germany. Radio Free Europe like Radio Liberty is now funded by the American Government. In fact they have been funded by it for several years. Before they were funded by the CIA and critics called Radio Free Europe and Liberty cold war relics. The stations' policy has not changed following the transfer; rather it was seen as a step to remove the CIA from the spot and make it look like the subversive station receiving a new lease of life.

But have they droped insults and rudeness? Is there less bias or effort to split? Nothing of the kind. Radio Free Europe played a key role in enticing antigovernment feelings in Poland. It was said to have relayed coded instructions to the underground. Numerous protests by the Polish authorities have gone unanswered. Trust and sympathy are not won by subversion nor are understanding or friendly feelings promoted by malice. But cold war relics don't go on the air to promote all this. And former Nazi collaborators and turncoats are not recruited to establish any bridges of understanding. The role of such radio stations is to sow seeds of hatred and distrust.

The apology of the State Department for the Radio Free Europe broadcast on 5 January was offered because the station had overdone it. Instead of staying within certain limits of the ideological warfare against the socialist nations it came out with an insult of the country which has diplomatic relations with Washington. But the apology does not mean that this warfare will stop and that anti-Soviet and anti-socialist campaigns will cease. True, words like crusades against socialism have been dropped, not crusades themselves.

CSO: 1812/146

## EDITORIAL REVIEW LAUDS GROMYKO SPEECH COLLECTION

AU011245 Moscow VOPROSY ISTORII KPSS in Russian No 1, Jan 85 (signed to press 27 Dec 84) pp 8-18

[Editorial: "The International Activities of the CPSU and Topical Problems of World Politics. (On the Publication of the Book by Comrade A. A. Gromyko 'Following the Leninist Course of Peace')"--words between slantlines published in italics]

[Text] The exacerbation of the international situation is causing serious alarm and concern among all peoples of the world. The United States and some of its NATO allies continue to whip up the arms race, striving to gain military superiority over the USSR and the other socialist states.

By fanning old conflicts, imperialism is creating new hotbeds of international tension. The increased threat of nuclear war with all its catastrophic consequences makes real practical measures in the sphere of freezing, limiting, and reducing nuclear arms particularly essential. Preventing a nuclear conflict is a task central to the Soviet Union's foreign policy. "Bridling the nuclear arms race is of key significance, of course, in ensuring peace and the people's security," said Comrade K. U. Chernenko, general secretary of the CPSU Central Committee. "The USSR's position in this matter is clear. We are against competition in building up nuclear arsenals. We have been and we remain advocates of banning and destroying all forms of these weapons."<sup>1</sup>

Analyzing new phenomena in social life, generalizing accumulated experience, and developing theory in the spheres of ideology, the economy, international relations, and diplomacy are constantly at the center of the CPSU's attention. The book, recently published by Politizdat, entitled "Following the Leninist Course of Peace" and written by A. A. Gromyko, prominent party and state figure, member of the CPSU Central Committee Politburo, first deputy chairman of the USSR Council of Ministers, and USSR Minister of Foreign Affairs, is attracting the undoubted interest of the reading public.<sup>2</sup> It contains articles and speeches covering the period for the end of the seventies to the beginning of 1984. Peace has been, is, and will continue to be the foundation of the USSR's foreign policy and the ideal of socialism—such is the leitmotiv of the book. The new work provides us with a panorama of the most topical problems of the contemporary era. The author sets an example of creatively, scientifically applying the Leninist theoretical legacy to contemporary international realities.

The pages of this book reflect the Leninist depth and consistency of the USSR's foreign policy course. The author is not only a major theoretician of international relations, but also an active figure in Soviet diplomacy who has worked tirelessly for 45 years in the sphere of the Soviet Union's foreign policy, skillfully defending peace, the interests of our motherland and real socialism, and the cause of freedom and independence for the people. There is perhaps no major foreign policy action which has been undertaken by the USSR during these years in which A. A. Gromyko has not participated and not made his own contribution, offered his own initiative.

The book centers its attention on the main aspects and problems of the USSR's peace-loving foreign policy and of the multifaceted activities of the CPSU and the Soviet state in the international arena during a period when imperialist reaction nurtures plans for another "crusade" against the USSR and the socialist community. The chief danger is posed by Western Europe's transformation into a launching pad for American missiles.

The responsibility for this, the author points out, not only rests with the American Administration, but also with the governments of those countries which, ignoring the will of their own peoples, have accepted the deployment of lethal weapons on their territories. "Those to whom the interests of peace are really dear," the author writes, "cannot limit themselves to merely stating the danger of nuclear war. It must be clearly pointed out from where precisely the threat emanates.

"Clarity in this matter is essential not only for the sake of historical correctness. The answer to the question: Can this disastrous process be brought to a halt and how can it be brought to a halt? It also depends on understanding what is the cause of mankind sliding toward the nuclear abyss."<sup>3</sup>

A. A. Gromyko's articles and speeches convincingly show two directions in policy and in the approach to the problem of nuclear weapons. The USSR is in favor of outlawing lethal, destructive weapons. And it is natural that, at the stage where international relations have entered a period of increasing dangers and complexities caused by the militarist policies of the most reactionary imperialist circles in the United States and NATO, the CPSU continues to follow a Leninist course of peace with even greater determination, while drawing attention to the seriousness of the present military-political situation.

The book thoroughly reveals the class nature of the international policies of the CPSU and the Soviet state, whose priority direction has been and continues to be that of strengthening relations between the USSR and fraternal socialist countries. The principle of socialist internationalism is the core of these relations, which are dynamically developing in all spheres. The socialist community, the author notes, is increasingly establishing itself as a leading factor in the exertion of a positive influence on world development, and it takes the initiative in determining realistic ways of resolving ripe international problems.

But certain figures in the West try to rewrite history and to turn facts upside down in an attempt to justify Washington's policies in matters connected with the arms race. They resort to this method primarily when it is a question of nuclear weapons. However, one can never erase from the memory of mankind who first used these weapons against people.

The peoples of the world well remember that the Soviet Government was the first to raise its powerful voice against nuclear weapons after the war. It stated that using nuclear energy for military purposes is incompatible with mankind's conscience, and it proposed concluding an international convention forever banning the use of nuclear energy for military purposes by switching it over to peaceful needs alone. Unfortunately, the U.S. response was sharply negative.

The leaders of the Western powers wanted to use the threat of nuclear weapons in order to dictate their conditions of "peace" to the USSR. But life upset the imperialists' plans. "Now," notes A. A. Gromyko, "[word indistinct] to try to whitewash this policy, claiming that the American side supposedly never had any bad intentions in connection with nuclear weapons. They say, sometimes at the highest level, that, while it at one time had a monopoly on nuclear bombs, the United States could, if it had so desired, have dictated its conditions to others, including the USSR, but that it did not do this for high moral reasons.

"There is not a grain of truth in this argument," (p 541)

The Soviet Union's victory over fascist Germany is a reality of the 20th century which led to a radical change in the correlation of forces in Europe and throughout the world in favor of democracy and socialism.

Through the whole book there runs the idea that the trends of contemporary international development confirm the wisdom of Lenin's prediction that socialism would become a powerful international force capable of "exerting a decisive influence on the whole of world politics."<sup>4</sup> Lenin's great merit, writes A. A. Gromyko, also lay in the fact that even before the October Revolution he theoretically prepared our party for that situation which it encountered as a result of the victory of socialist revolution in Russia.

Having revealed the law of capitalism's uneven development, Lenin drew the conclusion that socialism cannot triumph simultaneously in all countries and, consequently, that the coexistence of two different social systems--socialism and capitalism--on our planet is inevitable.(p 14) Of course, the struggle between these two systems comprises the main substance of the entire historical era in which we live. However, Vladimir Ilich rejected the notion that this struggle would inevitably take the form of continual wars between the two systems.

The author cites a number of Lenin's documents which formulate the basic principles of the Soviet state's foreign policy. In particular, in amendments and observations on the draft statement of our delegation in Genoa, Lenin proposed "throwing out any reference to "inevitable violent revolution and bloody struggle'," and "excluding the words that our historical concept unconditionally presupposes the inevitability of new world wars."<sup>5</sup>

Repeatedly returning to the principle of peaceful coexistence, Lenin sometimes used the term "peaceful community" [sozhitelstvo] although the meaning remained the same: There exist objective possibilities for peaceful relations between the first worker-peasant state in history and the capitalist countries. Developing Vladimir Ilich's idea, the people's commissar for foreign affairs G. V. Chicherin said at a meeting of the All-Russian Central Executive Committee in 1920: "We do not want to be prevented from developing in the way we wish and from building our new socialist community in peace. We do not support either our system or our power with bayonets and everyone knows this, but nevertheless more and more new enemies set against us. Our policy is a policy of peace, but it is not a policy of capitulation. Our slogan has been and remains the same: Peaceful coexistence with other governments, whichever they may be."<sup>6</sup>

The party consistently implements the Leninist foreign policy course of our state. It is precisely the CPSU and other Marxist-Leninist parties that are the standard-bearers of peace, peaceful cooperation between peoples, and social progress.

The Soviet Union and the other socialist countries offset imperialism's aggressive policies with a policy of actively defending peace and strengthening international security. In our time, which is characterized by particular complexity in international life, it is extremely important to clearly perceive and correctly evaluate the main processes and directions of development of events in the world arena, and also to thoroughly reveal the class meaning of what is taking place. "Marxism," wrote Lenin, "demands of us the most precise, objectively verifiable consideration of the correlation between classes and of the concrete features of every historical moment. We Bolsheviks have always tried to be true to this demand, which, without doubt, is compulsory from the point of view of any scientific validity of policy."<sup>7</sup>

Discussing the role of socialist diplomacy in contemporary international life, the author notes that, unlike bourgeois diplomacy, it does not oppose, but assists important progressive changes taking place in the world under the influence of objective factors. Our diplomacy promotes the immutable laws of social development. And this is the reason for the effective nature of its activities and for the rapid growth of its role in international relations.<sup>8</sup>

The CPSU and the Soviet Government creatively develop the wealth of Lenin's legacy as applicable to the changing situation. In their foreign policy and diplomatic activities they make use of this invaluable gift which Vladimir Ilich has placed in our hands. Soviet diplomacy draws essential lessons from the past in order to precisely orient itself in the present and perceive the future in its natural revolutionary perspective. It teaches one to master the methods of diplomatic skill in the Leninist way: To seize the initiative, to act, but also to know how to defend oneself and maneuver, when this is required by the interests of the Soviet state. Acting in accordance with the interests of our people, the CPSU daily thoroughly studies problems connected with foreign policy, thereby ensuring the prompt setting of mature tasks and the skillful implementation of adopted decisions.

"/The diplomacy of socialism/," the author emphasizes, "/is the diplomacy of peace', which stands in opposition to the diplomacy of imperialism. The struggle on this front has always been extremely acute. The socialist states wage this struggle offensively, actively, with great skill, and with constructive initiative."<sup>9</sup> The struggle is still being waged in the form of competition between socialism and capitalism in the sphere of the economy, including the scientific-technical revolution and the utilization of its achievements. The sphere of international relations and ideology is an arena of constant antagonism.

By relying on the advantages of the new system, and those of close, comprehensive cooperation and mutual aid, the socialist countries have fulfilled the most important tasks of building socialism and are now perfecting socialist society. With every passing year socialism more and more fully and clearly reveals its decisive advantages over the society of social and national oppression. Thanks to the successes of world socialism, the prerequisites for further accelerating historical progress and for ensuring mankind's progress toward new triumphs by socialism are increasing. /"The foreign policy and diplomacy of socialism,/" notes A. A. Gromyko, /"are irreconcilable to any encroachment by imperialism on the freedom and independence of the peoples or on their sacred right to independently choose their own path of development. The countries of socialism actively and determinedly repel any such encroachment,"/10

A. A. Gromyko's book subjects bourgeois diplomacy to detailed criticism. "Striving to control the destiny of the peoples in their own way," the book emphasizes, "the exploitative classes have always approached the matter of formulating and implementing foreign policy, and diplomatic activities as a whole as if this were their exclusive privilege. They have adopted and continue to adopt every measure to deprive the working masses of the opportunity to participate in this" (p 260).

Bourgeois diplomacy loyally serves the capitalist system and the monopolistic bourgeoisie, which regards diplomacy as an important instrument for retaining and strengthening its international positions and also as a means of struggling against world socialism and the revolutionary workers and national-liberation movement. And it is natural, Lenin pointed out, that the victorious proletariat should be familiar with the methods of its enemy and master these methods no worse than the enemy has done in all spheres of policy, including foreign policy.<sup>11</sup> It is clear that deception, blackmail, and diktat, which have become firmly rooted in bourgeois diplomacy, are of course inapplicable in the practice of socialist diplomacy for reasons of a principled and moral nature. But knowledge and consideration of these methods as a diplomatic weapon of the bourgeoisie, A. A. Gromyko emphasizes in his book, are totally necessary for revealing and exposing imperialist plans and maneuvers, and for promptly and effectively rebuffing them.

12

It is characteristic that the falsity and deception inherent in the diplomacy of the bourgeois states find their expression in the sharp contradiction between the officially proclaimed principles and aims of their foreign policy and those which are really implemented. The book thoroughly reveals the essence of the policies of the capitalist governments which, while proclaiming "noble" foreign policy principles and aims in words, frequently strive to pass off the selfish class interests of the bourgeoisie as general state and national interests under cover of these words, to mask their real intentions and actions in international affairs, and to thereby conceal the essence of their diplomacy, which is alien to the peoples.

Surrounding diplomatic activities with mystery is a favorite method of the bourgeoisie. In this respect it shamelessly turns to its own advantage the carefully cultivated and consequently widespread practice, even more widespread than in the sphere of domestic policy, of starving the popular masses of information in foreign policy matters. "The deception of the popular masses," noted V. I. Lenin, "has been artistically developed in regard to 'matters' of foreign policy..."<sup>12</sup> Secrets concerning the real motives and the operating mechanism of bourgeois diplomacy are guarded no less zealously today than before.

Today the imperialist states attach even greater significance than before to coordinating their foreign policy. This coordination, which is based on the community of class interests of these countries in the international sphere, is now implemented to a considerable extent within the framework of militarypolitical alliances and other closed groups--NATO, the Common Market, and so forth. At the same time, the obvious fact that precisely within this framework the unstable situation in the world of capital is clearly having an effect and profound interimperialist contradictions are becoming manifest, as well as all those serious difficulties which the bloc system created by imperialism encounters--a system sometimes subject to substantial shocks such as, for example, the recent collapse of CENTO and SEATO--this fact cannot help but leave its mark on the effectiveness of this coordination.

An important place in A. A. Gromyko's works is devoted to issues connected with the international activities of V. I. Lenin. Vladimir Ilich frequently had to take upon himself a diplomatic mission in state affairs. He sent messages to the heads of foreign states and received and conversed with large number of foreign representatives--diplomats, public figures, writers, and journalists.

Lenin, who was distinguished by a great sense of responsibility, was able like no other to subordinate everything to the interests of strengthening the positions of the Soviet state, to the achievements of socialist revolution, and to the interests of the workers class and the working masses. The ability to foresee the development of events in international relations a few steps ahead lay at the base of the determination and tactical flexibility which so struck V. I. Lenin's contemporaries. The line of action which he plotted frequently took unawares those who, continuing to think in terms of the past, showed indecision by failing to see that the situation had changed. As the author notes, the foreign policy activities of V. I. Lenin were and remain a shining example, retaining all its significance, of party spirit and a high degree of adherence to principle, and also of the ability to evaluate social, economic, and political phenomena in their indissoluble and contradictory mutual connection, and to promptly react to changes in conditions requiring a rapid change in tactics. It is precisely the Leninist style that Soviet diplomats emulate, and primarily the author of the book.

Our party fulfills the behest of great Lenin by struggling for lasting peace, democracy, and socialism. "This Leninist policy of peace," emphasizes Comrade K. U. Chernenko, general secretary of the CPSU Central Committee and chairman of the USSR Supreme Soviet Presidium, "the basic features of which are determined at the contemporary historical stage by the decisions of recent CPSU congresses, is in the vital interests of the Soviet people, and also basically in the interests of other peoples. And we say with determination: We will not deviate one step from this policy."<sup>13</sup>

In contemporary conditions the problem of preventing a world nuclear missile war is the most burning task, common to all mankind, in international policy. A considerable number of pages are devoted to this problem in the book. And this is natural. Creating a situation for lasting peace on the planet, preventing war by means of negotiations, and limiting and reducing weapons are issues constantly at the center of attention of the communist party and the Soviet state. The struggle for real disarmament has been and remains one of the most important aspects of the international policies of socialism. Since World War II, as the author notes, Soviet diplomacy has made more than 100 proposals on various aspects of the problem of disarmament. "The profoundly peace-loving nature of the Soviet Union's foreign policy," states A. A. Gromyko, "is consolidated by the decisions of our party congresses and by the USSR Constitution." (p 656)

A great deal of space in the book is devoted to analyzing the most profound changes taking place in the international arena and the role played by the CPSU's Leninist foreign policy in the world revolutionary process. Even those who do not at all share the ideas of the scientific theory of Marxism-Leninism are compelled to acknowledge their powerful force and influence.

Consistently supporting the national-liberation struggle of the peoples and assisting the liquidation of the hotbeds of tension artificially created and inflamed in various regions of the world by the forces of imperialism and hegemonism is also a most important aspect of Soviet foreign policy. "The USSR," the author notes, "firmly insists that the UN declaration on the granting of independence to colonial countries and peoples, which was adopted 20 years ago at the Soviet Union's initiative and which has historic significance, be totally fulfilled without any exceptions" (p 242). Remaining loyal to its Leninist course, the Soviet state supports and will continue to support the forces of the national-liberation movement. At present this is particularly manifest in relation to the struggle of the peoples of the Arab East, Kampuchea, Nicaragua, El Salvador, southern Africa, and other regions of the world. The USSR, and its allies and friends struggle for one great aim—the preservation of peace. "The Soviet Union supports the states belonging to the Nonaligned Movement and also developing countries in their efforts aimed at protecting their interests in the sphere of economic and commercial relations. We consider their demands in this sphere to be legitimate and oppose discrimination and all forms of exploitation of developing states by developed capitalist countries" (pp 389-390).

The countries belonging to the socialist community steadily pursue a peaceloving foreign policy course. This course is aimed at ensuring favorable international conditions for building socialism and communism, strengthening friendship and fraternity, unity and cohesion between the socialist countries, supporting the national-liberation movement, cooperating with young developing states, consistently upholding the principle of peaceful coexistence between states with different social systems, decisively rebuffing the aggressive forces of imperialism, and delivering mankind from a new world war.

An invaluable contribution to practically implementing Lenin's ideas and to creatively developing the rich legacy of his thoughts and deeds is made by the decisions of CPSU Central Committee congresses and plenums and by the speeches of Comrade K. U. Chernenko, general secretary of the CPSU Central Committee and chairman of the USSR Supreme Soviet Presidium, and other CPSU Central Committee Politburo members, including the author of the book.

The norms of conduct in relations between nuclear powers, formulated by Comrade K. U. Chernenko, general secretary of the CPSU Central Committee and chairman of the USSR Supreme Soviet Presidium, which are dictated by the vital interests of the whole of mankind and by state leaders' sense of responsibility to present and future generations, aroused great response in the world. These norms are as follows:

To regard the prevention of nuclear war as the main aim of one's foreign policy;

To prevent situations fraught with the possibility of a nuclear conflict. And, in the event of this danger arising, to hold urgent consultations in order to prevent a nuclear conflagration;

To renounce propaganda of nuclear war in any form--global or limited;

To pledge not to be the first to use nuclear weapons;

Not to use nuclear weapons against non-nuclear countries which have no such weapons on their territory. To respect the status of already existing nuclear-free zones in various regions of the world and encourage the formation of new ones;

Not to permit the proliferation of nuclear weapons in any form; not to transfer these weapons to anyone or control over them; not to deploy them on the territory of countries which do not already possess such weapons; not to transfer the nuclear arms race to new spheres, including outer space.<sup>14</sup> The Soviet Union has expressed its readiness to reach agreement at any time with other nuclear powers on jointly recognizing norms of this kind and making them compulsory. But Washington treats these problems differently. A U.S. Republican Party congress was held in Dallas in a situation of exceptional militaristic intoxication, where a foreign policy program imbued with a spirit of aggression, military adventures, and nuclear insanity and welcomed by the White House was given the rubber-stamp. The newly appeared "crusaders" gave free rein to their overflowing chauvinist sentiments. "America is once again strong," "we have restored America's defense potential," "we have revived the national will"--these and similar outbursts of blind patriotism which filled the program of the Republican Party are clearly in accord with the feelings of the militaryindustrial complex in the United States and the black forces of world reaction. This very line has been in accord with the foreign policy programs of the Reagan administration in previous years.

"Frightened once again by the fact that world development is not going quite as it would like or, to be more precise, is not going at all as it would like," notes A. A. Gromyko, "imperialist reaction--and the more the possibility of imperialism dominating other peoples diminishes, the more fiercely reaction resists--attempts to halt or at least slow down the course of this world development. It is with this aim and in order to retain their positions that the forces of imperialism resort to increasing their military muscle and undertaking aggressive actions" (p 180).

The cult of force in general and the cult of arms in particular, which is an inalienable feature of imperialism, attests to its lack of confidence in its own future as a social system. This is clearly manifest in the actions of NATO, and primarily of the United States, which takes active steps to break the strategic balance between East and West to its own advantage and to the detriment of the USSR, other socialist countries, and the interests of detente and international security, to return the world to the times of the "cold war" policies, and to step up the nuclear arms race.

The adventurist credo of American imperialism was once again proclaimed with cynical frankness by U.S. President Reagan in his speech at Georgetown University on 6 April 1984. Military strength, he said, whether directly or indirectly applied, must remain one element of American foreign policy.

But, as A. A. Gromyko states, a powerful barrier stands in the path of imperialism's aggressive plans--the countries of the socialist community, the international communist and workers movement, the nonaligned states, nationalliberation movements, mass antiwar actions, and all democratic and progressive forces in the world. The stability and reliability of the positions of socialism in the contemporary world, its confidence in the rightness of its cause, and its firm resolution to defend peace on earth were once again convincingly demonstrated by the meeting of the Political Consultative Committee of Warsaw Pact Member-States in Prague, and also by the Economic Conference of CEMA membercountries which was held at the highest level in Moscow in 1984.

16

The political declaration adopted in Prague, and also the declaration of the CEMA conference in Moscow, touches on the most varied aspects of international life. But the aim proclaimed by both declarations is the same: to erect an insuperable barrier against war and to return the development of events to a mormal channel, that is detente and mutually advantageous cooperation between states. They are genuine documents of peace, which have met with the broad approval of the world public.

In particular, the Prague declaration contains the proposal to conclude a treaty on the mutual non-use of military force between the Warsaw Pact states and the NATO countries. The obligation of members of both alliances not to be the first to use either nuclear or conventional weapons against one another must form the basis of such an agreement.

Condemning war as a means of resolving disputes, the author notes that even justified liberation wars are an extreme measure to which peoples are obliged to resort when no other possibility remains of defending their independence and freedom, and their revolutionary achievements from encroachment and aggression (p 473).

Exposing the pharisaism of NATO representatives, who have repeatedly said that no steps can be taken to limit the use of nuclear weapons by the countries of this bloc because there is supposedly a danger that the USSR could attack the countries of the West using conventional weapons alone, the author gives a crushing reply to this provocative question. "If you fear," writes A. A. Gromyko, "an attack by the Soviet Union or by the Warsaw Pact countries in general, then why do you not agree to both NATO and the Warsaw Pact pledging the mutual non-use of both nuclear weapons and any other kind of weapons against one another?" (p 476)

Characterizing the situation taking shape in Europe and in the world as a whole, the author repeatedly emphasizes his deep concern over the continuing build-up of international tension, the further stepping-up of the nuclear arms race, the danger of the arms race spreading to outer space, the threat of the use of force, and the overt military actions in various regions of the world.

The antagonism between two worlds has reached a particularly higher degree of tension and severity in recent years. The basic contradiction of the contemporary era is clearly reflected in this antagonism. The world of capital has doubled its efforts in its desire to exert a systematic, concentrated influence on the public awareness of peoples in socialist countries.

While directing the poisoned arrows of disinformation, slander, and falsification of events and facts at the states belonging to the socialist community, the class enemies strive to clearly determine the objects of their influence in these countries. The book notes that their efforts are primarily concentrated on young people as the social group of the population with the least social experience, as well as on all working people in the socialist countries, in an attempt to instill into them the belief that under capitalism life is almost like heaven for the workers. The main capitalist country, the United States, begrudges no means for the purpose of intensifying the ideological struggle, psychological war, and other subversive actions against the countries of socialism. A colossal sum of more than \$7 billion is spent annually in the United States for this purpose.

But it is a well-known fact that in capitalist society the bourgeois mass information media acts, on the one hand, as a means of manipulating the awareness of the masses, distorting the truth, and exerting spiritual pressure, and, on the other, as a branch of capitalist enterprise and business. What is more, in foreign policy processes the mass information media becomes an instrument of spiritual aggression and psychological pressure in the hands of the monopolies.

In this connection the author draws a fair conclusion, while addressing the world public: "Do not believe in the statements of those," he emphasizes, "who claim that the Soviet Union supposedly represents a threat to peace. These claims are made by those who have firmly armed their policies with the practice of deceiving people. We are sure that the eternal contest between truth and deception will end with the triumph of truth" (p 703). The ideological struggle in the international arena leaves no room for breathing space. Our party wages this struggle actively, offensively, without yielding to provocation.

In socialist society the state and political institutions which control the mass information media are an instrument of social communication, of the communist education of the masses, and the strengthening of international relations in the interests of peace. Humanism, optimism, and concern for the spiritual growth of the people determine the content and direction of the mass information media under real socialism.

The book critically analyzes the main stake of the United States and the NATO countries on gaining military superiority over the USSR and the Warsaw Pact Organization and on pursuing an unrestrained arms race concealed by fabrications of a "Soviet military threat."

Analyzing the contemporary potentially explosive situation at a meeting with voters in the city of Minsk on 27 February 1984, A. A. Gromyko said: "Interstate relations must be based not on differences or similarities in ideologies and social systems, but on common state interests, these interests consisting in all disputes and differences being resolved by peaceful means only" (p 662). The author expresses similar ideas in other speeches and articles.

However, it is a well-known fact that, in order to achieve world domination and to satisfy their own imperial ambitions, the imperialist countries, and primarily the United States, regard psychological war against socialism as a convenient means of further intensifying ideological antagonism, which they [word indistinct] on the highest, one may say, hysterical, anti-Soviet, anticommunist note. Bourgeois ideologists and their stooges, the revisionists, have embarked on downright propagandist brigandage. "We are involved," notes Comrade K. U. Chernenko, general secretary of the CPSU Central Committee, "in attempts to organize real information-propaganda intervention against us and to turn radio and television channels into an instrument of interfering in the internal affairs of states and conducting subversive actions."<sup>15</sup>

The historical concept of socialism, on the other hand, firmly and consistently, upholds a totally different principle: The Leninist policy of peace, which is in the vital interests of the Soviet people and all working people on earth. This is the aim of all Soviet propaganda and counterpropaganda, and the USSR works resolutely for peace and peaceful cooperation, and against the threat of nuclear war.

As a diplomat and one of the leaders of the USSR's foreign policy, A. A. Gromyko repeatedly emphasizes in his articles and speeches that one can and one must get out of the dangerous impasse in which the world now finds itself. The USSR proposes taking a simple and, at the same time, effective step with the aim of reducing the danger of war--namely, freezing nuclear armament. The Soviet Union and the United States could do this as a start. The Soviet side has made concrete proposals: To prevent the militarization of outer space and use the latter exclusively for peaceful purposes, and to free Europe of chemical weapons. The USSR has offered a proposal for a political settlement in the Middle East which fairly considers the interests of all sides. "The Soviet Union," the author notes, "has held the view and continues to hold the view that the conducting of negotiations is a necessary and essential matter, whether the subject of these negotiations be the Middle East, southern Africa, a region in the Caribbean, [word indistinct] the problem of nuclear weapons and the need to reduce them" (p 661).

Aimed as they are at eliminating the threat of nuclear war, reaching fair agreements in the sphere of limiting and reducing the arms race, and establishing normal interstate relations, the Soviet initiatives have been received with interest by the world public. This has been attested to by the general political discussion held at the 39th session of the UN General Assembly, by the numerous opinions expressed by political figures, and by the response of the foreign press. "The bleak truth of the present international situation is that the nuclear threat is, unfortunately, great. One cannot get away from this fact or laugh it off. One must actively and purposefully struggle against the nuclear threat. This is what we are doing .... Our goals are clear and unchanging: We are categorically opposed to confrontation in the military sphere. We are decisively in favor of radically limiting and reducing the arms race and banning and completely liquidating nuclear weapons."<sup>16</sup> These weighty and significant words uttered by Comrade K. U. Chernenko in his speech at the jubilee plenary meeting of the board of the USSR Union of Writers on 25 September 1984 in Moscow once again confirmed the invariable nature of our country's peace-loving Leninist policy.

The consistency and firmness of this policy are fully manifest in the Soviet Union's new, outstanding initiative--in the proposal to begin new negotiations with the United States on a whole complex of problems concerning space and

nuclear (both strategic and intermediate-range) weapons. Comrade K. U. . Chernenko's reply to the letter from the prominent FRG trade union figure, J. Lehlback, directly expresses the USSR's position on the problem of chemical weapons. "The Soviet Union," said K. U. Chernenko, "has long proposed outlawing chemical weapons and eliminating them from the arsenals of states. ... It will also henceforth do everything possible to help to create zones in Europe free of chemical weapons, and it would be prepared to commit itself to respecting the status of such zones, including within the framework of those steps which could be agreed on between the interested parties and which would really lead to the aforementioned goal."17 But the United States and the NATO countries, including the FRG, stand in the way to totally banning chemical weapons which, being a means of mass destruction, represent a terrible danger to the whole of mankind, as well as nuclear weapons. These initiatives were put forward in November and December 1984 and met with great satisfaction on the part of the entire peace-loving community throughout the world.

The book "Following the Leninist Course of Peace" draws the reader to a firm conclusion: In unity with the states of the socialist community, the Soviet Union has done and will continue to do everything possible in order to improve the world political climate and prevent a nuclear catastrophe.

Written in animated, sharp, and politically precise language, the new book by A. A. Gromyko will doubtlessly attract the attention of party and soviet workers, and of all who strive to thoroughly understand the topical problems of the contemporary international situation.

### FOOTNOTES

- 1. K. U. Chernenko, "The People and the Party Are United." Selected Speeches and Articles, Moscow, 1984, pp 20-21.
- 2. A. A. Gromyko, "Following the Leninist Course of Peace," Moscow, 1984, p 735.
- 3. PRAVDA, 28 September 1984.
- 4. V. I. Lenin, Completed Collected Works, Vol 31, p 165.
- 5. V. I. Lenin, Complete Collected Works, Vol 45, p 63.
- 6. Documents of the USSR's Foreign Policy, Vol 2, Moscow, 1958, pp 638-639.
- 7. V. I. Lenin, Complete Collected Works, Vol 31, p 132.
- 8. A. A. Gromyko, in the Name of the Triumph of Leninist Foreign Policy. Selected Speeches and Articles, Moscow, 1978, p 305.
- 9. Ibid., p 307.

10. Ibid., p 312.

92.

- 11. V. I. Lenin, Complete Collected Works, Vol 41, p 81.
- 12. V. I. Lenin, Complete Collected Works, Vol 32, p 335.
- 13. K. U. Chernenko,"The People and the Party Are United." Selected Speeches and Articles, p 419.

14. Ibid., p 22.

15. K. U. Chernenko, Selected Speeches and Articles, 2d Ed, Moscow, 1984, p 591.

COPYRIGHT: Izdatel'stvo TsK KPSS "Pravda" "Voprosy istorii KPSS," 1985.

CSO: 1807/230

FROLOV VIEWS NEED TO AVERT WAR UNDER MODERN CONDITIONS

PM161503 Moscow NEW TIMES in English No. 2, Jan 85 pp 4-5

: 1

[Article by Ivan Frolov, corresponding member of the USSR Academy of Sciences: "Peace Strategy Versus the War Threat"; capitalized passages within slantlines published in boldface]

[Text] Today all of us, people of the earth, are living at a difficult and dangerous time. A mortal threat is hanging over mankind, human civilization, culture and reason. Humanity may be wiped out. It is therefore vital to oppose the global threat of war with a global peace strategy.

What must we do jointly to preserve the peace? In the first place we must learn to listen to one another, to conduct a sincere and earnest dialogue on global problems of concern to the whole of mankind. Today the preservation of universal peace and prevention of a thermonuclear holocaust is such a problem. Only in the overall context of the totality of global problems, the current and future concerns of humanity, will we be able to get a clearer insight into that object of our thoughts and actions which may be defined as the global peace strategy on the threshold of the year 2000. Of course this is but an instant in the practically infinite life line of humanity. But that line may be snapped at any moment—today or tomorrow. That is why in answering the question: "To be or not to be?" the people of the earth must positively and firmly reply in the affirmative.

Insanity

Today it is not enough merely to condemn war. Thermonuclear world war is no alternative to any form of human existence. It must be prevented, ruled out of the life of mankind before it is too late. People must realize that war (which would inevitably assume global dimensions) will not help achieve any political, social or ideological goals. Modern thermonuclear war /CANNOT BE A CONTINUATION OF POLITICS./ Unless, of course, it is a maniacal suicide policy. It is necessary to ban war propaganda, as the U.S.S.R. and the other socialist countries have done. There must be annihilating criticism of all "scientific justification" of war.

The latter-day bourgeois advocates of thermonuclear world war, many of whom claim to be scholars and scientists, proceed from the concept of the

inevitability of wars. They assert that wars supposedly stem from the aggressive nature of man, from the ignorance of the masses and their proneness to violence and fanaticism. Many of these concepts were tried out in practice by the Nazis who unleashed the Second World War. Its results are common knowledge.

Conservative concepts of wars are being supplemented by "liberal" and even "critical" concepts. Under cover of the "Soviet threat" myth, the devotees of this line, while noting the aggressive features of imperialism, arrive at anti-communist and anti-Soviet conclusions. Some "theorists" believe that a thermonuclear world war would be a "radical solution" to the grave problems facing the world, a sort of "purgative deluge." Others go even further, saying that the most probable result of a universal nuclear war would be another nuclear arms race in preparation for a second worldwide nuclear slaughter. Madness upon madness!

Some imperialist strategic doctrines are based on the monstrous assumption that victory in nuclear war is possible. Though this thesis sounds like blasphemy, the authors of these doctrines say that victory will not prevent the vanquished enemy from destroying the victor's industrial potential, his cities and towns, and taking an unprecedented toll of human life. Therefore, some strategists regard the nuclear potential only as a "reciprocal deterrent."

In considering the various ways in which the nuclear weapons may be used these strategists single out as a maximum destabilizing factor the possession by one power of the means to deliver the first strike and the lack of such means on the part of the other side. If both sides have approximately equal capabilities for a second strike (and if they adhere to similar military doctrines), this, in the opinion of the said strategists, is a precondition of maximum stability. Such a combination, they aver, deprives both sides of the hope of winning a nuclear conflict, thereby creating the "balance of fear" implicit in "nuclear deterrence." Many Western strategists believe that the motive force of the nuclear arms race is rapidly advancing technology which, they hold, determines the military doctrine designed to serve it.

Of course, such a conclusion is inevitable, if one absolutizes military technology and adheres to the dubious concept of "deterrence." However, here too it is the social factors that play the decisive role. Military hardware and other technical means of warfare can in themselves, as they pile up, only give a spur to social solutions that would rule out war from the life of society altogether. This logically follows from the mounting threat to humanity presented by technical means of warfare. With time these stockpiles reach the /ABSOLUTE/ limit, the point where they can no longer be used as a means of warfare, for the simple reason that this would mean the end of humanity.

Ban Weapons From Outer Space

With the plans for the militarization of outer space the arms buildup assumes particularly menacing dimensions. Therefore, the fight for a peaceful outer

space is a cardinal aspect of the anti-war movement both today and in the future. This has been the aim of many Soviet initiatives and proposals, in particular the proposal submitted to the 39th U.N. General Assembly session on the use of outer space exclusively for peaceful purposes, for the good of humanity.

The 39th U.N. General Assembly session adopted with only one abstention a resolution "On the Prevention of the Arms Race in Outer Space." The only country that abstained was the United States of America. This was not fortuitous, for it is precisely this leading Western power that has been hatching insane "star wars" plans. The excuse given is that the U.S. is to counter the "Soviet threat" and restore the "nuclear balance" the socialist countries have upset. But these assertions are fundamentally unsound because, let us emphasize this point again, /SOCIALISM AND WAR ARE INCOMPATIBLE,/ particularly nuclear missile war which could destroy the whole of mankind. The basic policy of socialism is to decrease the threat of nuclear war and ultimately remove it altogether.

However, socialism is forced to protect itself from the threat created by imperialism. By doing so it is protecting the /WHOLE OF MANKIND./ To save humanity, to strengthen the unstable peace, the U.S.S.R. and its allies have been compelled to shoulder a heavy burden in order to counter-balance the nuclear threat from imperialist quarters.

At the same time to avert the threat of war and to preserve the peace for the present and future generations it is essential to work for far-reaching changes in international relations. They should be built entirely on the principles of peaceful coexistence of states with different social systems, respect for the national independence and sovereignty of all countries, businesslike co-operation and good will.

To ensure lasting peace and security for the peoples today and in the future it is above all necessary to prevent the militarization of outer space, to end the arms race, particularly the nuclear arms race, to achieve a radical reduction of nuclear arms and ultimately their total elimination.

#### A Heavy Burden

The arms race imposes an onerous burden on humanity: the world's military spending exceeds \$700 billion a year. It is diverting vast material and intellectual resources from the solution of the urgent problems facing mankind. Moreover, the further aggravation of these problems may, in the not too distant future, in themselves imperil life on our planet. In the recent period world military spending has shown an annual rate of growth in real terms of 2 percent and accounts for more than a quarter of the gross world product. By the year 2000 it may rise to the fantastic sum of over \$820 billion. It is worth noting that between 30 million and 40 million people in the world die of hunger every year, 800 million are still illiterate and approximately 1,500 million are deprived of elementary medical care. It is imperative that the world scientific community should concentrate its efforts on resolving the /PROBLEM OF MAN AND HIS FUTURE./ Already today the number of factors exerting a negative effect on the environment has increased to menacing proportions. These above all include chemical factors (over 5 million compounds are in regular use in various fields), rising ionizing radiation which has caused an increasing incidence of sickness (about 20 percent of the cases are due to environmental pollution), the growing rate of mutation which is responsible for more and more congenital deformities and higher cancer risk. These problems can be solved only by pooling efforts in conditions of peace.

At the Turn of the Century

Mankind is approaching the third millennium in the context of rapid development of microelectronics, robots, information and biotechnology. There is a growing awareness of the vital need for a new approach to the social and general human problems arising from the powerful impact of new technology on society and man. This presupposes a harmonious combination of a high level of culture and the release to a high degree of the creative abilities of man. Finally, this should be included in the new "scale of values" that should be humanistically oriented and based on the new understanding of the meaning of life and a new appraisal of everything, including the new technology.

Opening before mankind is a historical vista that may either be blotted out or extended on a scale incomparable with the past. But it is not only a matter of the scale of the future but of the truly breath-taking heights mankind will achieve in the advancement of civilization on the earth and in the Universe. The road to these heights is a long one. But the main thing is to overcome that danger point which could prove fatal today or tomorrow. The efforts of humanity must be concentrated on the solution of the global problems it faces, the No. 1 problem being removal of the threat of war and an end to the arms There are other equally urgent problems, namely, economic growth and race. social development, elimination of the backwardness of the underdeveloped countries, the hunger and poverty that are a source of suffering for millions of working people, their physical and spiritual degradation, advancement of science and technology, education and culture, the public health services. It is also essential to find new ways and means of solving ecological and demographic problems.

"Today, when peace is again being endangered it is necessary to take vigorous action to prevent disaster," Konstantin Chernenko has said. "This is the cardinal task now facing the whole of humanity. And we are convinced that no state should stand aloof from its solution."

Mankind will enter the third millennium if it produces a global strategy of peaceful development in the conditions of global threats and problems, and if it firmly implements that strategy. There is no alternative to this. The destruction of human civilization and humanity itself cannot be regarded as an alternative.

CSO: 1812/145

25

SWISS ARMS POLICIES SAID 'INCOMPATIBLE' WITH NEUTRALITY

Moscow APN DAILY REVIEW in English 29 Jan 85 p 1

[Unattributed item: "Neutrality a Front"]

[Text] High-ranking officials of Switzerland's defense department are fond of stressing in their public statements that their country strictly adheres to perpetual neutrality recognized by the Vienna Congress of 1815, IZVESTIA's correspondent Kuznetsov writes. Then what can one think of a recent special course of training of Swiss air force pilots at an air base in Sardinia during which they mastered techniques of air combat against "an enemy on flat terrain"?

Switzerland is a mountainous country, and according to the official defense doctrine, air force pilots must improve their skills in mountainous conditions.

As is known NATO's quartermasters have long been insistently offering their weapon systems to neutral Switzerland. U.S.-manufactured military planes patrol the skies. For several months the Swiss Parliament witnessed debates on whether the country should buy West German tanks, operational with the armies of several NATO member countries. It should be noted that some rightwing figures were not concerned over the ethical aspect of the proposed deal (such, as its incompatibility with the status of neutrality) but by the desire to buy the latest "NATO goods" at as low a price as possible.

The matter of course is not in the acquisition of weapons. Switzerland's arms manufacturing tycoons are quite willing to cash in on the export of their own military equipment. It has recently become known that Swiss planes produced for export are used by the dictatorial regimes in Latin American countries for suppressing national liberation movements, the correspondent writes.

(IZVESTIA. January 28. Summary.)

CSO: 1812/144

### KGB GENERAL RECOUNTS SOVIET COUNTERESPIONAGE IN WWII

Moscow AGITATOR in Russian No 23, Dec 84 (signed to press 16 Nov 84) pp 31-34

[Article by Colonel General V. Pirozhkov, deputy chairman of the USSR KGB: "The Invisible Front"]

[Text] In their secret preparations for an attack against the Soviet Union, the heads of Fascist Germany were staking a lot on all-encompassing subversive activities on our home front. Hitler organized an immense intelligence apparatus and numerous groups of saboteurs, selected from various unsavory types--former members of the White Guard, renegades, and traitors.

Under these conditions Chekist organs played an important role in ensuring the security of the world's first socialist state and protecting it from the subversive activities of imperialism. During the pre-war period the Central Committee of the All-Union Communist Party (Bolsheviks) directed state security organs to uncover the aggressive plans of Fascist Germany and other imperialist states and to put a decisive end to the espionage and sabotage activities being carried out by the enemy's secret services against our Homeland.

This was especially important in light of the fact that the military and political leadership of Fascist Germany assigned a major role to the intelligence gathering and subversive activities of its special services in its plans for preparing a blitzkrieg against the Soviet Union. The Military Espionage and Counterespionage Service (Abwehr), headed by Admiral Kanaris, was the leading intelligence organization. Intelligence from all the secret services of the "Third Reich" was sent to Abwehr.

In the preparations for aggression, Abwehr and Germany's other special services actively carried out espionage operations, attempting to obtain reliable information on the USSR's military and economic potential, on the number and distribution of units and formations of the Red Army and Navy, new combat technology, and the operation of the defense industry and rail transport. A considerable effort was made to undermine the moral and political unity of the Soviet people, to provoke hostility among the various nationalities, and to create a "fifth column" at the rear of the Soviet troops.

The enemy did not succeed in these attempts, however. Decisive factors contributing to the successful struggle against the subversive espionage activities of Fascist Germany include the moral and political unity of the Soviet people, which had been forged under the leadership of the Communist Party during the campaign to establish and consolidate Soviet power, in addition to measures taken by the party Central Committee and the Soviet government to make further improvements in the military and political education provided to the workers and to heighten the vigilance of the Soviet people.

Before the war Soviet counterespionage inflicted serious blows against Fascist agents who had been sent to the USSR. In 1940 and in the first quarter of 1941 in western regions of the Ukraine and Belorussia and in the Soviet Baltic republics, that is, in the main strategic areas of the coming attacks by the Wehrmacht, Chekists exposed and liquidated dozens of Fascist intelligence operatives and border units in western districts deflected hundreds of armed incursions by the enemy into Soviet territory.

Soviet espionage operated actively under difficult conditions. Intelligence agents obtained reliable data on the military preparations being made by Fascist Germany for its attack on the USSR and reported this information to the party Central Committee, the People's Defense Commissariat, and the People's Commissariat for Foreign Affairs. In the spring of 1941 Soviet military intelligence agents and agents of state security organs reported that large forces of German Fascist army troops were being massed in East Prussia and Poland and German troops were being transferred to Finland.

The Great Patriotic War was an extremely difficult ordeal for the Soviet people. Soviet border guards were the first to enter into combat with the Fascist armies. They wrote quite a few exciting pages into the chronicles of the war, offered heroic examples of self-sacrifice, and carried their fighting banners with honor through all the ordeals. The staunch defense of the border hindered realization of the plans of Hitler's commanders to win a blitzkrieg victory over the USSR.

From the very beginning of the war up until its victorious conclusion, in addition to the armed combat a bitter secret war was being waged by Soviet intelligence and counterintelligence against Abwehr and other Fascist special services. The scale and intensity of this war is unparalleled in history. Soviet agents were fighting an experienced and crafty opponent who had at his disposal extensive resources for espionage, sabotage, terrorism, and other hostile activities.

There were 130 espionage, sabotage, and counterespionage organs carrying out subversive operations against the Soviet state. More than 60 schools were engaged in training spies and saboteurs.

During the war Fascist espionage agents concentrated most of their efforts on undermining the power of the Soviet armed forces, primarily the army in the field. The enemy sent large numbers of spies, saboteurs, and terrorists to work among Soviet troops and in the rear. Over half of all the enemy agents sent into the USSR were operating right in the combat zone among the Red Army.

Military counterespionage worked in close cooperation with the army and navy command and their political organs in organizing effective measures to expose and arrest spies, saboteurs, and terrorists. In 1941 alone military counterintelligence agents together with border guards and NKVD troops neutralized more than 4000 spies, saboteurs, and terrorists, over 1500 of whom were caught in the offensive zone of the "Center" Fascist army group, that is, in the main strategic sector.

During the period of preparations for and implementation of strategic offensive operations by the Red Army in 1943-1944, military counterespionage organs advanced with the troops and participated in ensuring the security of army front-line and rear services and communications. Hundreds of Hitler's espionage agents were neutralized at the front and at the rear of the army in the field.

Active measures were taken to misinform and confuse Hitler's command and its intelligence services with regard to the distribution and number of formations and units of the Red Army and the defensive and offensive operations of Soviet troops. These measures were carried out in close contact with the General Staff and the front-line command. Misinformation activities were carried out during the battles near Moscow, Stalingrad, and Kursk and during the "Bagration" and Yassko-Kishenev strategic offensive operations, and other battles of the Great Patriotic War. For example, in January 1943 the Fascist command and its intelligence service were given false information on the formation of a reserve army in the town of Gorkiy and on the unloading of 1300 planes and 2000 tanks at northern ports in the USSR.

Heads of the Fascist secret services tried to organize extensive espionage, sabotage, terrorist, and other subversive activities deep in the interior of the country. A special agency called "Zeppelin" was created in early 1942 for this purpose; it was responsible for the organization of bandit and rebel groups in Transcaucasian and Central Asian republics, in Kazakhstan, and a number of autonomous republics of the RSFSR; it also carried out terrorist activities against leading figures in the Communist Party and the Soviet state, and against important military leaders in the Red Army.

Taking this into account, state security organs worked energetically to carry out complex measures to protect important military and industrial projects, rail, water, and air transport, and communications centers and lines from spies, saboteurs, and terrorists; and they worked to protect state and military secrets.

Under the leadership of party organs, in close cooperation with the command and political organs of military districts, and with the active support of the local population, a number of major sabotage and espionage operations against the enemy were organized on the Soviet home front. In the fall of 1942 the enemy met with failure in an operation code-named "Shamil" that was aimed at capturing the petroleum plants in Baku and Grozny. A total of 31 enemy sabotage and espionage groups were liquidated in the Georgian SSR, Azerbaijan SSR, and Dagestan ASSR.

In early 1943 the large-scale sabotage operation called "Volga Wave", which had been carefully planned by "Zeppelin" and was aimed the destruction of railroad bridges over the Volga and other waterways and military projects in the Urals, Central Asia, and the Komi ASSR, was foiled. Of 19 espionage groups (with 115 agents) sent by "Zeppelin-South" into the Soviet rear in 1943, 15 were liquidated before they could perform their assigned jobs. The members of the other groups ended up in the hands of the Chekists a while later or turned themselves in at state security agencies.

In the fall of 1943 another "Zeppelin" operation was terminated; this one was aimed at terrorist acts against the "big three"--the heads of the governments of the USSR, the United States, and England during the conference in Tehran.

A year later, in September 1944, outside of Moscow Chekists captured two dangerous Fascist terrorist agents, a man named Taurin who had forged documents showing him to be a Hero of the Soviet Union, and his "wife" (a radio operator). Taurin had been instructed by "Zeppelin" to enter the Bolshoi Theater on 6 November 1944 and during a gala meeting dedicated to the 27th anniversary of the Great October Socialist Revolution, commit a terrorist act against the leaders of the Communist Party and the Soviet state. This operation, which had been carefully planned by "Zeppelin," met with failure.

Chekists also carried out unforgettable heroic deeds behind the front lines. A plan for waging a national battle along the enemy's rear was outlined in a joint directive issued on 19 June 1941 by the party Central Committee and the USSR Council of People's Commissars "To Party and Soviet Organizations in Areas near the Front" and in a decision adopted by the party Central Committee on 18 July 1941 "On Organizing a Campaign behind German Lines." These were program documents for state security organs in their organization of massive espionage, counterespionage, and sabotage operations along the enemy's rear.

In accordance with instructions issued by the party Central Committee, special, highly trained operative groups were sent behind the lines. Chekist espionage agents gathered valuable intelligence information on the enemy and reported this information to the party Central Committee, the State Committee for Defense, the General Staff, and command and military councils at the front. In the spring of 1942 state security organs gave the State Committee for Defense reliable data on the Wehrmacht's preparations for a strategic attack on Stalingrad and the northern Caucasus and on the basic distribution of troops. This information was used by the staff of the Supreme Command to evaluate the situation and make the appropriate decisions.

Intelligence data gathered by state security organs on the eve of the Kursk battle played an exceptionally important role. In May 1943 the State Committee for Defense was informed that the German command was planning a strategic offensive operation called "Citadel," that enemy troops were being deployed near Orel, and that the new "tiger" tanks were to be used in this operation.

Discussing the events in the Kursk radius, Marshal of the Soviet Union G. K. Zhukov said: "Without a doubt, it was thanks to the brilliant work of Soviet intelligence in the spring of 1943 that we had at our disposal some important information on the distribution of German troops before the summer attack...The fine work of the intelligence service was one of the factors that contributed to the success of this major battle." Chekists penetrated Fascist intelligence organs and schools and various sections of the occupation administration and they exposed spies, saboteurs, and terrorists who were being prepared for infiltration or who had already been sent into units of the army in the field, in the country's interior, and into partisan units and detachments.

There were Chekist intelligence agents in the Abwehr command-103, in many Abwehr groups, in the enemy's intelligence schools in Borisov, Smolensk, Poltava, and elsewhere, and in a number of district commisariats, police institutions, city authorities, etc. In 1943 operative gropus working behind enemy lines provided data on 1260 agents who had been sent by Fascist intelligence to carry out espionage and sabotage activities among Soviet troops at the front. Practically all the agents were found and neutralized.

Along with the partisan formations and the heroic members of the underground, operative state security groups carried out active sabotage work in the enemy's rear, participated in the "rail war" that was waged in August and September 1943 on occupied Soviet territory, and carried out daring operations to destroy some of the enemy's important military sites. For example, in May 1942 a large petroleum depot in Polotsk was destroyed and in June 1943 the wheel shop at a large railcar repair plant in Minsk, where Fascist tanks were repaired, was put out of operation.

The personnel of the operative groups were given special training at a separate motorized infantry brigade specially designated by the USSR NKVD (OMSBON). During the war a total of more than 2200 special operative groups were trained and sent behind enemy lines. The military command valued their work very highly. The commander of the Belorussian front, General of the Army K. K. Rokossovskiy, sent a telegram to the NKGB in December 1943 in which he reported that the operative groups under the command of Kaminskiy, Matveyev, and Shikhov had provided important support to the front lines by destroying the Unecha and Gomel railroad junctions. The homeland recognized the service of the Chekists and their heroic deeds during the Great Patriotic War. More than 270 border guards, leaders of operative groups, and Chekist intelligence agents were awarded the high title of Hero of the Soviet Union. Among them were G. Ya. Boris, N. I. Kuznetsov, V. A. Lagin, V. A. Molodtsov, I. D. Kudrya, and N. T. Prikhod'ko.

The raids made by partisan units deep into enemy territory were examples of great heroism and courage and will always be remembered as part of the history of the Great Patriotic War; these groups were lead by Heroes of the Soviet Union S. A. Vaupshasov, D. V. Yemlyutin, V. A. Karasev, D. N. Medvedev, K. P. Orlovskiy, and N. A. Prokopyuk.

Operating under the leadership and control of the Communist Party, and supported by the extensive assistance provided by workers and army and navy troops, state security organs inflicted serious damage on the Fascist espionage and counterespionage services. As a result, the Fascist intelligence services essentially did not fulfill even one of the basic tasks they had been assigned: undermining the power of the Soviet armed forces, disorganizing the home front, and liquidating the partisan movement. They did not manage to gather data on the concentration of Soviet troops made up of strategic reserves of the Supreme
Command staff in the battles outside of Moscow and Stalingard, and they did not ensure the success of the Wehrmacht's strategic offensive operation "Citadel" (the attack on the Orel-Kursk radius).

The history of the battle between Soviet intelligence and counterintelligence and the German Fascist special services and their agents is a story of the active, offensive strategy and tactics carried out by the Chekists, the preparation and implementation of complex espionage and counterespionage operations at the front, in the rear, and behind the lines of the Fascist troops.

All the plots and subversive activities of the Fascist secret services were defeated by the moral and political unity of the Soviet people, their solidarity around the Communist Party, the great revolutionary vigilance of the workers, and the skillful work carried out by state security organs. Fascist agents found no support inside the country and ran up against the Soviet people's unity and solidarity and the great skills of Soviet intelligence agents, and were therefore helpless to carry out the plans of their bosses.

After the victorious conclusion of the Great Patriotic War, the Soviet people managed in a short period of time to rehabilitate the national economy that had been destroyed by the war, and are consistently carrying out plans for further economic development and for raising the standard of living of the Soviet people. Our country has a powerful material and technical base, great military and economic potential, and well-trained and well-equipped armed forces; this serves as a reliable guarantee of the security of the Soviet state and its friends.

The CPSU and the Soviet government are pursuing a consistent course to relax international tension caused by the aggressive policies of reactionary imperialist circles, primarily the United States of America, which has declared a new "crusade" against socialism.

In realizing its anti-Soviet and openly militaristic plans, the Reagan administration is assigning a major role to intelligence, subversive anti-communist centers, and other special services. The scale of their espionage and subversive operations against the USSR and other countries of socialist cooperation is growing and their ideological sabotage activities are being stepped up.

Under these conditions, the party and its Central Committee is assigning state security organs important tasks aimed at protecting the Soviet state and society from subversive operations carried out by imperialism and its special services. K. U. Chernenko, general secretary of the CPSU Central Committee and chairman of the Presidium of the USSR Supreme Soviet, said: "It is the job of the Chekists to provide a reliable guarantee of the security of the Soviet Fatherland, organizing their work in accordance with the demands of socialist democracy, with the laws of our people's state, and taking into account the foreign political situation. This work should be carried out on the unshakable foundation of Leninist principles in the spirit of the great Chekist In recent years Chekists have exposed and neutralized quite a few foreign espionage agents and emissaries of foreign anti-Soviet centers. A number of employees of the CIA have been caught red-handed in espionage operations. Border troops of the KGB are protecting the borders of the Homeland and halting efforts by enemy agents to enter the Soviet Union.

Historical experience offers the following lesson: anyone who encroaches on the security of the first socialist state in the world or on that of its allies will be met with immediate retribution. While there is still military and political tension, while our country is still threatened by nuclear missiles, Chekists and all the Soviet people will stand vigilantly to guard the security of the Homeland and to defeat any plots by imperialist aggressors.

COPYRIGHT: Izdatel'stvo "Pravda". "Agitator", 1984.

9967 CSO: 1830/274

#### INTERNATIONAL

WESTERN ATTEMPTS TO 'REVISE' YALTA CONFERENCE RESULTS HIT

Moscow NEW TIMES in English No 6, Feb 85 pp 13-26

[Text]

The Crimea meeting took place at a time when the war against nazi Germany had entered the final stage. It adopted historic decisions on questions relating not only to the conduct of the war but also to the postwar settlement. It demonstrated that effective political co-operation between states with different political systems was possible. Yalta, Potsdam and Helsinki are milestones in this co-operation. Yalta was at once the harbinger of Victory and its first resuit. Nevertheless the decisions of the Crimea Conference are being challenged to this day in the West and attempts are made to revise and rewrife them. Whyi Let us recall the beginning of 1945, the relations between the ailies at the time and the decisions taken by the Big Three, and, lastly, take a closer look at the present-day critics of Yalta.

# Sixty Kilometres to Berlin

At the end of 1944 the Hitlerite leadership made a desperate effort to avert defeat or at any rate to drag out the war. Hitler told his generals that it was essential to deepen the differences between the United States and Britain, on the one hand, and the Soviet Union, on the other, which in his opinion were already racking the anti-fascist coalition. If this was done "we may at any moment see this entire artificially erected common front suddenly collapse with a mighty clap of thunder," he wound up his speech to the generals on December 10, 1944.

At dawn on December 16 the generals sent select forces of the Wehrmacht into Germany's last major offensive in the war—in the Ardennes on the western front. Two surreptitiously concentrated German armies fell upon several U.S. divisions, breached the front over a 100kilometre sector and advanced 90 kilometres within a few days. The German offensive was a stunning blow for the U.S. and British Supreme Command. Washington and London were in a state of shock.

Supreme Commander General Eisenhower put the question squarely before Roosevelt and Churchill: help must be sought from the U.S.S.R., it should be asked to resume the offensive on the eastern front. In response to a request from the U.S. President and the British Prime Minister, Joseph Stalin agreed to receive Eisenhower's deputy, Air Chief Marshal Arthur Tedder, who was to brief him on the plight of the Western allies. Tedder left for Moscow as the battle on the western front continued to gain momentum. On December 27, 1944, U.S. Secretary of War Henry Stimson put it on record, after a talk with U.S. Army Chief of Staff General George Marshall, that "... if Germany beat us in this counterattack and particularly if the Russians failed to come

in ... we should have to recast the whole war; we should have to take a defensive position on the German boundary—which ... we could do with perfect safety—and then have the people of the United States decide whether they wanted to go on with the war enough to raise the new armies which would be necessary to do it."

Why this sort of reasoning, why the doubts that the Russians would not "come in"? As like as not it was a matter of a guilty conscience. Stimson and Marshall could not have forgotten that the Western allies had procrastinated for years with the opening of the second front, counting on nazi Germany and its satellites bleeding the Soviet Union white. Now they feared that the Soviet Union could pay back the Western allies in kind by giving the enemy an opportunity to stage a shambles on the western front. Incidentally, this was exactly what Hitler had in mind in mounting the Ardennes offensive. But the Russians did "come in."

On January 6, 1945, Churchill, after a visit to the front, wrote to Stalin: "The battle in the West is very heavy and, at any time, large decisions may be called for from the Supreme Command ... I shall be grateful if you can tell me whether we can count on a major Russian offensive on the Vistula front, or elsewhere, during January, with any other points you may care to mention... I regard the matter as urgent."

On January 7, Stalin replied: "... In view of our allies' position on the western front, GHQ of the Supreme Command have decided to complete preparations at a rapid rate and, regardless of weather, to launch large-scale offensive operations not later than the second half of January. Rest assured we shall do all in our power to support the valiant forces of our allies."

On January 9, in a letter to Stalin, Churchill wrote: "May all good fortune rest upon your noble venture... We are both [Britain and the United States] shoving in everything we can. The news you give me will be a great encouragement to General Eisenhower."

Churchill informed the general in confidence of the coming Soviet offensive. Indicative of the general atmosphere at Eisenhower's headquarters was this statement made by Intelligence Chief General Kenneth Strong at a meeting on January 11: "So much depends on whether the Russians are going to attack. We sincerely hope that they will have started their offensive by the end of February. If not, the Germans will be able to release many divisions that were employed on the eastern front and send them against us in the west." It is not difficult to imagine what the consequences would have been if the Russians had not attacked.

But that did not happen and could not have happened. Loyal to its allied commitments, the U.S.S.R. launched a large-scale offensive on January 12 and 14, 1945. The Red Army advanced nearly 500 kilometres in 23 days. Taking a bridgehead on the western bank of the Oder, the Soviet forces were now within 60 kilometres of Berlin. The British and American forces were 500 kilometres from the Gérman capital.

By this time the Soviet forces had completed the liberation of Central and Southeast Europe. Thanks to the efforts of the Soviet Union, just, democratic armistice agreements were concluded with Romania, Finland, Bulgaria and Hungary. The liberation of Poland and a large part of Czechoslovakia was completed in the main.

#### **Operation Argonaut**

On the eve of the Yalta Conference the leaders of the Western powers took a far more realistic view of the march of events than they had in previous years. The hope that the Soviet Union would emerge weakened from the war had not materialized. After the Red Army victories at Stalingrad and Kursk in 1943, the Supreme Command of the U.S. armed forces concluded that an equivalence of strength between the U.S.S.R. and the U.S.A. was taking shape. On May 16, 1944, the U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff, in special recommendations to the State Department spoke of the "phenomenal

growth" in the military might of the U.S.S.R. The Joint Chiefs of Staff stressed that after the war there would remain three great powers in the world-the United States, the Soviet Union and Britain. In the event of a conflict between Britain and the U.S.S.R. the military strength the Soviet Union "could dispose upon that continent [Europe-Ed.] would, under present conditions, be far too great to be overcome by our intervention on the side of Britain.... We could not, under existing conditions, defeat Russia. In other words, we would find ourselves engaged in a war which we could not win...."

Of course in the situation that prevailed in the beginning of 1945 only incorrigible wishful thinkers could have entertained the thought of "defeating Russia." The war was coming to an end, the war in which the U.S.S.R. emerged the victor. The view confirmed by the U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff on the eve of the Yalta Conference put paid to the calculations of those quarters in the United States which were opposed to the strengthening of the anti-Hitler coalition. Realization of the vital need for understandings with the Soviet Union on the threshold of peace gained the upper hand. Churchill is known to have proposed giving the Crimea Conference the code name Argonaut. Roosevelt agreed, feeling that he and Churchill were the "direct successors of the Argonauts." They went to the Black Sea in quest of Soviet help, as Jason of the legend went there in quest of the Golden Fleece. Of course, the Soviet Union's allies, finding themselves hard pressed on the western front, were badly in need of Soviet help. They also needed the final consent of the U.S.S.R. to enter the war against Japan.

The fact that the Soviet Union's partners at the conference were aware of the balance of strength in the world that had emerged as a result of the titanic victories of the Soviet armed forces predetermined the possibility of agreement on the final defeat of nazism and on the future of Europe. Soviet foreign policy on the eve of the Crimea Conference was clear-cut and definitive; top priority at Yalta had to be given to problems relating to the liberation of the peoples from fascis' occupation. The peoples of Europe did not want the return to power of those directly responsible for the disaster into which they had been plunged.

# In the Livadia Palace

Roosevelt and Churchill, after meeting on February 2 in Malta to exchange views on a common position at the coming meeting with Stalin. left by plane that night for the Crimea. They were accompanied by a suite of up to 700 political and military leaders, advisers and interpreters. On February 3 their planes touched down at the Saki airfield within 20 minutes of one another. From here they drove to Yalta. The head of the Soviet government, Joseph Stalin, met them in Yalta, where he arrived with those accompanying him in the morning of February 4.

Three palaces near Yalta that had escaped destruction by the hastily retreating nazis were placed at the disposal of the delegations. The Americans were housed in Livadia, where the basic work of the conference was done, meetings of heads of government were held and the main documents were signed. The British delegation was put up at the Vorontsov Palace in Alupka, while the Soviet delegation stayed at the Yusupov Palace in Koreiz. The Soviet delegation, which was headed by Joseph Stalin, included People's Commissar of Foreign Affairs Vyacheslav Molotov, People's Commissar of the Navy Nikolai Kuznetsov, Deputy Chief of the Red Army General Staff Army General Alexei Antonov, Deputy People's Commissars of Foreign Affairs Andrei Vyshinsky and Ivan Maisky, Air Marshal Sergei Khudyakov, Ambassador to Britain Fyodor Gusev and Ambassador to the United States Andrei Gromyko. At Stalin's suggestion the conference was chaired by Roosevelt, who ruled that the press be barred from the meeting and that photographs were to be taken only by a small group in uniform.

On February 4 the historic meeting of the Big Three was opened in the Livadia Palace. It went on until February 11 and ended in the adoption of a communiqué which recorded the agreement of the three powers on:

-a United Nations' conference;

---a declaration on liberated Europe;

—Poland;

—Yugoslavia;

-meetings of foreign secretaries;

The communiqué was published on February 13, 1945.

What was decided at Yalta? Full clarity on this score is of utmost importance, considering that in the subsequent period, all the way to the present, reactionary historiography and propaganda have been trying to pass off as the Yalta decisions something that was not even mentioned at Yalta. For instance, for many years now it has been alleged that agreements were reached there on "division of spheres of influence," "partition of Europe," and the like. Those who go in for such falsification would do well to peruse the text of the decisions adopted over February 4-11 and to ponder their meaning. To begin with, considerable space in these decisions was allotted to plans for joint military operations against Germany and the attitude to be taken to it after its unconditional surrender. The communiqué underscored that the timing, scope and co-ordination of new and ever more powerful blows to be launched into the heart of Germany had been fully agreed and planned in detail. Western observers, the British journalist Alexander Werth wrote, were much impressed by the fact that throughout the Yalta Conference Stalin had closely followed the course of the war and performed the functions of Supreme Commander-in-Chief every day from midnight to 5 a.m.

The three allied powers solemnly declared: "It is our inflexible purpose to destroy German militarism



and nazism and to ensure that Germany will never again be able to disturb the peace of the world. We are determined to disarm and disband all German armed forces; break up for all time the German General Staff that has repeatedly contrived the resurgence of German militarism; remove or destroy all German military equipment; eliminate or control all German industry that could be used for military production; bring all war criminals to just and swift punishment...; wipe out the nazi party, nazi laws, organizations and institutions, remove all nazi and militarist influences from public office and from the cultural and economic life of the German people...."

It was decided that for enforcing the unconditional surrender terms the forces of the three powers would each occupy a separate zone of Germany. Co-ordinated allied administration and control was provided for through a special Control Commission consisting of the Supreme Commanders of the three powers with headquarters in Berlin. It was agreed that France would be invited to take over a zone of occupation and to participate as a fourth member of the Control Commission.

Further, the Crimea Conference resolved to establish together with other peace-loving states a universal international organization to maintain peace and security. It was decided to call a conference of United Nations on April 25, 1945, in San Francisco to draw up the charter of an international organization along the lines proposed in the informal talks at Dumbarton Oaks.

A Declaration on Liberated Europe was also adopted in Yalta. It provided for joint action in meeting the political and economic problems of liberated Europe. The Declaration said: "The establishment of order in Europe and the rebuilding of national economic life must be achieved by processes which will enable the liberated peoples to destroy the last vestiges of nazism and fascism and to create democratic institutions of their own choice." It was stipulated that in accordance with the right of all peoples to choose the form of government under which they will live, sovereign rights and self-government must be restored to those peoples who had been forcibly deprived of them by aggressive nations. The three powers reaffirmed their determination to build, in cooperation with other peace-loving nations, a world order under law dedicated to peace, security, freedom and the general well-being of all mankind.

On the question of Poland, the communiqué voiced "the common desire to see established a strong, free, independent and democratic Poland." With regard to the frontiers of Poland the following decision was taken: "The three heads of government consider that the eastern frontier of Poland should follow the Curzon Line with digressions from it in some regions of five to eight kilometres in favour of Poland. They recognize that Poland must receive substantial accessions of territory in the north and west."

The conference also adopted an agreement on the Far East providing for the entry of the Soviet Union in the war against Japan. The agreement stressed, in particular, that after the end of the war the southern part of Sakhalin Island and all the adjoining islands would be returned and the Kuril Islands handed over to the Soviet Union.

#### Appraisals

What, in the opinion of its participants, was the substance of the decisions of the Yalta Conference?

"The Crimea Conference," Pravda said editorially on February 13, 1945, "will go down in the history of the liberation war against the nazi invaders as an epochal demonstration of close combat co-operation of democratic powers when the war entered its final phase."

Shortly after his return to Britain, Churchill, opening a debate on the Yalta decisions in the House of Commons on February 27, 1945, said:

"The Crimea Conference finds the allies more closely united than ever before, both in the military and in the political spheres.... The impression I brought back from the Crimea, and from all my other contacts, is that Marshal Stalin and the Soviet leaders wish to live in honourable friendship and equality with the Western democracies. I feel also that their word is their bond. I know of no government which stands to its obligations, even in its own despite, more solidly than the Russian Soviet government." Parliament unanimously endorsed Churchill's assessment of the Yalta Conference.

Speaking at a joint session of the Senate and the House of Representatives on March 1, 1945, President Roosevelt said: "I am confident that the Congress and the American people will accept the results of the conference as the beginnings of a permanent structure of peace upon which we can begin to build, under God, that better world in which our children and grandchildren-yours and mine, the children and grandchildren of the whole world-must live, and can live." In Roosevelt's opinion the decisions adopted were of particular value inasmuch as they put an end to spheres of influence, balances of power, and all other contrivances that had been resorted to for centuries and which had always failed.

The Yalta decisions were approved by democratic opinion the world over. But there were also dissonant voices. British Foreign Secretary Anthony Eden pinpointed those who voiced "anxiety" over Yalta. "So far as I know," he said in Parliament on March 1, 1945, "the deepest anxiety of all was caused to Goebbels. If the House will read some of the stuff put out by Goebbels after the Yalta agreement, they will see in that the measure of the successs of that agreement." True enough, in the twilight of the Third Reich the fascist chiefs were plunged into panic by the identity of the aims of the U.S.S.R.; the U.S.A. and Britain manifest at Yalta.

Subsequently Western critics of Yalta exerted no little effort to show that Roosevelt and Churchill had made "concessions" to the U.S.S.R., for example in the matter of the occupation zones. Replying to these critics, Averell Harriman, who had taken part in the Yalta Conference, observed: "The agreed zones were considered to be very favourable by our chiefs of staff at the time they were decided upon. They thought the Russians would be much further in Germany than they got and that we would not have gotten as far as we did."

As regards the agreement on the conditions of the Soviet Union's entry into the war against Japan which provided for the return to the U.S.S.R. of southern Sakhalin and the handing over to it of the Kuril Islands, Harriman pointed out that there had been a very great danger that the U.S.S.R. would wait until the U.S. had brought Japan to its knees at the cost of huge American losses.

But such calculations were alien to the Soviet Union. It strictly observed its allied commitments.

Yalta was proof of the fruitfulness of equal co-operation among the allies both in war and in peace.

Soon after the end of the war, which resulted in fundamental changes in the international situation and the balance of forces on the world arena in favour of socialism, the international working-class and communist movement and the national liberation revolutions, the reactionary ruling quarters in the West unleashed a cold war against the U.S.S.R. and the other socialist countries. They hoped to be able to prevent the forces of socialism from growing stronger, to hinder the growth of their influence in the world. Part of the cold-war policy was the campaign launched by Western imperialist quarters against the Crimea decisions. The attacks on Yalta continue to this day. Speaking in Washington on August 17, 1984, President Reagan declared that the U.S. "rejects any interpretation of the Yalta agreement that suggests American consent for the division of Europe into spheres of influence."

On January 2 this year the West Berlin newspaper Berliner Morgenpost published a message from Ronald Reagan "To All Berliners," in which he emphasized that today, too, the Western allies were defenders of Berlin. In the broader sense of the word they were also defenders of the German nation. They were in Berlin as guardians and as reminders that the tragic division of Germany and of Europe was not immutable. What did Reagan have in mind? Against whom does he intend to "defend the German nation"? It is a well-known fact that in Teheran and Yalta it was the U.S.A. and not the U.S.S.R. that advocated the division of Germany. It was not the

U.S.S.R. but the U.S.A. that proposed in 1945 that Germany be turned into a "potato field."

Once the Reagan Administration had begun to speak about the Yalta decisions, Zbigniew Brzezinski too hastened to put in a word. On the pages of the latest (winter of 1984/85) edition of the Foreign Affairs magazine he said: "The fiftieth anniversary of Yalta is only ten years away. It should be our [Western.-Ed.] shared goal to fashion by then political-military arrangements which, instead of perpetuating the division of Europe ... would create the preconditions for peacefully undoing Yalta."

Brzezinski laid out the following scheme: "in publicly repudiating that bequest-the partition of Europethe West should underline its commitment to a restored Europe ....." The practical means for this would be to put an end to a situation in which the U.S.A. "is seen as alone in supporting dissident 'subversion'" in the countries of Eastern Europe. Brzezinski calls on the countries of Western Europe to involve themselves more deeply in these matters, i.e., in interfering in the affairs of other countries. More precisely, he calls for setting up "a wellfunded Franco-British-German-Italian consortium (a foundation for a post-Yalta Europe) to aid East European efforts to emancipate peacefully the eastern portion of Europe."

Needless to say, it is the fate of Poland Brzezinski is concerned over most of all. This country went through grim ordeals in the last war. Winston Churchill, substantiating the justice of the Yalta decisions for Poland in a speech in Parliament. said: "But for the prodigious exertions and sacrifices of Russia, Poland was doomed to utter destruction at the hands of the Germans. Not only Poland as a state and as a nation, but the Poles as a race were doomed by Hitler to be destroyed or reduced to a servile station." During World War II the Soviet Union fought to ensure the freedom and prosperity of Poland and other European countries, but not in order to gain any "spheres of influence." It is this reality-the

existence of the countries of Eastern and Southeastern Europe within the framework of the socialist system that no critics of the Yalta decisions will be able to shake. This reality was confirmed at Potsdam and, later, almost ten years ago in the Final Act of the Helsinki Conference.

Brzezinski's comments are sufficiently eloquent. They show that the Yalta decisions are a thorn in the side of those who would reverse the course of history. Regrettably, there are quite a number of such people.

The reports sent in by New Times correspondents deal with this subject.

# LONDON

Quite some time before the anniversary of the Yalta Conference was due. British television, for a start, castigated the Churchill government for the "mistakes" it made at the end of the war. The "mistake" made in the signing of the Yalta agreements by the Western participants is a leading theme in almost all capitalist press commentaries these days. The reason is quite simple: the authors of these commentaries. as well as their employers, are striving to convince the British people that socialism was victorious in Eastern Europe precisely owing to the "compliance" of Churchill and Roosevelt. However, even the most inveterate opponents of socialism on the British Isles have been forced to admit that a return of Europe to prewar times is impossible. "It is likelier that not much will greatly change ... it may come to appear that two such irreconcilable political philosophies abut on each other in Central Europe," sighs the London Economist.

At the same time the idea of "eroding" the socialist community arouses great enthusiasm in British ruling circles. "For West Germany, that means the plodding business of providing the money to the G.D.R.," says the Economist. "For Poland, it means Western government linking debt-rescheduling to some measures of political liberalization." The News Night BBC programme recently spoke with still greater frankness: "Above all, the West needs better contacts with Eastern Europe in order to be able to influence covertly the events taking place there, Each East European country should be approached individually, making use of and encouraging religious, nationalistic and other tendencies there." The ultimate aim of all these exercises in subversion against the world of socialism was set forth with utmost clarity by the selfsame Economist which expressed a hope for radical changes in Eastern Europe and in the Soviet Union itself.

Meanwhile the British authorities are doing their utmost to drain the British people of any warm feelings they may have for the peoples of the socialist countries, above all the U.S.S.R. Not a word about the part played by the Soviet Union in the victory over fascism is to be found in official statements or in the press.

It is true that by far not all the people of Britain approve of the attempts being made by the Tories to revise the past. The fight against fascism shoulder to shoulder with the Soviet people lives on in the memory of those who manned the Murmansk convoys. The youth is reaching out for the truth about our country through the dense fog of anti-Sovietism. A number of unbiassed historians openly object to the distortion, or consignment to oblivion, of the historical role of the U.S.S.R. in the second world war.

At the request of New Times, Dr Hugh Macdonald, lecturer at the London School of Economics and a prominent British specialist in world affairs, set forth his views on the historic role of the Yalta Conference:

"The conference in Yalta was convened in order to settle some urgent questions of a political character arising in the wake of the continuing success of the allied military campaign against the Axis powers. That, in turn, was made possible only due to the enormous might of the Soviet Army and its gigantic effort in checking the nazis and in subsequently advancing westwards. Without the heroic actions of the Soviet Army, I am sure, it can be questioned whether the other allies would have been able to open the second front as successfully as they did.

"The decisions that came out of Yalta have had a tremendous influence upon the shape of international relations in Europe subsequently. It was the beginning of the postwar settlement. So in suggesting, as some historians do, that the Yalta outcome was imperfect, one must remember that Yalta was only a partial, though a very important step. As for the causes of many of today's disagreements, they appeared after Yalta and after Potsdam.

"Yalta produced a somewhat reluctant agreement on the part of the United States and Britain to Soviet wishes to begin to fill in some of the substantive and urgent issues of what should follow the defeat of Germany. But I don't accept absolutely that Yalta was a Western 'sell-out' to the Soviet Union. Yalta was a stage in what seemed at that time, and still does on the whole, to be a complicated but manageable process of reconstructing harmonious political relations between the great powers.

"The decisions of Yalta ... are used from time to time for reopening questions of postwar settlement. Such an approach ignores the fact that Yalta contributed to stabilization of Europe and its peace for 40 years. By and large, Yalta has been meticulously followed and has not been substantially challenged in practice.

"I would go as far as to draw a direct parallel between Yalta, on the one hand, and the arrangement concluded in Helsinki in 1975. In Helsinki the central decisions arrived at by the great powers in 1945 were reaffirmed. Not only Helsinki wouldn't have been possible without Yalta, the intervening 30 years would also have been more turbulent, less manageable.

"Yalta by no means produced the ideological character of the cold war. I also object against attempts to use Yalta for driving a wedge between the Soviet Union and East Europe. It presumes that social structures in the East are a subject of some revision in the West, whereas the character of relations in NATO and of Western Europe with the U.S. are somehow compati-

Победа в этой войне и образование предполагаемой между народной организации предоставят .самур большур возможность во всей истории человечества для создания в ближайшие годы важнейших условий такого мира. in trut. Un The Walter of Shell and the Shell and a star

The last paragraph of the document entitled "Conference of the Leaders of Three Allied Powers —the Soviet Union, the United States of America and Great Britain—in the Crimea," signed by Winston Churchill, Franklin Roosevelt and Joseph Stalin on February 11, 1945.

ble with Yalta. That, I think, is a one-sided reading of history.

"I argue that Yalta offers an opposite lesson. The conference there shows a possibility of more flexible relations between East and West. To me, that is the essential nature of the decisions of Yalta—to be borne in mind by European statesmen when they meet together."

# PARIS

In France, too, there are those who would like to subject Yalta to a revision, who strive to present the results of the Yalta Conference as some kind of a "disaster" for France and for Europe. The fascist-type National Front leader Le Pen who idolizes the German fuehrer, has declared that he would never agree to the decisions adopted in Yalta. "I shall never agree that the enslaved peoples on the other side of the iron curtain should not ever be able to become a part of free Europe." No comments, we think, are necessary here. This is the line of "rolling back" socialism.

The circles who profess to be opposed to the "division" of Europe have given currency to the thesis of "exceeding the framework of Yalta." What is behind this? Former Socialist Minister for External Relations Claude Cheysson has repeatedly declared that to go beyond the Yalta framework implies striving for a change in the state systems existing in the socialist countries. True. Cheysson intimates that he does not mean any alteration of the borders from the legal stanupoint, but merely "overcoming the disunity" of the Europeans, How, by what means he expects it to be "overcome" the ex-minister does not specify. The desirability of "overcoming" Yalta is recorded in black on white in a document endorsed by the ruling Socialist Party at its last congress in the town of Bourg-en-Bresse in 1983. The same idea is propounded by the Socialist Party's national secretary for international relations Jacques Huntzinger in an article recently published in Le Monde. He goes so far as to affirm that European security is impossible without overcoming the "rigid system of Yalta,"

To talk of "departing from Yalta" actually means to question postwar political and territorial realities, to undermine European stability. Is this in the interests of France?

In February 1945 the Yalta Conference set up barriers to the revival of German militarism. Franceand this is worth remembering—has three times within a single century been a victim of German aggression.

Yet, in recent years attempts have been made, not without the help of France, to set up a military-political alliance in Western Europe, a sort of adjunct of the aggressive NATO bloc. Unconvincing references to the supposed "drifting" of West Germany towards "neutralism" are used to screen this course pursued in the spirit of "Franco-German rapprochement." What "neutralism" can there be when hundreds of new U.S. nuclear missiles are being deployed on the territory of West Germany? The "rapprochement" of Paris and Bonn is acquiring an ever more sinister aspect in the military sphere. Nobody, of course, wants to counterpose France to the Federal Republic of Germany. However, it would be a dangerous delusion to close one's eyes to the revanchist ambitions mounting on the other bank of the Rhine, to revive the spirit of Munich.

#### BONN

Today, when the 40th anniversary of the Yalta Conference is being commemorated, the CDU/CSU leaders ever more persistently advance their thesis on the "division of Europe" which was, allegedly, initiated at the Crimea Conference by the leaders of the allied powers. Hence the slogan "Overcome the Division of Europe," "Overcome Yalta." The German question which is declared "unsettled" can, it is claimed, be solved only "within a European framework." On the other hand, without the "reunification of Germany" the establishment of a "new order" in Europe is presumably also impossible.

How do the leaders on the Rhine visualize a "united Europe"? Chan-' cellor Helmut Kohl says: "Freedom is the prerequisite for unity." But we know what the word "freedom" means in the language of the Bonn politicians: a capitalist socio-polit-ical system. Thus, the aim of the campaign against Yalta, in which Bonn is trying to involve its allies, is nothing more nor less than the liquidation of the socialist system in . the countries of Central and Southeastern Europe, first of all, of course, in the G.D.R. Ottfried Hennig, Secretary of State in the Ministry for Intra-German Relations, sees the "real problem" in the existence of a

> The government of West Germany, 40 years after the crushing defeat of the Third Reich, circulates this kind of map—"Germany within the 1937 borders."



"communist dictatorship on German soil."He adds that a reunited Germany should be integrated into the EEC and should have a constitution similar to that of West Germany.

At the same time the Bonn politicians have now begun to state more frequently that the question of borders is allegedly of secondary importance for them. In a recent interview to the newspaper Die Welt, the chairman of the CDU/CSU group in the Bundestag Alfred Dregger said: "The question of freedom is more important than the question of borders." The leaders of the Christian bloc try to convince also the diehard leaders of the revanchist associations of the correctness of their tactics, but the revanchists cannot get it into their thick heads that "freedom" has to be achieved first and the map of Europe recarved afterwards. Everything is topsy-turvy with the revanchists: first they want to seize the lands of other peoples and then establish their own order there. The purpose behind Strauss's slogan of "a free Silesia in a free Europe" is to disguise these territorial claims. The fact that such claims are still alive was confirmed by Dregger who, when asked about the future of Silesia, replied: "Things will never again be the same as they - were before 1945. But I believe things will not remain the same as they are at present."

Bonn seeks support for its anticommunist, revanchist concept of "overcoming the division of Europe" first of all from its chief ally-the United States. The mood on the Rhine became noticeably more cheerful when leading U.S. politicians were heard to question the decisions adopted in Yalta on the postwar settlement in Europe. The inclusion of the provocative statement that the United States and West Germany shall not accept the division of Europe for the long term in the joint communiqué adopted after Kohl's recent visit to Washington was estimated by Bonn as a success for its policy.

At present West Germany has been turned into a large American nuclear base. Pershing 2 and cruise missiles—first-strike weapons—are being deployed on its territory. The Bundeswehr is also gaining in strength. It has succeeded in getting the ban lifted from the production of long-range missiles and strategic bombers in West Germany. The headlong militarization of the F.R.G. is in flagrant contradiction with the decisions taken at the Crimea Conference by the leaders of the countries of the anti-Hitler coalition, who proclaimed it their aim "to ensure that Germany will never again be able to disturb the peace of the world."

Consequently, the threat to European peace was not created by some imaginary "division" of the continent. It was created by the arms race unleashed by the NATO countries, by calls for changing the territorial and political realities of present-day Europe.

#### VIENNA

In an interview granted a New Times correspondent, Dr Fritz Hanacik, General Secretary of the Austrian Association of Democratic Lawyers, said: "In my opinion the Yalta Conference and in general the unity of the allies was an open lesson taught by History.

"True," he went on, "the ruling circles of the West ignored it, breaking the links binding the chief participants in the battle against fascism, entering upon the dangerous, slippery path of cold war. In recent years clumsy attempts have been made to falsify the spirit and the content of the allied conferences. I have in mind not only Yalta-Teheran and Potsdam must likewise not be forgotten. So-called 'documentary publications' have started to appear, whole rivers of memoir froth, books and monographs purported to be scientific expositions, articles written by 'eyewitnesses.' Frankly speaking, nothing can surprise us, Europeans, after even Stern magazine became the victim of a hoax when it published absolutely 'authentic' diaries of Hitler, which later turned out to be the work of first-class swindlers who, incidentally, showed themselves to be not bad historians and experts in attracting clients!

"As regards Austria," Dr Hanacik continued, "the Yalta Conference

sanctioned the agreement reached at the Moscow conference of foreign. ministers in 1943 on a free and independent Central European state. The Austrian people were given hope for peace at a time when hunger and economic devastation reigned in the land, and that will remain in Austrian hearts forever. This to a great extent probably explains the traditionally friendly relations between the U.S.S.R. and Austria.

"When I first heard of preparations on foot for 'star wars' and when I read today's newspapers, I would very much like the heads of certain states once again—if they have read these words at least once-to re-read the concluding words of the Declaration on Liberated Europe adopted 40 years ago in Yalta."

TOKYO

je stra

"Sterilization of history." These words best convey the essence of the incessant campaign being waged in Japan for a revision of the causes and the lessons of the national catastrophe of 1945. Notwithstanding public protests in Japan itself and in the countries that were victims of samurai terrorism, the doctoring of history textbooks continues, films are demonstrated in which those who destroyed millions of human lives are depicted as "misunderstood romantics" and "saviours of the nation." Both the respectable magazines and the porno weeklies carry, in every edition, reminiscences, memoirs, diaries and "archive discoveries" in an attempt to prove the unprovable.

This "sterilization of history" applies not only to the past. It is closely linked to the present and is designed to influence the future of Japan. This idea is suggested by publications devoted to the Yalta Conference of 1945. As far as the past is concerned, the reasons that prompted the U.S.S.R. to undertake in Yalta the commitment to enter into the war in the Far East are distorted in numerous published articles. The "illegitimacy" of this step is asserted. As if it were not clear that the Yalta decisions were the - development of the general principles

of the policy of the anti-fascist coalition in regard to Japan, formulated on December 1, 1943, in the Cairo Declaration signed by the U.S.A., Britain and China: Japan was to be driven out of all the territories it had seized as a result of aggression. "Japan never attacked the Soviet Union. It was the Soviet Union that attacked Japan," the writer Michio Takeyama says in the Tokyo magazine Seiron. An arresting phrase, but a false one. Is it not a fact that in the 1920s and 1930s the Japanese militarists repeatedly launched attacks against the Soviet Union, that they instigated systematic armed provocations on the border between the U.S.S.R. and the Japanese-occupied Manchuria? The world has not forgotten the Japanese invasion of Soviet territory at Lake Khasan in 1938. Let us also recall the participation of Japan in the anti-Comintern pact and Japan's active preparation for a war against the U.S.S.R. at a most difficult time for our country-the time of the German offensive. It is a well-known fact that already in 1941 upwards of a million Japanese soldiers and officers, more than 1,000 tanks and 1,500 aircraft were concentrated in Manchuria along the border with the Soviet Union in violation of the Soviet-Japanese neutrality pact. It was not at all fortuitous that the Soviet Union was forced to keep in the Far East 15 to 30 per cent of its combat forces that were so badly needed in the west. Finally, it is no secret that in conformity with international law the neutrality pact was denounced by the Soviet government on April 5, 1945—i.e., four months prior to the declaration of war against Japan.

Attempts to revise the Yalta decisions are being actively undertaken at present by the opponents of the establishment of truly good-neighbour relations between the U.S.S.R. and Japan. They question whether it is obligatory for Tokyo to adhere to the decision concerning the return of the southern part of Sakhalin Island and all the islands adjacent to it, as well as the handing over of the Kuril Islands to the U.S.S.R. It is precisely this part of the Yalta decisions that serves as a point of departure for the diverse "fighters for the return of the northern territories."

\* \* \*

"Only the shortsighted can assail what has for 40 years now been the mainstay of European and world peace, only the shortsighted can attempt to question the historic Yalta and Potsdam agreements," says Andrei Gromyko. "Indeed, these agreements firmly tie the hands of all manner of revanchists. This was their prime purpose.

"These agreements have become basic to international law by virtue of developments. Twenty million Soviet people gave their lives for the victory over fascism. Millions of people in the countries of the anti-Hitler coalition fell in the battle for peace, so that never again would there arise a threat of war from German soil.

"It is in place to tell the reckless who dream of revenge and of a revision of state borders in Europe that the German Reich was burned to ashes in the flames of World War II. There is no return to it, nor will there be."

M. CHERNOUSOV (Moscow) M. BOGDANOV (London) V. ANDREYEV (Paris) A. TOLPEGIN (Bonn) S. POLZIKOV (Vienna) Y. TAVROVSKY (Tokyo)

# CSO: 1812/143

INTERNATIONAL

BURMESE INSURGENTS, SEPARATISTS SEEN AS NO THREAT TO UNITY

BK140821 Moscow in Burmese to Burma 1030 GMT 12 Feb 85

[(Viktor Lintov) commentary]

[Text] The people of Burma are celebrating Union Day today--an important day in the history of the nation. Today marks the 38th anniversary of the signing of the Panglong Agreement which reflected the desire of the various national groups to live in unity within the new and emerging Burma.

ۍ د

The Panglong spirit is still flourishing in Burma and plays an important role in the country. LOKETHA PYITHU NEIZIN newspaper once wrote that solidarity was the (?best) guarantee for the success of the social revolution being carried out in the interest of the whole people by the national groups within the union under the leadership of the Burma Socialist Program Party [BSPP].

It is a remarkable coincidence that Union Day is celebrated 3 days before the birthday of General Aung San, who earnestly fought for Burma's independence. Gen Aung San resolutely denounced the secessionists who tried very hard to get the minority states to secede from the union. He pointed out that secession would only benefit the imperialist and feudalist circles and that it would be detrimental to the interests of the minorities. In his speech before the Shan, Kachin, and other delegates at the Panglong Conference, Gen Aung San said he had always dreamed of establishing an independent and united Burma and that he had worked actively for the last 10 years toward the realization of that dream.

The post-independence years in Burma have proven that national unity can indeed survive and thrive. These years have also shown that the country's socio-economic development cannot be carried out and the sovereignty of the country cannot be strengthened without effectively fighting the secessionists of various stripes.

After it assumed power in 1962, the Revolutionary Council upheld the policy of national unity based on the Burmese Way to Socialism. The new leaders gave priority to the social and economic development of national groups living in remote areas by establishing industries, mines, state livestock breeding

47

stations, and communications. Schools were opened and health projects initiated.

The development in the areas where the national groups live would have been faster had the colonialists now sown the seeds of separatism and animosity toward the central government, and had there been on interference in the internal affairs of Burma.

The Burmese press still carries reports about armed attacks by the insurgents, mine attacks carried out by separatists, and atrocities committed by insurgents against the peasants. Pronouncements made by separatist gang leaders are nothing but instigations. The organizations they represent are actually vice rings and their main objective is to enrich themselves.

The insurgent groups operating in the inaccessible parts of Burma are depriving the country of its natural resources for their smuggling activities. They smuggle jade, silver, and valuable timber out of the country. The BOTAHTAUNG newspaper reported recently that they earned vast amounts of money from drug trafficking and drug exports from the notorious Golden Triangle.

The insurgents use the income received from these activities to purchase modern weaponry and military equipment including helicopters.

The antigovernment insurgents no longer enjoy any support among the people. LOKHETA PYITHU NEIZIN writes that more people from all strata of society, including minorities, are joining the armed forces in waging the struggle against the saboteurs. Hence, it is clear that the insurgents are surviving because of support from external elements which seek to destabilize the situation in Burma.

It is well understood in Burma that such blatant interference in the internal affairs of Burma is dangerous. Hence, the BSPP has been calling for relentless efforts in socialist construction based on national unity, and for struggle against insurgents with the support of all national groups.

Conditions exist in Burma for the removal of obstructions on the road to strengthening national solidarity and unity based on the principles of the goal of socialist construction. The Soviet people extend their sincere wishes to the Burmese people for success in marching along this path.

CSO: 4211/43

#### INTERNATIONAL

# 12VESTIYA CRITICIZES POPE'S VIEW OF 'LIBERATION THEOLOGY'

Moscow IZVESTIYA in Russian 10 Feb 85 p 5

[Article by R. Tuchnin: "After the Visit"]

[Text] Pope John Paul II, head of the Roman Catholic Church, completed his tour of Latin America where he visited Venezuela, Ecuador, Peru and Trinidad and Tobago. It is his sixth trip to this region of the world where more than 40 percent of the people of the Catholic faith live. But this year the overseas visit of the Pope of Rome attracted increased attention in connection with certain steps taken by influential Vatican circles.

The matter is that in September of last year the head of the Vatican Congregation for Questions of Faith, Cardinal J. Ritzinger, published voluminous "instructions" on the relations of the Roman Curia with the socalled "liberation theology." The supporters of this trend in the modern church contend that in a world where capitalist exploitation rules, where masses of workers suffer from hunger, poverty, lack of rights and social injustice, they do not have the right to stand apart from the popular liberation struggle.

Conservative Vatican figures, and Ritzinger is in the front ranks, decisively took up arms against "liberation theology," threatening with sanctions those who do not share their denials of class struggle and their sermons on "social peace" between the poor and the rich. The sharpest threat was directed against the Latin American clergy in which the adherents of "liberation theology" are particularly numerous and influential. Therefore, in local church circles they waited with particular interest to see how John Paul II would express his attitude on the discussion between the two trends in the Catholic religion.

In his very first speeches the Pope of Rome clearly stated his position. Turning to the youth in Peru, he cited the section of the Vatican document criticizing "liberation theology." And in his other statements he made it understood that any actions of the clergy in the service of the people's revolution would be viewed by him as an anti-Christian act.

Not without reason many journalists, reporting in the West on the visit of John Paul II, noted that it was as if he tried not to notice the huge gap

dividing those with wealth and power from the poor strata of the population, forced to drag out a miserable existence, often with no possibility of getting work. Although the speeches of the Pope of Rome contained general discussions on sympathy toward the poor and calls for "Christian humility," the faithful, as the Latin American press writes, did not hear from the head of the Catholic Church condemnation of the predatory policies of the U.S. transnational corporations, the repressions and tortures practiced by the dictators Pinochet, Stroessner and Duvalier, the overt imperialist siege which the United States, and the Central American puppets obedient to it not for the first year, are waging against Nicaragua.

Even more, at the same time as the visit, the culmination of the Vatican's campaign against the Nicaraguan religious figures who occupied important posts in the government was reached. Minister of Foreign Affairs D'Escoto and other priests were required, in the form of an ultimatum, to either leave the government or be defrocked. With this persecution of the Nicaraguan priests the Roman Curia made it clear to other representatives of the clergy participating in the national liberation movement: they could either abandon politics and refuse to defend the rights of the oppressed and the unfortunate, or in the opposite case they could bring down on themselves the punishing sanctions of the Vatican.

It is impossible not to see that such actions of the highest leadership of the Roman Catholic Church are occuring simultaneously with the strengthening of anti-Nicaraguan provocations by Washington which on one hand conducted negotiations with Managua and even more demonstratively took the course of preparing for military intervention against the Sandinista revolution. There is nothing strange in the fact that in the course of the Roman Pope's Latin American visit certain local reviewers noted that the theme of the U.S. aggressive actions in Central America fell completely from the field of vision of John Paul II.

Despite the fact that the Roman Pope everywhere called on the Latin American clergy to refrain from politics, his trip bore a clearly expressed political character. The local reaction tried with maximum output to use his call for "social reconciliation" to quell the wave of the anti-imperialist and antioligarchic struggle of the popular masses and to strengthen their positions at the helm of power. And the conservative circles of the Catholic Church in Latin America received additional help in the struggle against those clergy who are believers in "liberation theology" and who stand on the side of the people fighting for freedom, democracy and social progress.

CSO: 1807/217

# INTERNATIONAL

# INDEX OF ARTICLES PUBLISHED IN 1984

# Moscow NEW TIMES in English No 52, Dec 84 pp 3-16

 $\underline{/Text}$ 

No.

# SOVIET FOREIGN POLICY

V. ZAGLADIN: Paramount Criterion	1
R. KRESTYANINOV: Firmness and	
Realism	3
The Word and the Deed (The	
Editor's Page)	4
M. CHERNOUSOV: Echoes of	
Geneva in Stockholm	5
Honest, Equal, and Substantive (The	-
Editor's Page)	6
V. LARIN: Sixty Years of Diplomatic	•
Relations	6
V. GRISHIN: Guidelines of Co-	
operation	7
V. KUZNETSOV: Stockholm: Two	
Approaches	8
V. GUSENKOV: The Advantages of	
Dialogue	8
Firm Policy of Peace (The Editor's	-
	9
Page)	,
V. ZAGLADIN: Continuity, Innova-	9
tion, Dynamism	7
A. CHAKOVSKY: We Cannot Stand	
Aloof (Interview)	9
V. YAKOVLEV: Good Neighbours	9
G. SHAPOVALOV: Trust and Con-	
fidence	10
Active Democracy (The Editor's	
Page)	11
N. SHISHLIN: Call to Action and	••
N. SHISHLIN: Call to Action and	11
Meaningful Dialogue	11
L. KHARKOV: Fruitful Talks	11
V. MOLCHANOV: Through Six	
Decades	11
V, KUZNETSOV: A Nuclear Age	
Code of Peace	13
A. USVATOV: Syria's Firmness,	
Soviet Support	13
V. GODYNA: Dedication to a Peace-	
ful Asia	15
	10
Restore the Atmosphere of Confid-	.,
ence (The Editor's Page)	16

0	
G. STAKH: Concrete Move to Pre-	
vent Nuclear War	16
N. SHISHLIN: Consistent and Un-	
varying	17
L. BEZYMENSKY: Is the Language	•••
of Force What is Needed?	4~
	17
V. KUZNETSOV: The World Needs	
the Truth (An Answer to Charles	
Obler, U.S.A.)	18
Victory Day (The Editor's Page)	19
A. VTOROV: Purposeful Dialogue	19
V. TSOPPI: Unity	
	20
V. CHIRKOV: Fruifful Dialogue	21
V. GODYNA: Strengthening Co-	
operation	23
R. LOZHNIKOV: Firm Friendship	23
D. MAXIMOV: Back Up Words with	
Deeds	23
N. VOLOSHKIN: Taking Up a Point	23
V. ANDREYEV: To Our Mutual	
Benefit	.24
L. MLECHIN: Dialogue Resumed	24
5	
V. SEMYONOV: Dialogue Presup-	
poses Good Will	25
A. VTOROV: Negotiations Were	23
	~~
Useful	27
M. CHERNOUSOV: Before It Is Too	
Late	28
Disaster Can Be Prevented (The	
Editor's Page)	30
Reserve Outer Space for Construc-	50
Keserve Outer space for Construc-	••
tive Endeavour (The Editor's Page)	32
D. VOLSKY: Diplomats or Generals?	32
The Only Real Way (The Editor's	
Page)	33
L. SEMEIKO: We Will Not Be Found	
Wanting	35
A. USVATOV: The Two Against	35
D. VOLSKY: Taking Up a Point	35
V. TSOPPI: Flight 007, the Pentagon,	
et Cetera	36

From Positions of Realism (The	
Editor's Page) 3	7
V. KUKLEV: Taking Up a Point 3	17
R. KRESTYANINOV: In the Name	
of Peace, Progress and Justice	
(Book Review)	40
No "Middle of the Road" (The	
	<b>!!</b>
	<b>11</b>
D. POGORZHELSKY: Good Neigh-	
	41
	41
Deeds, Not Words, Are the Criterion	42
	42
A. KARENIN: For Peace in Outer	42
Space The Soviet Union and the Middle	72
East (The Editor's Page)	43
L. MLECHIN: Listening Attentively	
to Each Other	43
	43
Is a Shift Towards Better Relations	
Possible? (The Editor's Page)	44
V. SLAVENOV: Moscow is for	••
Friendly Links	44
V. ZAGLADIN: Sixty-Seven Steps	
Along the Road to Lasting Peace	45
V. GODYNA: Complete Unanimity	45
L. MIRONOV: Asia Needs Security	45
From the Black to the Barents Sea	
(The Editor's Page)	46
Y. TAVROVSKY: Impulse of Good	
Will	46
No Alternative (The Editor's Page)	47
V. ZAGLADIN: A Step Closer to	47
Each Other? D. MAXIMOV: Celebration of Good-	47
Neighbourship	48
V. KUZNETSOV: Put the Brakes on	
the Nuclear Conveyor Belts	49
R. ALEXANDROV: The Potential of	
Co-operation	49
G. SIDOROVA: A Constructive	
Dialogue	49
L. MIRONOV: Effective Solidarity	49
V. BELSKY: Soviet Foreign Policy	
in Documents	49
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Shut Weapons Out of Space (The	50
Editor's Page) The Outgoing Year (The Editor's	50
Ine Ourgoing Year (The Editor )	52
Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous	
Race	52
STRUGGLE FOR PEACE,	
DISARMAMENT, PROBLEMS OF	•
EUROPEAN SECURITY, UNITED NATIONS ORGANIZATION	
RAILURD VRUARILATION	
E. DOLMATOVSKY: A Mad, Reck-	
lore Game	1
L. BEZYMENSKY: Flouting the Peo-	
nie'r Will	2
N. EVGENYEV, G. ALEXANDROV:	
Needed: Co-operation, Not Con-	
frontation	3
L. BEZYMENSKY: Without Procrasti-	3
nation B. ZARITSKY: Camouflage for the	3
B. ZARITSKY: Canounage for the Missiles	3

A. ALEXEYEV: Stockholm. The First Phase D. POGORZHELSKY: To Rid Europe of Chemical Weapons 4 M. CHERNOUSOV: Echoes of 5 Geneva in Stockholm L. YELISEYEV: The People's Re-6 solve V. KUZNETSOV: Start in Stock-7 holm N. ZHOLKVER: "Let New Genera-7 tions Be Born1" V. KELIN: A Timely Confidence-7 **Building Measure** To Combat the Threat to Peace 7 V. KUZNETSOV: Stockholm: Two 8 Approaches N. ZHOLKVER: For a Nuclear-Free 8 Europe 9 V. GUSHCHIN: Taking Up a Point Ban Chemical Weapons 10 O. MIKHAILOV: No Time to Lose 10 V. MOLCHANOV: One Way Towards a Nuclear-Free Europe 10 (Book Review) G. LOKSHIN, V. ORYOL: The Athens Anti-War Conference: Fact and Fic-11 tion D. POGORZHELSKY: Halt the Arms-12 Spending Spiral V. KUZNETSOV: Needed: A Nuclear 13 Age Code of Peace D. MAXIMOV: Dialogue in Stock-13 holm S. GOLYAKOV: The Imperative of 13 Our Time (Book Review) A. ALEXEYEV: Recess in Stock-14 holm A. KOSENKO: Standing It on Its 15 Head M. CHERNOUSOV: Europe: Non-Nuclear or Super-Nuclear? (Book 15 Review) Restore an Atmosphere of Confid-16 ence (The Editor's Page) G. STAKH: Concrete Move to Pre-16 vent Nuclear War M. KOVALYOV: Soviet War Vete-16 rans Visit Italy L. BEZYMENSKY: is the Language of Force What Is Needed? 17 V. KUZNETSOV: The World Needs the Truth (An Answer to Charles 18 Obler, U.S.A.) N. KOZYREV, D. POGORZHELSKY: 19 Inspection or Snooping? G. SIDOROVA: World Peace Move-19 ment --- 35 Years To Ward Off the Peril (The Editor's 20 Page) T. NATALYIN: The Disarmament Conference: Who is Obstructing 20 Progress A. KUZNETSOV: Youth, Red Cross 20 and Peace G. STAKH: To Safeguard Peace 21 I. PAVLOV, M. PETROV: New Packaging for Same Old Posture 23 Y. KNYAZEV: In Support of U.N. 23 Principles

The Key to Security (The Editor's	• •
Page) R. SIMONYAN, V. KORNILOV: To	24
Save the Common Home	24
METROPOLITAN YUVENALIY: Churchmen's Peace Mission to the	
U.S.	25
Co-operation is Possible Y. RZHEVSKY: Readiness for Talks	25
-Genuine and Professed	26
V. PETROV: Scholars' Peace Forum P. VOLODAROV: The Nuclear Age	26
and a Safe World	26
V. MEDVEDEV: Taking Up a Point	27
M. CHERNOUSOV: Before It is Too Late	28
Knots Must Be United (The Editor's	
Page) G. STAKH: Washington's Dishonest	29
Game	29
Disaster Can Be Prevented (The Editor's Page)	30
B. VESNIN: Prague Meeting	30
L. MLECHIN: Potential of the U.N. The Key to European Security (The	30
Editor's Page)	31
V. ZAGLADIN: Europe's Future and the Policy of West Germany	31
A. TOLPEGIN: Before It is Too Late	31
S. GOLYAKOV: Peace is Forged by People (Book Review)	31
Reserve Outer Space for Construc-	31
tive Endeavour (The Editor's Page) B. KOZLOV: In Dudgeon at the	32
Truth	32
D. POGORZHELSKY: Whence the	77
Threat to Peace (Book Review) N. ZHOLKVER: Helsinki Anniver-	32
sary	33
D. POGORZHELSKY: Sabotage V. BOIKOV: Who Works for Dis-	33
armament and Who Against	34
V. GUSHCHIN: A Scholarly Study (Book Review)	34
Women Lawyers for Peace	34
L. SEMEIKO: We Will Not Be Found Wanting	35
N. ZHOLKVER: Consistent Policy of	
Peace (Book Review) Bury the Sword! (The Editor's Page)	35 36
L. FYODOROV: The Voice of the	50
Workingman	36
N. ZHOLKVER: He Was Arrested the	36
Next Morning From Positions of Realism (The Edi-	
tor's Page) M. FROLOV: The Danger Must Be	37
Fought	37
G. ŠTAKH: Political Realism Must	38
Prevail A. USVATOV: Peace for the Pacific	38
G. SIDOROVA: What It Would Be	20
Like (Book Review) The Top Priority: Preventing War	38
(The Editor's Page)	39 30
T. NATALYIN: Just Marking Time I. TITOV: Fifth Edinburgh Conversa-	39
tions	40
V. KORNILOV: We the Peoples of the United Nations	40

No "Middle of the Road" (The	•
Editor's Page)	41
G. STAKH: New Soviet Initiatives A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peaceful	41
Atom	41
N. ZHOLKVER: Clamping Down on	
Peace Fighters	41
N. ALEXANDROV: For European	
Security	42
G. STAKH: Progress Towards Norm-	
alization is Possible	43
D. POGORZHELSKY: To Preserve	•
the Planet	43
Y. RESHETOV: Inadmissible Policy	•
of State Terrorism	<b>44</b> 1
A. ARKHIPOV: The Most Important	÷.,
Task	44
V. ZAGLADIN: Sixty-Seven Steps	
Along the Road to Lasting Peace	45
Tocsin Over the Planet A. MALOV: War Veterans Against	45
the Nuclear Threat	46
L. YELIN: Taking Up a Point	46
V. KUZNETSOV: Miscalculation	47
Uphold the Right to Peace! (The	
Editor's Page)	48
V. BOIKOV: ABM: A Variant for	
Europe	48
N. KISELYOVA: Women in the	
Struggle for Peace	48
Europe's Horizons (The Editor's	
Page)	49
V. KUZNETSOV: Put the Brakes on	
the Nuclear Conveyor Belts	49
A. TOLPEGIN: Against Gas and	
Germ Warfare	49
Shut Weapons Out of Space (The	<b>r</b> 0
Editor's Page)	50
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned	
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page)	50 51
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly	51
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise"	
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page)	51
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's	51 51
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race	51 51
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for	51 51 52 52
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind	51 51 52
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Peace Forum in	51 51 52 52 52
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind	51 51 52 52
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Peace Forum in	51 51 52 52 52
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Peace Forum in Athens	51 51 52 52 52
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Peace Forum in Athens GENERAL INTERNATIONAL PROBLEMS	51 51 52 52 52
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Peace Forum in Athens GENERAL INTERNATIONAL PROBLEMS Imperative of the Age (The Editor's	51 51 52 52 52 52 52
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Peace Forum in Athens <b>GENERAL INTERNATIONAL</b> <b>PROBLEMS</b> Imperative of the Age (The Editor's Page)	51 51 52 52 52 52 52 52
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Peace Forum in Athens <b>GENERAL INTERNATIONAL</b> <b>PROBLEMS</b> Imperative of the Age (The Editor's Page) V. ZAGLADIN: Paramount Criterion	51 51 52 52 52 52 52
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Peace Forum in Athens <b>GENERAL INTERNATIONAL</b> <b>PROBLEMS</b> Imperative of the Age (The Editor's Page) V. ZAGLADIN: Paramount Criterion L. BEZYMENSKY: Flouting the Peo-	51 51 52 52 52 52 52 52
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Peace Forum in Athens <b>GENERAL INTERNATIONAL</b> <b>PROBLEMS</b> Imperative of the Age (The Editor's Page) V. ZAGLADIN: Paramount Criterion L. BEZYMENSKY: Flouting the Peo- ple's Will	51 51 52 52 52 52 52 52
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Peace Forum in Athens <b>GENERAL INTERNATIONAL</b> <b>PROBLEMS</b> Imperative of the Age (The Editor's Page) V. ZAGLADIN: Paramount Criterion L. BEZYMENSKY: Flouting the Peo- ple's Will L. YELIN: Taking Up a Point	51 51 52 52 52 52 52 52
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Peace Forum in Athens <b>GENERAL INTERNATIONAL</b> <b>PROBLEMS</b> Imperative of the Age (The Editor's Page) V. ZAGLADIN: Paramount Criterion L. BEZYMENSKY: Flouting the Peo- ple's Will	51 51 52 52 52 52 52 52
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Peace Forum in Athens <b>GENERAL INTERNATIONAL</b> <b>PROBLEMS</b> Imperative of the Age (The Editor's Page) V. ZAGLADIN: Paramount Criterion L. BEZYMENSKY: Flouting the Peo- ple's Will L. YELIN: Taking Up a Point O. VALENTINOV: The Spreading Cancer	51 51 52 52 52 52 52 52 1 1 2 2
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Peace Forum in Athens <b>GENERAL INTERNATIONAL</b> <b>PROBLEMS</b> Imperative of the Age (The Editor's Page) V. ZAGLADIN: Paramount Criterion L. BEZYMENSKY: Flouting the Peo- ple's Will L. YELIN: Taking Up a Point O. VALENTINOV: The Spreading Cancer D. POGORZHELSKY: To Rid Europe	51 51 52 52 52 52 52 52 52 4
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Peace Forum in Athens <b>GENERAL INTERNATIONAL</b> <b>PROBLEMS</b> Imperative of the Age (The Editor's Page) V. ZAGLADIN: Paramount Criterion L. BEZYMENSKY: Flouting the Peo- ple's Will L. YELIN: Taking Up a Point O. VALENTINOV: The Spreading Cancer D. POGORZHELSKY: To Rid Europe of Chemical Weapons	51 51 52 52 52 52 52 52 1 1 2 2
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Peace Forum in Athens <b>GENERAL INTERNATIONAL</b> <b>PROBLEMS</b> Imperative of the Age (The Editor's Page) V. ZAGLADIN: Paramount Criterion L. BEZYMENSKY: Flouting the Peo- ple's Will L. YELIN: Taking Up a Point O. VALENTINOV: The Spreading Cancer D. POGORZHELSKY: To Rid Europe of Chemical Weapons V. RYKUNOV: Strategy of Space	51 51 52 52 52 52 52 52 52 1 1 2 2 4 4
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Peace Forum in Athens <b>GENERAL INTERNATIONAL</b> <b>PROBLEMS</b> Imperative of the Age (The Editor's Page) V. ZAGLADIN: Paramount Criterion L. BEZYMENSKY: Flouting the Peo- ple's Will L. YELIN: Taking Up a Point O. VALENTINOV: The Spreading Cancer D. POGORZHELSKY: To Rid Europe of Chemical Weapons V. RYKUNOV: Strategy of Space Terrorism	51 51 52 52 52 52 52 52 52 4
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Peace Forum in Athens <b>GENERAL INTERNATIONAL</b> <b>PROBLEMS</b> Imperative of the Age (The Editor's Page) V. ZAGLADIN: Paramount Criterion L. BEZYMENSKY: Flouting the Peo- ple's Will L. YELIN: Taking Up a Point O. VALENTINOV: The Spreading Cancer D. POGORZHELSKY: To Rid Europe of Chemical Weapons V. RYKUNOV: Strategy of Space Terrorism A. VTOROV: Anti-Détente Futuro-	51 51 52 52 52 52 52 52 52 4 4 4
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Reace Forum in Athens <b>GENERAL INTERNATIONAL</b> <b>PROBLEMS</b> Imperative of the Age (The Editor's Page) V. ZAGLADIN: Paramount Criterion L. BEZYMENSKY: Flouting the Peo- ple's Will L. YELIN: Taking Up a Point O. VALENTINOV: The Spreading Cancer D. POGORZHELSKY: To Rid Europe of Chemical Weapons V. RYKUNOV: Strategy of Space Terrorism A. VTOROV: Anti-Détente Futuro- logists	51 51 52 52 52 52 52 52 52 52 4 4 4 4 5
Editor's Page) Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise" The Outgoing Year (The Editor's Page) A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race A. ARKHIPOV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Responsibility for the Future of Mankind N. ALEXANDROV: Peace Forum in Athens <b>GENERAL INTERNATIONAL</b> <b>PROBLEMS</b> Imperative of the Age (The Editor's Page) V. ZAGLADIN: Paramount Criterion L. BEZYMENSKY: Flouting the Peo- ple's Will L. YELIN: Taking Up a Point O. VALENTINOV: The Spreading Cancer D. POGORZHELSKY: To Rid Europe of Chemical Weapons V. RYKUNOV: Strategy of Space Terrorism A. VTOROV: Anti-Détente Futuro-	51 51 52 52 52 52 52 52 52 4 4 4

O. MIKHAILOV: No Time to Lose 10 P. AKIMOV: Barbarism 10 V. GUSHCHIN: Pep Talk 10 V. VESELOV: Who Profits by An-10 archy? D. VOLSKY: Which Way? 11 Lawlessness or the Rule of Law? (The Eidtor's Page) 12 V. GUSHCHIN: NATO's Birthday 13 Celebrations B. ZARITSKY: Taking Up a Point 13 O. MIKHAILOV: New Edition of 14 an Old Lie V. VORONKOV: Why the Baltic 14 Probes D. MAXIMOV: Theory and Practice 14 T. EMELYANOV: The Explosive 14 Exports 14 V. SIDENKO: Taking Up a Point V. BOIKOV: The Image and the 15 Reality V. TSOPPI: Taking Up a Point .15 D. POGORZHELSKY: Nuclear Blackmail Group D. VOLSKY: Taking Up a Point 16 18 I. KREMER: Smoke Screen of De-19 ception N. KOZYREV, D. POGORZHELSKY: 19 Inspection or Snooping? 20 L. YELIN: Cutthroats' Seminar N. GNEVUSHEV: Saddling the Third World with an Arms Race 20 21 V. GUSHCHIN: Heavy Burden 21 D. ZGERSKY: Taking Up a Point V. BOIKOV: Still the Same Pat-22 tern 22 M. FROLOV: Back-Seat Drivers A. MELNIKOV: Anatomy of NATO 22 (Book Review) 24 D. MAXIMOV: No Change V. KUZNETSOV: What is NATO 25 Being Groomed For? F. GORYUNOV: Sitting on a Finan-25 cial Volcano 26 V. RYKUNOV: Poison and Lies V. NEKRASOV: NATO Miscalcula-27 tions A. GLOTOCHKIN, S. LAVRENOV: Playing at "Barbarossa" A. MEDVEDENKO: Sustained Pres-27 28 sure V. KUZAR: U.S. and Allies Build Up 28 Their Naval Power V. BOIKOV: With Both Stick and 32 Carrot Witches' Sabbath of Revanchism 34 (The Editor's Page) A. ROKIN: Against Confrontation 34 V. BOIKOV: Hitting Allies in the 35 Pocketbook 35 Y. KARAULOV: Abnormal D. VOLSKY: Taking Up a Point 35 G. SIDOROVA: Washington's Poi-36 soned Darts 36 V. KHROMOV: Dynamite Curtain 37 G. SIDOROVA: No Flowers Stronger Than Bullets (The Editor's 38 Page) R. SIMONYAN: The "Nuclear Thres-39 hold" in NATO Strategy

Ing       P. POLKOVNIKOV: Undermitting         the Convention       40         V. GALIN: No Avoiding It       40         D. MAXIMOV: The General's Problems       41         V. TSOPPI: Taking Up a Point       41         V. BOIKOV: ABM: A Variant for       41         Europe       41         V. GUSENKOV: Another Pillar of       41         V. TARAYAN: Against Separate       41         Partitioning of the Seabed       51         S. KARAGANOV: The Rogers Plan       51	A. ULANSKY: Mediterranean Meet-	
P. POLKOVNIKOV: Undermining the Convention 40 V. GALIN: No Avoiding It 40 D. MAXIMOV: The General's Prob- lems 41 V. TSOPPI: Taking Up a Point 42 V. BOIKOV: ABM: A Variant for Europe 41 V. GUSENKOV: Another Pillar of NATO 41 V. TARAYAN: Against Separate Partitioning of the Seabed 51 S. KARAGANOV: The Rogers Plan Blueprint for Aggression 5	ing	39
the Convention 44 V. GALIN: No Avoiding It 40 D. MAXIMOV: The General's Prob- lems 44 V. TSOPPI: Taking Up a Point 44 V. BOIKOV: ABM: A Variant for Europe 44 V. GUSENKOV: Another Pillar of NATO 44 V. TARAYAN: Against Separate Partitioning of the Seabed 54 S. KARAGANOV: The Rogers Plan Blueprint for Aggression 5	P. POLKOVNIKOV: Undermining	
V. GALIN: No Avoiding It D. MAXIMOV: The General's Prob- lems V. TSOPPI: Taking Up a Point V. BOIKOV: ABM: A Variant for Europe V. GUSENKOV: Another Pillar of NATO V. TARAYAN: Against Separate Partitioning of the Seabed S. KARAGANOV: The Rogers Plan -Blueprint for Aggression 5		40
D. MAXIMOV: The General's Prob- lems 41 V. TSOPPI: Taking Up a Point 42 V. BOIKOV: ABM: A Variant for Europe 44 V. GUSENKOV: Another Pillar of NATO 44 V. TARAYAN: Against Separate Partitioning of the Seabed 51 S. KARAGANOV: The Rogers Plan Blueprint for Aggression 5	V GALIN: No Avoiding It	40
Iems41V. TSOPPI: Taking Up a Point42V. BOIKOV: ABM: A Variant for41Europe44V. GUSENKOV: Another Pillar of44NATO44V. TARAYAN: Against SeparatePartitioning of the Seabed50S. KARAGANOV: The Rogers PlanBlueprint for Aggression5	D MAXIMOV: The General's Prob-	
V. TSOPPI: Taking Up a Point V. TSOPPI: Taking Up a Point U, BOIKOV: ABM: A Variant for Europe V. GUSENKOV: Another Pillar of NATO V. TARAYAN: Against Separate Partitioning of the Seabed S. KARAGANOV: The Rogers Plan Blueprint for Aggression		41
V. BOIKOV: ABM: A Variant for Europe 44 V. GUSENKOV: Another Pillar of NATO 44 V. TARAYAN: Against Separate Partitioning of the Seabed 54 S. KARAGANOV: The Rogers Plan Blueprint for Aggression 5		45
Europe 44 V. GUSENKOV: Another Pillar of NATO 44 V. TARAYAN: Against Separate Partitioning of the Seabed 54 S. KARAGANOV: The Rogers Plan Blueprint for Aggression 5		
V. GUSENKOV: Another Pillar of NATO 4 V. TARAYAN: Against Separate Partitioning of the Seabed 5 S. KARAGANOV: The Rogers Plan Blueprint for Aggression 5	V, BOIKOV: ABM: A Variant for	
NATO 4 V. TARAYAN: Against Separate Partitioning of the Seabed 5 S. KARAGANOV: The Rogers Plan Blueprint for Aggression 5	Europe	48
NATO 4 V. TARAYAN: Against Separate Partitioning of the Seabed 5 S. KARAGANOV: The Rogers Plan Blueprint for Aggression 5	V GUSENKOV: Another Pillar of	
V, TARAYAN: Against Separate Partitioning of the Seabed 50 S. KARAGANOV: The Rogers Plan Blueprint for Aggression 5		49
Partitioning of the Seabed 50 S. KARAGANOV: The Rogers Plan Blueprint for Aggression 5		•
S. KARAGANOV: The Rogers Plan Blueprint for Aggression 5		<b>c</b> 0
-Blueprint for Aggression 5	Partitioning of the Seabed	20
Bidopitii toi riggiothion	S. KARAGANOV: The Rogers Plan	
	-Blueprint for Aggression	51
	V. BOIKOV: Still the Same	52

#### SOVIET LIFE

L. VOZNESENSKY: Towards New	
Achievement	2
Democracy in Action, Not in	
Phrases (The Editor's Page)	5
The Funeral of Y.V. Andropov	8
Konstantin Ustinovich CHERNENKO	•
(Brief Biography)	8
B. KOZLOV: Sea Dyke for Lenin-	Ŭ
grad	8
V. ZAGLADIN: Continuity, Innova-	Ŭ
tion, Dynamism	9
Y ANDREYEV, V. YURIEV: How	
the Soviet Parliament Works	9
V. ZHITOMIRSKY: Aeroflot	.9
V. ZHIIOMIKSKI: Aeronor	
What We Vote For (The Editor's	40
Page)	10
Active Democracy (The Editor's	
Page)	11
I. TROFIMOVA: Taking Up a Point	11
Y. BYSTRAKOV: Keynote: Inten-	
sification	15
Festive Day of Liberated Labour	
(The Editor's Page)	17
N. SHISHLIN: Consistent and Un-	
varying	17
E. BABAYAN: Taking Up a Point	22
B. PISHCHIK: Taking Up a Point	30
V. KLOCHKOV: Taking Up a Point	31
S. GOLYAKOV: Taking Up a Point	34
G. PISAREVSKY: Price Formation	
-Planning and Enterprise	38
V. TSOPPI: Taking Up a Point	38
G. PISAREVSKY: Ecology and	
Quality of Life	39
L. KOSTIN: Taking Up a Point	39
L. MIRONOV: From the Lena to the	
Pacific	40
I. TROFIMOVA: Building Up Fertil-	1
ity	45
From the Black to the Barents Sea	
(The Editor's Page)	46
M. TRUNOV: The Co-operative	
Movement Today (Interview)	48
V. GUREVICH: Taking Up a Point	49
V. PARFYONOV: Efficiency the	-'
	50
Keynote	50
V. ZHITOMIRSKY: Taking Up a	51
Point	21

I. KOZLOV: Soviet Health Resorts 52 Diplomats Meet Soviet Personalities 2, 10, 12, 19, 29, 30, 46 Trips by the Diplomatic Corps 23, 26, 35, 36, 38, 40 The Soviet Union in Pictures 1-4, 6, 7, 9-12, 14, 16, 18, 20-26, 28, 30, 32-34, 36, 38, 40, 42, 44-49, 51, 52

#### GENERAL PROBLEMS OF THE SOCIALIST WORLD

G. PISAREVSKY: Dinamic Com-4 munity V. KELIN: A Timely Confidence-7 **Building Measure** D. POGORZHELSKY: Halt the Arms-Spending Spiral 12 Of the National and the Interna-tional (Article in Rude Pravo) 16 V. LARIN: Businesslike, Responsible 18 Approach G. STAKH: To Safeguard Peace 21 CMEA Economic Summit (The Edi-25 tor's Page) B. LADYGIN: Cementing Unity 26 D. VOLSKY: Setting the Third 27 World on Its Feet B. VESNIN: Prague Meeting 30 Factor of Progress and Invulner-ability (The Editor's Page) 40 J. MARJAI: Hungary and CMEA (In-40 terview) The Future Belongs to Socialism 45 (The Editor's Page) N. SHISHLIN: Accelerating Pro-46 gress

#### INTERNATIONAL COMMUNIST AND LABOUR MOVEMENT

Peace, Democracy, Socialism (The	
Editor's Page)	18
Springtide of Class Struggle	18
L. KHITROV: Capital on the Of-	
fensive	18
N. OVCHARENKO: The Party of	
Revolutionary Renewal	22
L. MAKAREVICH: Onslaught on	
West European Labour	29
Revolutionary and Internationalist	
(Twenty Years Since the Death of	
Palmiro Togliatti)	37
B. VESNIN: Sense of Responsibility	51

#### INTERNATIONAL TRADE UNION MOVEMENT. SOVIET TRADE UNIONS

Trade Union Visit	14
V. GALIN: T.U. Symposium For	
Peace	15
N. SHMELYOV: Greek T.U. Delega-	
tion	16
L. MIRONOV: T.U. Contacts	27
L. FYODOROV: The Voice of the	
Workingman	36
M. FROLOV: The Danger Must Be	
Fought	37

L. MLECHIN: Starting Point 37 N. ZHOLKVER: Trade Union Contacts 39 L. MLECHIN: Supporting the British Miners 42 K. MACKEVICIUS: A Friendship Voyage 42

#### NATIONAL LIBERATION MOVEMENT

L. ZHEGALOV: Media Decolonization 2 D. VOLSKY: Washington Plot Against the Third World 10 N. GNEVUSHEV: Saddling the Third World with an Arms Race 20 M. ZEINALOV: Afro-Asian Solidarity Movement: Congress of Unity and Action 24 D. VOLSKY: Setting the Third World on Its Feet 27 D. VOLSKY: Back to Colonialism? A. ATROSHENKO, V. PODSHIBYA-36 KIN: Exploiting the Third World A. USVATOV: Effective Solidarity 40 41 D. VOLSKY: Taking Up a Point 47 D. VOLSKY: Diplomacy of Intimida-48 tion Y. ZASURSKY: Solidarity Against 51 Information Imperialism

#### IDEOLOGICAL AND SOCIAL PROBLEMS

L. ZHEGALOV: Media Decoloniza-	
tion	2
G. MYASNIKOV: Latest Fake	4
V. MASHIN: Hurrahl	9
T. NATALIN: Sinful George	- 9
R. PANTELEIMONOV: ILO Falsifiers	10
V. RUBTSOV: Taking Up a Point	10
V. ZHITOMIRSKY: Taking Up a	
Point	12
V. ALEXANDROV: Paris-Match and	
Moscow University	14
The Most Humane of Humans	
(Picture Story)	17
E. AMBARTSUMOV: Lenin-Our	
Contemporary	17
V. KUZNETSOV: The World Needs	
the Truth (An Answer to Charles	
Obier, U.S.A.)	18
O. KLIMOVA: Ever-Living Flame	18
N. OVCHARENKO: The Party of	22
Revolutionary Renewal E. BABAYAN: Taking Up a Point	22
International Children's Day (The	
Editor's Page)	23
G. MIKHAILOV: Nationalism: Weap-	
on of Psychological Warfare	23
A. YEVSTAFYEV: Taking Up a Point	24
S. GORSHKOV: Assembly of Dead	
Souls	25
L. YELIN: The Second Coming of	
Midas	25
V. RUBTSOV: Taking Up a Point	25
Washington: A Mecca for Terror-	
ists (The Editor's Page)	28
V. TSOPPI: You Are Under a De-	
lusion, Professorl	28
V. GUSHCHIN: Taking Up a Point	28
L. MAKAREVICH: Onslaught on	
West European Labour	29

L. FYODOROV: ILO Must Serve the Workers' Interests Y. KASHLEV: Information Imperial- ism L. MODZHORYAN: Those Cham- pions of Human Rights V. LYUBOVTSEV: Taking Up a Point Y. RESHETOV: Inadmissible Policy of State Terrorism Deprivation N. SAFRONOVA: The Career of Raymond Aron A. SHIPILOV: Taking Up a Point V. RUBTSOV: Rights Without Op- portunities, Freedoms Without Gua- rantees N. AGAYANTS: Shattered Hopes, Stark Realities M. FYODOROV: Jablonna-5: Re- sponsibility of the Journalist A. MOVCHAN: Taking Up a Point Y. ZASURSKY: Solidarity Against Information Imperialism	32 33 33 36 44 45 46 48 50 50 50 50 50 50
CHARLES OBLER: "You Certainly Took Me by Surprise"	51
WORLD ECONOMICS AND TRADE	
F. GORYUNOV: Islands of Re- covery in a Sea of Depression V. LAVRENOV: At the Crossroads F. GORYUNOV: The New Jersey, the Dollar and Bananas "Economic Construction-84" Pic-	.1 3 5
ture Story) D. POGORZHELSKY: Pipeline Yarn V. LAVRENOV: The Price of Ad-	8 9 11
mission V. LAVRENOV: On a Siding? Metalworking-84 (Picture Story) A. TOLPEGIN; Preserve, Not Undermine T. SHKOLNIKOVA: New Fisheries	14 16 17
T. SHKOLNIKOVA: New Fishings Agreement Y. GUDKOV: Why Businessmen Want Trade	21 24
F. GORYUNOV: Sitting on a Financial Volcano Farm Machingry-84 (Picture Story)	25 25
P. NIKOLAYEV: Latin America in the Debt Noose D. GVISHIANI: Unrealistic Stand	26
(Interview) N. ZHOLKVER: Fragile Compromise V. MASHIN: It Went Down the	26 28
Wrong Way N. ZHOLKVER: Luxemburg Talks	28 29
a Failure S. IIMURA: Businessmen Wan Wider Trade (Interview)	t 30
G. BAZHENOV: The Sanctions	- 33
D. POGORZHELSKY: At the Leip zig Fair A. ATROSHENKO, V. PODSHIBYA	38
KIN: Exploiting the Third World F. GORYUNOV: "Greed Sits in th	4U 6
American Saddie" N. SERGEYEV: Light in the Tunne No, an Optical Illusion	41 17 41

•	R. ANDREASYAN: Oil Market Pa-	
32	radoxes 47	
	M. TRUNOV: The Co-operative Movement Today (Interview) 48	
33	L. MAKAREVICH: Of Wine and	
33	Much Else 51	
nt 36		
y y	CONTEMPORARY HISTORY	
44	والجوير ويستعين والمرابع متعارية مستعربتها والمستجوع فللمستجد والمحاجب المناصر والمنافع المتعادية والمستجو	
45	B. KOZLOV: Gentlemen of For-	
f	tune in Siberia 1	
46	Y, BOCHKARYOV: The Hidden Side of the Lumumba Assassina-	
	tion 3, 4	
1-	D. KHRENKOV: The Epic of Lenin-	
50	arad 5	
5,	L. BEZYMENSKY: Absolution for	
50	War Criminals? No! 6	
- 50	M. HEIKAL: Autumn of Fury 6, 15 L. KHARKOV: From Moscow to	
50	Berlin (Book Review) 7	
r 30 st	N. MOLCHANOV: "In All Ways to	
51	Strive for Peace" 16	
51	B. KOZLOV, A. NEVERKOVICH:	
ly .	Two Interviews on the Afghan	
51	Question 18	
. <b>r</b>	Victory Day (The Editor's Page) 19 N VAKOVLEV: A Futile Effort	
DE	N. YAKOVLEV: A Futile Effort (Book Review) 19	
_	V. GODYNA: The Lessons of Dien	
B1	Bien Phu 19	
ls 3	A, KOSENKO: Forgetfulness Day 21	
Y,	V. BEREZHKOV: From Teheran to	
5	Yalta 21, 22, 23	
	S. GOLYAKOV: Package with a	
8 9rn 9	Hole 24	
arn 9 d-	L. BEZYMENSKY, D. SUCHKOV:	
<b>11</b>	That Long-Awaited Second Front24June 22 (The Editor's Page)26	
14	V. CHIRKOV: "Revolutions Do Not	
16	Die" 26	
ot 47	M. CHERNOUSOV: Remembering	
17 ies	Tsushima . 26	1
21	L. BEZYMENSKY: Reflections on an Applications of an	
en	Anniversary N. ZHOLKVER: Shadows on a Hiro-	
24	shima Bridge (Book Review) 30	•
a	E. HENRI: The Forewarnings of	
25 v) 25	World War I 31	
y) 25 in	A. ADAMOVICH: The Power of	,
26	B. PISHCHIK: Old Soldiers Recall 34	-
ind	L. BEZYMENSKY: Summer 1944	
26	the Fronts and Behind the Scenes	
nise 28	35, 36	5
he 28	Bury the Swordl (The Editor's	,
lks	Page) 36	>
29	O. RZHESHEVSKY: The Lessons of	5
ant	V. TSOPPI: Where the Fist is the	-
30	Symbol of Faith 37	7
s a	V. ZAGLADIN: The Truth—Mighty	<u>,</u>
33	Weapon in the Fight for Peace 35	1
38 38	B. KOZLOV: "Norwegians Will Never Forget" 42	2
YA-	Never Forget" 42 V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the	•
d 40	Doomed 4	3
the	L. KHARKOV; The Flag of Freedom	
41	over Kalemegdan 4	
nel? 41	K. SOROKIN: The Euromissile Spiral 4	-
. 41	Operation Paperclip 4	7

,

L.B.: The Call of Buchenwald 50 Great Patriotic War Landmarks (Picture Stories) 5,13, 15, 19, 27, 29, 31, 35, 37, 39, 41, 43, 50 In Our Columns Forty Years Ago 2, 12, 17, 29, 48, 51

# SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY, MAN

B. PISHCHIK: Gagarin's Orbits       1         G. RYABOV: Citizen of India       Joins the Cosmonaut Family       1         Joins the Cosmonaut Family       1         Joins the Cosmonaut Family       1         Joint Space Flight       1         V. DEMYANOV: It Doesn't Depend       1         on the Robots       2         I. BESTUZHEV-LADA: The Family:       Yesterday, Today, Tomorrow         Biochemistry-84 (Picture Story)       2         E. KOZLOVSKY: Drilling       12,000         Metres Deep into the Kola       2         Peninsula (Interview)       2         A. TOLPEGIN: Environment and       2         Security       2         G. RYABOV: In Space: Five Men       3         and a Woman       3         G. RYABOV: New Breakthrough in       3         Space Exploration       3         A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace-ful Atom       4         G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over       4         V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful       7         Fifteen Years       4         L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Disaster       4         I. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm       4         G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar       4		
G. RYABOV: Salyut-7 Manned Again A. ANTIPOV: Lasers in the Power Engineering of the Future B. PISHCHIK: Gagarin's Orbits 1 G. RYABOV: Citizen of India Joins the Cosmonaut Family 1 G. RYABOV: U.S.S.R.—India: The Joint Space Flight 1 V. DEMYANOV: It Doesn't Depend on the Robots I. BESTUZHEV-LADA: The Family: Yesterday, Today, Tomorrow Biochemistry-84 (Picture Story) E. KOZLOVSKY: Drilling 12,000 Metres Deep into the Kola Peninsula (Interview) A. TOLPEGIN: Environment and Security G. RYABOV: In Space: Five Men and a Woman G. RYABOV: New Breakthrough in Space Exploration A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace- ful Atom G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful Fifteen Years L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster 1. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System System		1
A. ANTIPOV: Lasers in the Power Engineering of the Future B. PISHCHIK: Gagarin's Orbits Joins the Cosmonaut Family G. RYABOV: Citizen of India Joins the Cosmonaut Family G. RYABOV: U.S.S.R.—India: The Joint Space Flight V. DEMYANOV: It Doesn't Depend on the Robots I. BESTUZHEV-LADA: The Family: Yesterday, Today, Tomorrow Biochemistry-84 (Picture Story) E. KOZLOVSKY: Drilling 12,000 Metres Deep into the Kola Peninsula (Interview) A. TOLPEGIN: Environment and Security G. RYABOV: In Space: Five Men and a Woman G. RYABOV: In Space: Five Men and a Woman G. RYABOV: New Breakthrough in Space Exploration A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace- ful Atom G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful Fifteen Years L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster I. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System	G. RYABOV: Salyut-7 Manned	•
Engineering of the Future B. PISHCHIK: Gagarin's Orbits G. RYABOV: Citizen of India Joins the Cosmonaut Family G. RYABOV: U.S.S.R.—India: The Joint Space Flight V. DEMYANOV: It Doesn't Depend on the Robots I. BESTUZHEV-LADA: The Family: Yesterday, Today, Tomorrow Biochemistry-84 (Picture Story) E. KOZLOVSKY: Drilling 12,000 Metres Deep into the Kola Peninsula (Interview) A. TOLPEGIN: Environment and Security G. RYABOV: In Space: Five Men and a Woman G. RYABOV: New Breakthrough in Space Exploration A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace- ful Atom G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful Fifteen Years L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster I. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System Solare		8
G. RYABOV: Citizen of India Joins the Cosmonaut Family 1 G. RYABOV: U.S.S.R.—India: The Joint Space Flight 1 V. DEMYANOV: It Doesn't Depend on the Robots 2 I. BESTUZHEV-LADA: The Family: Yesterday, Today, Tomorrow 2 Biochemistry-84 (Picture Story) 2 E. KOZLOVSKY: Drilling 12,000 Metres Deep into the Kola Peninsula (Interview) 2 A. TOLPEGIN: Environment and Security 2 G. RYABOV: In Space: Five Men and a Woman 3 G. RYABOV: New Breakthrough in Space Exploration 3 A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace- ful Atom 4 G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over 4 V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful Fifteen Years 4 L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster 4 J. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm 4 G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System 5		. 9
Joins the Cosmonaut Family 1 G. RYABOV: U.S.S.R.—India: The Joint Space Flight 1 V. DEMYANOV: It Doesn't Depend on the Robots 2 I. BESTUZHEV-LADA: The Family: Yesterday, Today, Tomorrow 2 Biochemistry-84 (Picture Story) 2 E. KOZLOVSKY: Drilling 12,000 Metres Deep into the Kola Peninsula (Interview) 2 A. TOLPEGIN: Environment and Security 2 G. RYABOV: In Space: Five Men and a Woman 3 G. RYABOV: New Breakthrough in Space Exploration 3 A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace- ful Atom 4 G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over 4 V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful Fifteen Years 4 L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster 4 I. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm 4 G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System 5		11
G. RYABOV: U.S.S.R.—India: The Joint Space Flight 1 V. DEMYANOV: It Doesn't Depend on the Robots 2 I. BESTUZHEV-LADA: The Family: Yesterday, Today, Tomorrow 2 Biochemistry-84 (Picture Story) 2 E. KOZLOVSKY: Drilling 12,000 Metres Deep into the Kola Peninsula (Interview) 2 A. TOLPEGIN: Environment and Security 2 G. RYABOV: In Space: Five Men and a Woman 3 G. RYABOV: New Breakthrough in Space Exploration 3 A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace- ful Atom 4 G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over 4 V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful Fifteen Years 4 L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster 4 I. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm 4 G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System 5		15
V. DEMYANOV: It Doesn't Depend on the Robots 2 I. BESTUZHEV-LADA: The Family: Yesterday, Today, Tomorrow 2 Biochemistry-84 (Picture Story) 2 E. KOZLOVSKY: Drilling 12,000 Metres Deep into the Kola Peninsula (Interview) 2 A. TOLPEGIN: Environment and Security 2 G. RYABOV: In Space: Five Men and a Woman 3 G. RYABOV: In Space: Five Men and a Woman 3 G. RYABOV: New Breakthrough in Space Exploration 3 A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace- ful Atom 4 G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over 4 V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful Fifteen Years 4 L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster 4 I. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm 4 G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System 5	G. RYABOV: U.S.S.RIndia: The	1.4
on the Robots 2 I. BESTUZHEV-LADA: The Family: Yesterday, Today, Tomorrow 2 Biochemistry-84 (Picture Story) 2 E. KOZLOVSKY: Drilling 12,000 Metres Deep into the Kola Peninsula (Interview) 2 A. TOLPEGIN: Environment and Security 2 G. RYABOV: In Space: Five Men and a Woman 3 G. RYABOV: New Breakthrough in Space Exploration 3 A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace- ful Atom 4 G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over 4 V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful Fifteen Years 4 L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster 4 I. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm 4 G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System 5	Joint Space Flight	17
I. BESTUZHEV-LADA: The Family:         Yesterday, Today, Tomorrow         Biochemistry-84 (Picture Story)         E. KOZLOVSKY: Drilling         Peninsula (Interview)         A. TOLPEGIN: Environment and         Security         G. RYABOV: In Space: Five Men         and a Woman         G. RYABOV: New Breakthrough in         Space Exploration         A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace-ful Atom         G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over         V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful         Fifteen Years         L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Disaster         aster         4. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar         System	v. DEMYANOV: It Doesn't Depend	20
Biochemistry-84 (Picture Story) E. KOZLOVSKY: Drilling 12,000 Metres Deep into the Kola Peninsula (Interview) A. TOLPEGIN: Environment and Security G. RYABOV: In Space: Five Men and a Woman G. RYABOV: New Breakthrough in Space Exploration A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace- ful Atom G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful Fifteen Years L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster I. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System Statem Statem System Statem Statem System Statem Statem System Statem S	I. BESTUZHEV-LADA: The Family:	20
E. KOZLOVSKY: Drilling 12,000 Metres Deep into the Kola Peninsula (Interview) 2 A. TOLPEGIN: Environment and Security 2 G. RYABOV: In Space: Five Men and a Woman 3 G. RYABOV: New Breakthrough in Space Exploration 3 A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace- ful Atom 4 G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over 4 V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful Fifteen Years 4 L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster 4 I. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm 4 G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System 5	Yesterday, Today, Tomorrow	28
MetresDeepintofheKolaPeninsula (Interview)2A. TOLPEGIN:EnvironmentandSecurity2G. RYABOV:In Space:Fiveand a Woman3G. RYABOV: New Breakthrough inSpaceExplorationA. PETROSYANTS:For a Peace-ful Atom4G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over4V. VERESHCHETIN:An EventfulFifteen Years4L. FEOKTISTOV:It Would Be Dis-aster4I. FROLOV:Environmentalists Soundthe Alarm4G. RYABOV:Exploring the SolarSystem5		28
A. TOLPEGIN: Environment and Security 2 G. RYABOV: In Space: Five Men and a Woman 3 G. RYABOV: New Breakthrough in Space Exploration 3 A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace- ful Atom 4 G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over 4 V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful Fifteen Years 4 L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster 4 I. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm 4 G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar 5 System 5		
Security 2 G. RYABOV: In Space: Five Men and a Woman 3 G. RYABOV: New Breakthrough in Space Exploration 3 A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace- ful Atom 4 G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over 4 V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful Fifteen Years 4 L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster 4 I. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm 4 G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System 5		29
G. RYÁBOV: In Space: Five Men and a Woman 3 G. RYABOV: New Breakthrough in Space Exploration 3 A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace- ful Atom 4 G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over 4 V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful Fifteen Years 4 L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster 4 I. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm 4 G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System 5		29
G. RYABOV: New Breakthrough in Space Exploration 3 A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace- ful Atom 4 G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over 4 V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful Fifteen Years 4 L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster 4 I. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm 4 G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System 5		
Space Exploration3A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace- ful Atom4G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over4V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful Fifteen Years4L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster4I. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm4G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System5		31
A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace- ful Atom 4 G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over 4 V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful Fifteen Years 4 L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster 4 I. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm 4 G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar 5 System 5		32
G. RYABOV: Space Marathon Over V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful Fifteen Years 4 L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster 4 I. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm 4 G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System 5	A. PETROSYANTS: For a Peace-	
V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful Fifteen Years 4 L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster 4 I. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm 4 G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System 5		41
L. FEOKTISTOV: It Would Be Dis- aster 4 1. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm 4 G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System 5	V. VERESHCHETIN: An Eventful	. 41
aster 4 1. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm 4 G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System 5		42
I. FROLOV: Environmentalists Sound the Alarm 4 G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System 5		42
the Alarm 4 G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System 5	- 14	74
G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar System 5		44
	G. RYABOV: Exploring the Solar	• •
	System	51
tion Trends 5		51

# CULTURE AND POLITICS

V. TSOPPI: Striking Home	1.
Against War, Against Reaction	•
(Picture Story)	11
I. BYKOVA: Films of Struggle	11
World Press Photo Contest 1984	••
(Picture Story)	11
I. MLECHINA: The Characters of	••
Dieter Noll	4.2
	12
Da Vinci's Manuscript Displayed in	
Moscow (Picture Story)	13
E. BOVKUN: Singer of Protest Songs	18
M. BOGDANOV: Back to Square	
One	19
V. GANYUSHKIN: Friends Visit	
	-
Friends	21
Y. GRIGOROVICH: The Soviet Bal-	
let and the World	23
T. FIRSOVA: Qualified in the	
U.S.S.R.	29
M. TOIDZE: TV Invasion from	
	20
Overseas	. 47 .

A. PIN: Treasure Thieves	-33
A. PIN: The Pyramids of Paris	35
A. MEDVEDENKO: Rebirth of the	
Argentine Cinema	40
P. BOGOMOLOV: In Cuba Today	45
Posters in the Fight for Peace	
(Picture Story)	46
V. KUZNETSÓV: Irwin Shaw: To	
Fight Against Evil	49
I. BYKOVA: Message of the Car-	
toon Character	51

# SPORTS

I. MARINOV: Whipping Up Un-	
controlled Rage	2
L. KHARKOV: The Medals of Sa-	
rajevo	9
Statement by the U.S.S.R. National	
Olympic Committee	16
Y. USTIMENKO: Trampling on	
Olympic Principles	17
B. BAZUNOV: Why We Are Not	
Going to Los Angeles	21
S. BLIZNYUK: In a Poisoned	
Atmosphere	34
Friendship 84 (Picture Story)	37
Therease a triciale story	

#### COUNTRIES AND CONTINENTS

#### AFGHANISTAN

Afghanistan (Picture Story) B. KOZLOV, A. NEVERKOVICH:	17
Two Interviews on the Afghan Question M. OSOKIN: Facts and Fictions L. ZHEGALOV: At the Embassy Every Tuesday	18 20 20
A. STEPANOV: Medics Who Re- cognize No Law	21
L. YELIN: Casey's "Freedom Fight- ers"	26
L. MIRONOV: Blood Business L. KUPRIYANOV: What Price	28
Denial? S: VLADIMIROV: Laying Down the	31
Law D. POGORZHELSKY: To Clear the	32
Land of Lurking Death Soviet-Afghan Friendship Society	37
(Picture Story) V. TIMOFEYEV: The Threads Lead	44
to Pakistan E. LVOV: Quandary	48 51

#### AFRICA (General Questions)

D. VOLSKY: Masquerading in a	
Turban	6
Y. BOCHKARYOV: Solidarity Con-	
ference	9
N. GAVRILOV: The Alternative to .	
Capitalism	12
F. VOLOSHIN: Foreign Policy of	
the African States (Book Review)	14
Africa: Key to Its Future (The Edit-	
or's Page)	15
Africa Liberation Day (The Editor's	~~
Page)	22
L. SKURATOV: Solidarity with Africa	23

Y. BOCHKARYOV: Analysis of	
Inter-African Relations (Book Re-	
view)	27
V. KISELYOV: Trojan Horse of Neo-	• *
Colonialism	31
V. MIDTSEV: "Normalization" and	
"Settlement" Tricks	33
Y, BOCHKARYOV: Unholy Alliance	34
Y, BUCHKARTOY: Unitory Amarice	
Y. BOCHKARYOV: Strengthening	20
Unity	39
A. ANDREYEV, A. IVANOV: in the	
Vanguard of the Masses	40
A. DOLGOV: Cementing Unity	48
Y. BOCHKARYOV: Fighting Hunger	48
Y. BOCHKARYOV: Out to De-	
stabilize	49
STADINIZE NA The Same Old Policy	50
V. MIDTSEV: The Same Old Policy	20

#### ALBANIA

G. MITKEVICH:	Forty	Years	of	
People's Albania				48

#### ALGERIA

A. KAPIKRAYAN:	The NLF Con-	Å
gress A. ZLATORUNSKY:	Thirty Years of	2
Struggle and Upbui	lding	44

#### ANGOLA

L. SKURATOV: Complicity in Ag-	
gression	1
Y, BOCHKARYOV: Massive Ag-	-
gression	2
L. SKURATOV: Pretoria's Aggres-	
sion	3
V. MIDTSEV: "Peacemaking" Mas-	
querade	12
L. SKURATOV; Yet Another Ruse	13
	14
L. SKURATOV: True to Form	14
L. SKURATOV: True to Form Y. BOCHKARYOV: Intrigue Against	
Y. BOCHKARYOV: Intrigue Against Angola	31
Y. BOCHKARYOV: Intrigue Against Angola Y. BOCHKARYOV: Unholy Alliance	
Y. BOCHKARYOV: Intrigue Against Angola Y. BOCHKARYOV: Unholy Alliance	31
Y. BOCHKARYOV: Intrigue Against Angola Y. BOCHKARYOV: Unholy Alliance	31

#### ARGENTINA

A. VLADIMIROV: Plots and Bul-	-
lving	7
A. MEDVEDENKO: The Polifical	9
Scene	7
O. VALENTINOV: Embers of Ag-	18
gression	10
O. VALENTINOV: Problems and	30
Hopes	20
I. YERMACHENKOV: Aborted	
Disloque	32
A. MEDVEDENKO: Rebirth of the	
Argentine Cinema	40
,	

# ASIA (General Questions)

O. FOMIN: The Dacca Islamic Con-	4
ference V. GODYNA: For Peace in Asia	1
A USVATOV: Asiamissiles	2

D, VOLSKY: Masquerading in a Turban 6 L. YELIN: Base Triangle Y. KUZMICHOV: Conference in 6 Vientiane: The Future Belongs to 7 Dialogue L. ZHEGALOV: When There Is 12 Good Will Y. KUZMICHOV: Two Tendencies 16 A. USVATOV: What the Pentagon 16 Is After I. LATYSHEV: The U.S. Threat to 19 Asia Pentagon Shadow Over Asia (The 21 Editor's Page) The Threat to the Pacific 25 S. ZINCHUK: Washington's Chain 25 of Blocs V. BUNIN: Bases of Aggression 25 P. DALNEV: Strategy of Peace, Not Confrontation D. VOLSKY: The Asian Knot L. MIRONOV: Dialogue—An Urgent 25 25 29 Matter D. VOLSKY: Pacific Stratagem 31 S. VLADIMIROV: Sihanouk, Ltd.? 35 A. USVATOV: Peace for the Pacific 38 D. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations D. VOLSKY: Pentagon "Aslamis-41 42 siles"? Not Only the Mekong That Unites 44 Them L. MIRONOV: Asia Needs Security L. MIRONOV: Effective Solidarity 45 49 ÷

#### AUSTRALIA

V. GALIN: The Troubles of In-	
vinciple	- 4
L. MLECHIN: CIA Against Australia	5
L. POCHIVALOV: An Encounter in	•
the Ocean	14
L. MLECHIN: Dialogue Resumed	24
L. MLECHIN: What They Didn't Want Told	33
V. GALIN: "Just Hadn't Seen"	43
L. MLECHIN: Australia: Labour Remains	50

# AUSTRIA

V. YAKOVLEV: Good Neighbours V. GUSHCHIN: "Guaranteed" In-	9
terference R. ALEXANDROV: The Potential of	12
Co-operation	49

#### BANGLADESH

A.	TER-GRIGORYAN:	٧	icious	Circle	
or	Spiral?				47

#### BARBADOS

Barbados (Picture Story)

24

#### BELGIUM

V. BOIKOV: The People Over-	
whelmingly Against	- 4
V. BOIKOV: The Struggle Requires	
Unity	18
V. BOIKOV: With Both Stick and	
Carrot	32
Brussels (Picture Story)	43
V. BOIKOV: Abandoned Factor-	
ies, Wilting Towns	45
V. BOIKOV: Brussels Takes Time-	
Out	51

#### BELIZE

V. SOBOLEV:	Between	Scylia	and	
Charybdis		-		13

#### BENIN

#### Benin (Picture Story)

#### BOLIVIA

Bolivia (Picture Story)	5
V. MOROZOV: Difficult Process of	•
Democratization	17
A. KOSENKO: Barbie Carries On	35
V. MOROZOV: Vicious Circle	37
L, ZEMLYANNIKOVA, L. STEFAN-	
KINA: Bolivia-Distant and Close	45
V. MOROZOV: The Reactionaries at	
Work	50

14

21

#### BOURKINA-FASSO

L.	<b>TSEITLIN</b>	: initial	Steps	of	the	
	w Regim		•			20

### BRAZIL

V. GALIN: Amazon Tragedy	45
V. SOBOLEV: Genocide in the	
Jungle	46

#### BRUNEI

A.	USVA	τον:	Will	Brunei	Be	a	
	avenio						9

#### BULGARIA

L.	MIRONOV	: Steps	of Progress	25
G.	FILIPOV:	Lasting	Values	37

# CAMEROON

Cameroon (Picture Story)

# CANADA

T. SHKOLNIKOVA: New Fisheries	
Agreement	21
Y. KNYAZEV: Just Observing	22
A. ANDREYEV: Human Rights	31

V. ULASEVICH: Defeat for the Liberals 38 Y. KNYAZEV: Business Is Business 50

# CHAD

A. DOLGOV: What				5
Y. BOCHKARYOV: Point	Taking	Up	ð	33
Y. BOCHKARYOV:	The	End	of	
Operation Manta?				41
Y. BOCHKARYOV:	0	oerati	on	
Manta Ended, but				47
L. SKURATOV: Ope	ration /	Manta	23	49

#### CHILE

A. BARYSHEV: The Crisis Intensifies	6
I. RYBALKIN: "Pinochet Must Gol"	19
A. VLADIMIROV: No Need for	
Him to Worry	24
V. CHIRKOV: Regime Hated by	
All	38
V. MOREV: Pinochet Manoeuvres	43
A. BARYSHEV: The Struggle Mounts	46
A. BARYSHEV: Pinochet's War on	
the People	50

### CHINA

S. SERGEYEV: The Zhao Ziang	
Visit to the U.S.	5
'V. GRISHIN: Nakasone's Peking	
Visit	14
V. YASENEV: What Is the Object of	
These "Historical Studies"?	15
S. SERGEYEV: What Reagan Was	
After in China	20
V. ZUBAKOV: Session of the	
Chinese Parliament	25
P. DALNEV: Zhao Ziyang's Europe-	•
an Tour	26
G. HALL: The Reagan Trip to China	32
S. VLADIMIROV: Laying Down	
the Law	32
V. GRISHIN: Dangerous Alliance	36
S. ILYIN: Agreement on Xiang Gang	42

#### COMORO ISLANDS

L. YELIN: Behind the Last Sultan's Grandson

1

9

#### COSTA RICA

# A. VLADIMIROV: Pincers

# CUBA

V. CHIRKOV: Ascent	1
Cuba (Picture Story)	1
C. RODRIGUEZ: Cuba in the	13
Present-Day World Monument to Lenin in Havana	
(Picture Story)	4
V. CHIRKOV: Not for the Picking	
(Book Review)	5

P. BOGOMOLOV: Confident Pro-	
gress	30
A. ANDREYEV: The Right Impres-	37
P. BOGOMOLOV: In Cuba Today	45
V. MASHIN: Out-Heroding Herod	48
I. BYKOVA: Message of the Car-	51
toon Character	21

CYPRUS

L. YURIEV: So Eager for a Settle- ment	11
N. ZHOLKVER: Who Stands to	
Gain V. SHAROV: Separatist Publicity	20
Exercise	22
Cyprus (Picture Story) A. PIN: Split Pearl	30 38

#### CZECHOSLOVAKIA

B. KOZLOV: On Europe's Blue	
Artery	13
B. CHNOUPEK: Peaceable Policy,	
Active Diplomacy (Interview)	19
Czechoslovak Trade and Tech-	
nological Centre (Picture Story)	19
R. LOZHNIKOV: Firm Friendship	23
J. RISKO: The People Took Up	1
Arms	35
V. ZAGLADIN: The Truth—Mighty	
Weapon in the Fight for Peace	39
V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the	
Doomed	43
A. ARKHIPOV: The Most Important	
Task	44

# DENMARK

Y. KNYAZEV: By Accident D. MAXIMOV: The Instability Re-	2	
mains	4	
S. ROGULSKY: Confusion	9	
N. ZHOLKVER: "Reason Must Pre-		
vail"	10	
V. GUSHCHIN: Threatening a Re-		
peat Performance?	17	
D. POGORZHELSKY: What is the	••	
Mermaid Thinking About?	23	
O. YURIEV: Diplomatic Red-Pencil	51	
DOMINICAN REPUBLIC		
A. BARYSHEV: Noxious Loans	20	
EGYPT	•	
M. HEIKAL: Autumn of Fury 6,	15	
D. ZGERSKY: Drug Mafia	26	
L. RASSADIN: Taking Up a Point	41	

# ETHIOPIA

G. GABRIELYAN: In Step with the	
Whole Country	30
G. GABRIELYAN: The People Will	
Have Their Own Party	36
Y. BOCHKARYOV: The Dawn of a	
New Life	37

Y. BOCHKARYOV: Looking to the Future Mengistu Haile Mariam A. ANDREYEV, A. IVANOV: In the Vanguard of the Masses Y. BOCHKARYOV: Fighting Hunger G. GABRIELYAN: Combating the Drought	38 39 40 48 50
EUROPE (General Questions)	
V. ALEXANDROV: Pointing the Finger B. ZARITSKY: Camouflage for the Missiles B. MARUSHKIN: Threat to Europe B. KOZLOV: On Europe's Blue Artery I. GOREV, N. EVGENYEV: Needed: Co-operation, Not Confrontation Y. SHISHKOV: Electoral Shot in the Arm? L. MAKAREVICH: A Stern Lesson L. MAKAREVICH: Onslaught on West European Labour V. ZAGLADIN: Europe's Future and the Policy of West Germany Europe's Horizons (The Editor's Page)	3 12 13 19 24 27 29 31 49
V. GUSENKOV: Another Pillar of NATO	49
FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF GERMANY	
E. DOLMATOVSKY: A Mad, Reck- less Game L. BEZYMENSKY: Taking Up a Point A. TOLPEGIN: The Communists of One West German City N. ZHOLKVER: Millions and Bil- lions A. TOLPEGIN: And So the General Was Given His Congee A. TOLPEGIN: Bogged Down in Scandals A. TOLPEGIN: Legalized Graft G. GHENOV: Labelled "Terrorists" G. HÄNSEL: Jobs, Not Missiles! Empty-Handed A. TOLPEGIN: How Myths Are Born (Book Review) A. TOLPEGIN: The Social Democrats' Search for Escape from the Missile Trap L. BEZYMENSKY: Who Forged the "Hitler Diaries" and Who Benefits A. TOLPEGIN: Preserve, Not Under- mine G. MYASNIKOV: "Considerable Similarity" A. TOLPEGIN: For Peace and Jobs N. ZHOLKVER: Still Smiling D. PROECTOR: The Green Light for Rearmament A. TOLPEGIN: "You Will Hang!" L. BEZYMENSKY: Till He Follows Rauff? D. MAXIMOV: Back Up Words with	$\begin{array}{c}1\\1\\3\\5\\7\\8\\9\\1\\1\\2\\1\\2\\1\\3\\1\\5\\1\\7\\1\\8\\1\\9\\2\\2\\2\\2\\2\\2\\2\\2\\3\\3\\1\\5\\1\\7\\1\\8\\1\\9\\2\\2\\2\\2\\2\\2\\2\\3\\3\\3\\1\\5\\1\\7\\1\\8\\1\\9\\2\\2\\2\\2\\2\\2\\3\\3\\3\\3\\1\\5\\1\\7\\1\\1\\8\\1\\9\\2\\2\\2\\2\\2\\3\\3\\3\\3\\1\\5\\1\\1\\2\\2\\2\\2\\2\\2\\3\\3\\3\\3\\3\\1\\5\\1\\1\\2\\2\\2\\2\\2\\2\\2\\3\\3\\3\\3\\3\\3\\3\\3\\3\\3\\3$
Deeds	23

A. TOLPEGIN: The Social Democrat	
Congress: Against the Missiles	23
L. BEZYMENSKY: Missing Charter	
Deal	23
S. DMITRIEV: Revanchism by Mail	24
L. MAKAREVICH: Nazis Past and	~ .
Present	24
I. CHISTOV: Time to Clarify Mat-	24
ters	26
A. TOLPEGIN: Locking the Work-	~~
ers Out	27
V. IVIN: Restoring Political Ruins	27
L. BEZYMENSKY: Cold Comfort	28
N. ALEXANDROV: Crushing Burden	30
V, ZAGLADIN: Europe's Future and	24
the Policy of West Germany	31
L. BEZYMENSKY: Free as a Bird	32
N. ZHOLKVER: Fresh Strength for	27
the Struggle	32
Friendship Train from West Ger-	32
many (Picture Story) L. BEZYMENSKY: Treaties Must In-	32
	33
deed Be Observed	33
L. YELIN: Crash! Bang!	33
Witches' Sabbath of Revanchism	34
(The Editor's Page)	34
È. BOVKUN: All Threads Lead to	35
Koblenz	
A. KOSENKO: Not Just Theorizing	36
N. ZHOLKVER: He Was Arrested	
the Next Morning	36
V. KHROMOV: Dynamite Curtain	36
A. KOSENKO: Whereabouts Known	37
	37
A. TOLPEGIN: To Keep Them in	
••	
Line	37
Line G. MYASNIKOV: What Services?	37 38
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services?	
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate	38
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima	
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima	38
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism	<b>38</b> 39
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism	38 39 39
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn	38 39 39
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from	38 39 39 40
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOY: Why "Long Ne- cessary"	38 39 39 40
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident	38 39 39 40 40
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOY: Why "Long Ne- cessary"	38 39 40 40 40 41
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr	38 39 40 40 40 41 41
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute	38 39 40 40 40 41 41 42
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr	38 39 40 40 40 41 41 42 42
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence	38 39 40 40 40 41 41 42
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the	<ul> <li>38</li> <li>39</li> <li>40</li> <li>40</li> <li>40</li> <li>41</li> <li>42</li> <li>42</li> <li>43</li> </ul>
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the Doomed	38         39         40         40         40         41         42         43
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the Doomed S. BORISOV: V-2, Pershing 2?	38           39           40           40           41           42           43           43
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the Doomed S. BORISOV: V-2, Pershing 2? N. ZHOLKVER: Getting Rid of Them	38           39           40           40           41           42           43           45
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the Doomed S. BORISOV: V-2, Pershing 2? N. ZHOLKVER: Getting Rid of Them A. TOLPEGIN: The "New Poverty"	38           39           40           40           41           42           43           43
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the Doomed S. BORISOV: V-2, Pershing 2? N. ZHOLKVER: Getting Rid of Them A. TOLPEGIN: The "New Poverty" A. TOLPEGIN: Moneybag Demo-	38         39         40         40         40         41         42         43         45         45
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the Doomed S. BORISOV: V-2, Pershing 2? N. ZHOLKVER: Getting Rid of Them A. TOLPEGIN: The "New Poverty" A. TOLPEGIN: Moneybag Demo- cracy	38         39           39         40           40         40           41         42           43         43           45         45           46         46
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the Doomed S. BORISOV: V-2, Pershing 2? N. ZHOLKVER: Getting Rid of Them A. TOLPEGIN: The "New Poverty" A. TOLPEGIN: Moneybag Demo- cracy A. KOSENKO: Memorial to Whom?	38         39           39         40           40         40           41         42           43         43           45         45           46         47
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the Doomed S. BORISOV: V-2, Pershing 2? N. ZHOLKVER: Getting Rid of Them A. TOLPEGIN: The "New Poverty" A. TOLPEGIN: Moneybag Demo- cracy A. KOSENKO: Memorial to Whom? A. TOLPEGIN: Incorrigibles	38         39         39         40         40         41         41         41         42         43         45         45         45         46         47         48         47         48         48         46         47         48         48         46         47         48         48         46         47         48         48         46         47         48         48         46         47         48         46<
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the Doomed S. BORISOV: V-2, Pershing 2? N. ZHOLKVER: Getting Rid of Them A. TOLPEGIN: The "New Poverty" A. TOLPEGIN: Moneybag Demo- cracy A. KOSENKO: Memorial to Whom? A. TOLPEGIN: Incorrigibles A. KOSENKO: The World His Oyster	38         39         39         40           40         40         41         41         42         43         45         45         45         45         45         46         47         48 </td
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOY: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the Doomed S. BORISOV: V-2, Pershing 2? N. ZHOLKVER: Getting Rid of Them A. TOLPEGIN: The "New Poverty" A. TOLPEGIN: Moneybag Demo- cracy A. KOSENKO: Memorial to Whom? A. KOSENKO: The World His Oyster Operation Paperclip	38         39         39         40         40         41         41         41         42         43         45         45         45         46         47         48         47         48         48         46         47         48         48         46         47         48         48         46         47         48         48         46         47         48         48         46         47         48         46<
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the Doomed S. BORISOV: V-2, Pershing 2? N. ZHOLKVER: Getting Rid of Them A. TOLPEGIN: The "New Poverty" A. TOLPEGIN: Moneybag Demo- cracy A. KOSENKO: Memorial to Whom? A. TOLPEGIN: Incorrigibles A. KOSENKO: The World His Oyster Operation Paperclip A. TOLPEGIN: Against Gas and	38         39         39         40           40         40         41         42         42         43         45         45         45         45         45         45         46         477         488         49
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the Doomed S. BORISOV: V-2, Pershing 2? N. ZHOLKVER: Getting Rid of Them A. TOLPEGIN: The "New Poverty" A. TOLPEGIN: Moneybag Demo- cracy A. KOSENKO: Memorial to Whom? A. TOLPEGIN: Incorrigibles A. KOSENKO: The World His Oyster Operation Paperclip A. TOLPEGIN: Against Gas and Germ Warfare	38         39         39         40           40         40         41         41         42         43         45         45         45         45         45         46         47         48 </td
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the Doomed S. BORISOV: V-2, Pershing 2? N. ZHOLKVER: Getting Rid of Them A. TOLPEGIN: The "New Poverty" A. TOLPEGIN: Moneybag Demo- cracy A. KOSENKO: Memorial to Whom? A. TOLPEGIN: Incorrigibles A. KOSENKO: The World His Oyster Operation Paperclip A. TOLPEGIN: Against Gas and Germ Warfare KH. SCHRODER: Peace Must Pre-	38         39         39         40         41         42         43         45         45         46         47         48         49         49
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the Doomed S. BORISOV: V-2, Pershing 2? N. ZHOLKVER: Getting Rid of Them A. TOLPEGIN: The "New Poverty" A. TOLPEGIN: Moneybag Demo- cracy A. KOSENKO: Memorial to Whom? A. TOLPEGIN: Incorrigibles A. KOSENKO: The World His Oyster Operation Paperclip A. TOLPEGIN: Against Gas and Germ Warfare KH. SCHRODER: Peace Must Pre- vail (Interview)	38         39         39         40         40         41         42         43         45         45         46         47         48         49         50
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the Doomed S. BORISOV: V-2, Pershing 2? N. ZHOLKVER: Getting Rid of Them A. TOLPEGIN: The "New Poverty" A. TOLPEGIN: Moneybag Demo- cracy A. KOSENKO: Memorial to Whom? A. TOLPEGIN: Incorrigibles A. KOSENKO: The World His Oyster Operation Paperclip A. TOLPEGIN: Against Gas and Germ Wafare KH. SCHRODER: Peace Must Pre- vail (Interview) V. GRECHANINOV: Nonexistent?	38         39         39         40         41         42         43         45         45         46         47         48         49         49
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the Doomed S. BORISOV: V-2, Pershing 2? N. ZHOLKVER: Getting Rid of Them A. TOLPEGIN: The "New Poverty" A. TOLPEGIN: Moneybag Demo- cracy A. KOSENKO: Memorial to Whom? A. TOLPEGIN: Incorrigibles A. KOSENKO: The World His Oyster Operation Paperclip A. TOLPEGIN: Against Gas and Germ Wafare KH. SCHRODER: Peace Must Pre- vail (Interview) V. GRECHANINOV: Nonexistent? A. TOLPEGIN: Two Years After the	38         39         40         40         41         42         43         45         46         478         48         49         50
G. MYASNIKOV: What Services? A. TOLPEGIN: To Escape the Fate of Hiroshima N. ALEXANDROV: The Right to Kill? A. TOLPEGIN: Revanchism A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from Bonn G. MYASNIKOV: Why "Long Ne- cessary" A. TOLPEGIN: Pershing Accident V. LEVIN: Missiles for the Bundes- wehr R. ALEXANDROV: Glowing Tribute N. ZHOLKVER: Fun and Games A. TOLPEGIN: His Influence V. ZAGLADIN: Designs of the Doomed S. BORISOV: V-2, Pershing 2? N. ZHOLKVER: Getting Rid of Them A. TOLPEGIN: The "New Poverty" A. TOLPEGIN: Moneybag Demo- cracy A. KOSENKO: Memorial to Whom? A. TOLPEGIN: Incorrigibles A. KOSENKO: The World His Oyster Operation Paperclip A. TOLPEGIN: Against Gas and Germ Wafare KH. SCHRODER: Peace Must Pre- vail (Interview) V. GRECHANINOV: Nonexistent?	38         39         39         40         40         41         42         43         45         45         46         47         48         49         50

،

	FINLAND	
	R. HILTUNEN: Record of Co-opera-	20
	tion D. POGORZHELSKY: Good Neigh-	39
Ċ.	bours Working Together N. ALEXANDROV: For European	41
•	Security D. MAXIMOV: A Good Example	42 43
	D. MAXIMOV: Celebration of Good-Neighbourship	
	N. ZHOLKVER: Finnish Worker	48
	Culture Week in Siberia	51
	FRANCE	
	V. SEMYONOV: Paris-Bonn Tandem? V. GUSENKOV: The Advantages of	
	Dialogue L. MAKAREVICH: Familiar Look	8 10
	K. KONSTANTINOV: On the Anti- Sovieteering Stage	12
	V. TSOPPI: Harmonious Disaccord? V. ALEXANDROV: Paris-Match and	14
	Moscow University V. ANDREYEV, Y. SEDOV: Right-	14
	Wing Pressure Mounting. A. STEPANOV: Medics Who Re-	15
11	cognize No Laws	21
۰.	Y. UZIN: Their Realm Is Night V. SEMYONOV: Dialogue Presup-	22
	poses Good Will A. VTOROV: Negotiations Were	25
	Useful Paris (Picture Story)	27 29
	V. SEMYONOV: New Look, Old Style	31
	V. SEMYONOV: The Cabinet An- nounces its Programme	32
	V. TSOPPI: Mini-Memory? V. GOLUBKIN: What's Behind the	33
	Rise of Le Pen A. KOSENKO: Barbie Carries On	34 35
	A. PIN: The Pyramids of Paris V. SEMYONOV: Criticism from the	35
	Left, Plaudits from the Right	42
	E. LVOV: He Won't Be Going	42
	B. PISHCHIK: Denain Doesn't Want to Die	43
	V. SLAVENOV: Moscow Is for Friendly Links	44
	N. SAFRONOVA: The Career of Raymond Aron	46
	V. LAVRENOV: The Working Class of France and the EEC (Book Re-	
	view) L. SKURATOV: Poor, Poor Bokassa	47 52
	GERMAN DEMOCRATIC	52
	REPUBLIC	
-	R. KRESTYANINOV: Firmness and Realism	3
	R. KRESTYANINOV: Life in a New City	11
	I. MLECHINA: The Characters of Dieter Noll	12
	V. CHERNYAVSKY: In the City of Flowers	19
	L. YELISEYEV: Town in the Thu- ringian Forest	36

....

• .:•

3

D, POGORZHELSKY: At the Leipzig	
Fair	38
N. ZHOLKVER: Trade Union Con-	••
tacts	39
L. BEZYMENSKY: Simple Truths 40,	
O, FISCHER: The Socialist Policy	47
of Peace	41
N. ZHOLKVER: Taking Up a Point	52
÷ ,	52
GREAT BRITAIN	
Y. KARAULOV: "Contingency Plan-	
ning"	3
V. GALIN: The Troubles of In-	
vincible	4
V. TSOPPI: Voice from "Oceania"	5
V. GALIN: Dozens More Ready V. LARIN: Sixty Years of Diplo-	6
	6
matic Relations Great Britain (Picture Story)	9
I. TITOV: Tories Against the Unions	13
A. PIN: "Kill the Bill!"	16
Y, KARAULOV: Impetus to What?	16
V. SAVELYEV: No Holds Barred	16
Y. KARAULOV: The Tories and the	
Jobless	17
I. TITOV: The Miners Stand Firm	18
O. VALENTINOV: Embers of Ag-	
aression	18
Y, KNYAZEV: Let's Compare	18
M. BOGDANOV: Back to Square	
One	19
A. PIN: "Our Group Needs You!"	20 20
I. TITOV: Taking Up a Point Y. KARAULOV: Tories and the Chip	23
Stratford-Upon-Avon (Picture	25
Story)	23
I. TITOV: Ruined Celebrations	24
V. KSENIN: Stumbling Backwards?	25
I. MONICHEV: Definitely Not for	
Colds	29
S. VOLOVETS: Big Business Plot	30
I. TITOV: Divide and Rule	30
V. KSENIN: Human Rights and Ca-	30
terpillars D. SMIRNOV: And Next Time,	50
What?	31
I. YERMACHENKOV: Aborted Dia-	
logue	32
L. MLECHIN: What They Didn't	
Want Told	33
I. TITOV: The Miners Stand Firm	37
V. KSENIN: The Long, Long Ear E. STEPANOV: TUC Backs the	37
	38
Miners	30
V KEENING HE DIT I	
V. KSENIN: "Such Racial Har- mony"	20
G. SIDOROVA: What It Would Be	38 -
Like (Book Review)	38
I. TITOV: Trail of Blood	39
London (Picture Story)	39
.I. TITOV: Fifth Edinburgh Con-	
versations	40
Y. KNYAZEV: Propaganda War	
Against the Miners	41
L. MLECHIN: Supporting the Brit-	41
tab. Attagen	
ish Miners	42
ish Miners I. TITOV: The British Labour Party Conference	

.

S. ILYIN: Agreement on Xiang	
Gang	42
Y.KNYAZEV: The Law Never Nods	44
L. MLECHIN: The Miners Stand Firm	45
V. KSENIN: Keep-'em-Waiting	
Tactics	45
	46
V. KSENIN: Logrolling	
Y. KNYAZEV: Why?	48
G. SIDOROVA: A Constructive Dia-	
logue	49
V. KSENIN: All-Powerful Arm of	
the Law	49
O. SHAKHNAZAROV: The Talks	
Led Nowhere	50
V. KSENIN: Those Protectors of	
Human Rights	50
A. PIN: The Lights of Piccadilly	50
V. KSENIN: No to Santa Claus	51
V. KSENIN: Follow-Up Story	52
T. Rociality Colon-op. Dioly	
CAFFOR	
GREECE	
ALL THOMAS IN 10 THAT IS A SHE BAR	

N. ZHOLKVER: Trying It with Rum-	
ours	5
G. SHAPOVALOV: Trust and Con-	10
fidence	10
N. SHMELYOV: Greek T.U. Delega-	16
tion	30
A. NIKITIN: Pressuring Greece A. PIN: Mythology Washington	50
Style	37
סועוכ	

# GREENLAND

V. VORONKOV:	Escaping	from	the	
EEC				26

# GRENADA

V. SOBOLEV: A People Trampled	
Underfoot	-11
V. GALIN: A Year Ago	44
A. GURNOV: Washington's Grenada	
"Experiment" and Its Meaning	51

# GUATEMALA

V. CHIRKOV: "Revolutions Do Not Die" V. NESTEROV: Another Election Farce	26 30
HONDURAS	
V. DOLGOV: Changing of the Guard	18
A. BARYSHEV: The Infrastructure of Aggression	28
HUNGARY	
P. VARKONYI: Tried and Tested Policy (Interview)	1

Policy (Interview) V. GERASIMOV: Onward United in View and Aspiration. Speech by Janos Kadar		1 14 32		
J. MARJAI: (Interview)	Hungary	and	CMEA	40

# ICELAND

V. GALIN: Without Even Asking	11
Reykjavik (Picture Story)	31
I. GONICHEV; Telling Them Off	32
I. GOSTEV: Urgently Wanted	35

# INDIA

•	
L. ZHEGALOV: Support at a Critical	3
Hour L. ZHEGALOV: At the Head of the	
Non-Aligned E. RUMYANTSEV: Bhilai—25th An-	4
niversary	6
L. ZHEGALOV: Saris or Jeans?	10
L. ZHEGALOV: Ambitions Global and Local	11
L. YELIN: "Khalistan's" Sponsors	13
L. ZHEGALOV: "Divide and De-	
stabilize" G. RYABOV: Citizen of India Joins	14
the Cormonaut Eamily	15
L. ZHEGALOV: "Touching the Stars"	16
G. RYABOV: U.S.S.R.—India: The Joint Space Flight	17
L. YELIN: Write the Right Things,	
or Else-	19
L. ZHEGALOV: At the Embassy Every Tuesday	20
L. ZHEGALOV: Selling Tokyo's	
"New Asian Identity" L. YELIN: Practising	21 21
A, TER-GRIGORYAN: Overcoming	<b>4</b> 1
Divisions	23
L. ZHEGALOV: Lesson for the Wash- ington Mentors	24
A. USVATOV: Lancing the Ulcer	26
L. ZHEGALOV: who's Benind Sikn	27
Extremists L. ZHEGALOV: The EconomyProb-	27
lems and Paradoxes	31
L. YELIN: A Million for Murder	32
L. ZHEGALOV: The Roots and the Crown	33
G. BONDAREVSKY: The Statesman-	
ship of Nehru The Indian National Exhibition in	33
Moscow (Picture Story)	36
D. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations	41
L. YELIN: Cloak-and-Dagger De- mocracy	41
	45
INDIRA GANDHI	
L. ZHEGALOV: Time of Trial, Unity the Imperative	46
L. ZHEGALOV: The Nation Con-	
tinues Along Its Road Great Daughter of India	47 47
V. BELSKY: Soviet Foreign Policy in	-11
Documents	49
L. ZHEGALOV, A. USVATOV: The Bhopal Tragedy: The Culprits	51
onober megedy, me outputs	5.
INDONESIA	
Indonesia (Picture Story)	15

Indonesia (Picture Story)

#### IRAN

V. KOMAROV: Highways and By-	_
ways D. VOLSKY: Taking Up a Point	2 7
G. DRAMBYANTS: Thunderheads Over the Persian Gulf	10

# IRAQ

G. DRAMBYANTS: Thunderheads	
Over the Persian Gulf	10
Iraq (Picture Story)	48
IRELAND	
V. PAVLOV: The Irish Workers'	
Party Conference	20
V. PAVLOV: An Island with Prob-	
lems	28
O. SHAKHNAZAROV: The Talks	-
Led Nowhere	50
ISRAEL	
	3
D. ZGERSKY: Recovery Noose A. STEPANOV: Taking Up a Point	5
A. STEPANOV: Taking Up a Point	14
M. ZARIPOV: Hand in Glove	14
A. STEPANOV: The Price of Ag-	15
gression	• -
D. ZGERSKY: Terrorism for Export	16
D. ZGERSKY: Shamir and the Third	47
Reich	17
Y. UZIN: Racism in the Hereafter	18 19
L. MEDVEDKO: Taking Up a Point	23
M. OSOKIN: The Real Purpose A. STEPANOV: Taking Up a Point	25
A. STEPANOV: Taking Up a Point	20
G. DYMOV: The Shattered Image of	27
Zionism	28
A. SHIPILOV: Found Insane	20
V. KISELYOV: Trojan Horse of	31
Neo-Colonialism	51
S. VLADIMIROV: Fascist in the	34
Knesset V. TSOPPI: Where the Fist is the	57
Symbol of Faith	37
A. SEMYONOV: Sides of Same Coin	38
M. OSOKIN: We Are Not Surprised	38
D. VOLSKY: Dangerous Reciprocity	44
D. ZGERSKY: Kindred Souls	45
M. OSOKIN: Anything Goes	46
L. MODZHORYAN: The Zionist	40
Lobby: Pressure Levers	47
CODDA! LIASZOLA FRAGIA	77

# ITALY

L. DEKABREV: Dutifully Following	-6
A. MARCHUK: Where the Generals	
Are impelling Italy	10
L. SAMOKHVALOV: The Italian	
CDP Congress	11
L. SAMOKHVALOV: A Danger to	
Italy	15
M. KOVALYOV: Soviet War Vete-	
rans Visit Italy	16
A. VTOROV: Purposeful Dialogue	19
I. GRIGULEVICH: Italy: The New	
Concordat	20
L. MAKAREVICH: Where the "Bul-	
garian Connection" Leads	22
	25
Enrico Berlinguer. In Memoriam	23

N. SUKHORUKOV: Voting by the	
Boot	26
A. LEONTYEV: Orchestration by	
Whom?	34
A. LEONTYEV: Balcony Base	36
Revolutionary and Internationalist	
(Twenty Years Since the Death of	
Palmiro Togliatti)	37
A. LEONTYEV: Dressing-Down from	
Bonn	40
ALEONTYEV: Earning His Pat on	
the Back	42
L. MAKAREVICH: Locomotive	
Engineers with an American Ac-	
cent	45
E. KOVALYOV: Plot to Cover Up	
a Plot	46
I. BLISHCHENKO: Legally Untenable	
Case	52
Case	52

### **JAMAICA**

V. SVETLANOV: Election Without a Choice

2

#### JAPAN

Y. TAVROVSKY: Calendar Time	1
Y. TAVROVSKY: The Changes in	
Tokyo	2 5
M. LEONIDOV: Bringing a Gift	- 5
Y. TAVROVSKY: Sinister Spawn	5
L. MLECHIN: Taking Up a Point	6
G. SVETLOV: The Spirit of Emperor	
Jimmu	7
Y. TAVROVSKY: Hiroshima's Warn-	
ing	9
Y, TAVROVSKY: Samural Bid for Sea	
Power	11
M. LEONIDOV: Still At It	13
V. GRISHIN: Nakasone's Peking	
Visit	14
M. LEONIDOV: Convenient For-	14
	15
mula Y. TAVROVSKY: Red Day of the	
	18
"Golden Week"	10
I. LATYSHEV: The U.S. Threat to	19
Asia	17
L. ZHEGALOV: Selling Tokyo's	~
"New Asian Identity"	21
Y. TAVROVSKY: The Far Eastern	
Card	22
L. MLECHIN: Pirates' Heirs and	
Successors	23
Y, TAVROVSKY: "Passing the	
Torch"	27
V. IVIN: Restoring Political Ruins	27
Y. TAVROVSKY: Deadly Umbrella	28
M. LEONIDOV: Nothing to Celeb-	
rate	29
S. IIMURA: Businessmen Wanf Wider	
Trade (Interview)	30
L. MLECHIN: The Rise and Fall of	
Yukio Mishima	31
Y. TAVROVSKY: The Memory of	
Hiroshima	32
M. LEONIDOV: Viewing Pearl Har-	
bor	33

Witches' Sabbath of Revanchism	
(The Editor's Page)	34
L. MLECHIN: Absolution	35
L. MLECHIN: Starting Point	37
Y. TAVROVSKY: "Third-Class Peo-	
ple"	38
H. SHIRAI: "Looking Forward to the	
Opening of Discussions (Interview)	41
L. MLECHIN: Listening Attentively	
to Each Other	43
Y. TAVROVSKY: The Tragedy of	
the Over-Fifty-Fives	45
Y. TAVROVSKY: Impulse of Good	
Will	46
V. ZAGLADIN: A Step Closer to	
Each Other?	47
T. LEKHTO: Cadets for the "Un-	
sinkable Aircraft Carrier"	48
V. GODYNA: Democratic Unity the	
Imperative (Book Review)	48
Y. TAVROVSKY: No Easy Victory	48
Y. TAVROVSKY: A "Small Con-	
centration Camp" 100 Kilometres	
from Tokyo	50

#### KAMPUCHEA

B. VINOGRADOV: Five Years of Freedom 2 Y. KUZMICHOV: Conference in Vientiane: The Future Belongs to Dialogue 7 E. KOBELEV: Brimming River of Life 12 Y. KUZMICHOV: Two Tendencies 16 V. GODYNA: Taking Up a Point 17 The Dead Accuse (Picture Story) 22 V. GODYNA: The Third Step 27 L. MIRONOV: Together 31 L. KRICHEVSKY: Taking Up a Point 32 Y. KUZMICHOV: No Putting Back the Clock 39 HUN SEN: For a Constructive Dialogue (Interview) 51

.

# DEMOCRATIC PEOPLE'S REPUBLIC OF KOREA

5
1
2
,
5
,

#### SOUTH KOREA

E. LVOV: Promising Dictator E. LVOV: What More Proof?	2 39
LAOS	

Y. KUZMICHOV: Conference	in
Vientiane: The Future Belongs	to
Dialogue	7
G. DRAMBYANTS: Laos Today	27

.

E. FADEYEV: From Savannakhet to 44 Phongsaly B. VINOGRADOV: The Last of the 49 **Migratory Life** 

#### LATIN AMERICA [General Questions]

A. BARYSHEV: The Demagogy and 4 the Substance -V. MOREV: The Shultz Tour A. CHAKOVSKY: We Cannot Stand 8 Aloof (Interview) Sowing the Wind (The Editor's 9 13 Page) A. BARYSHEV: Militarist Rampaging Y. GVOZDEV: Csisis of the System of Imperialist Domination (Book Re-16 21 view) 24 A. BARYSHEV: Double-Dealing P. NIKOLAYEV: Latin America in the Debt Noose Diktat Rebuffed (The Editor's Page) D. ANTONOV: Confrontation Prov-26 27 31 ing Ground? L. YELIN: Teaching Them How M. OSOKIN: "Reports" about Noth-31 34 ing Y, KNYAZEV: They Go to Stay D. ANTONOV: Trial Balloon? 36 39 Y. GVOZDEV: Torpedoing the Con-43 tadora Process A. BARYSHEV: OAS Session 48 LEBANON ALCOND AND A MATCH IN AG

D. VOLSKY: What NATO Is Affer in Lebanon Y. TSAPLIN: In a Hurry	3 5
A. USVATOV: Lebanon Under Fire	8
F KORSHUNOV: Confrontation	9
A. USVATOV: Impotence of Force	10
A. STEPANOV: A Fiasco	11
Y. RYBKIN: Resistance to the Oc-	
runiers	12
Y, GUDKOV: The Intervention in	
Lebanon	13
D.VOLSKY: Lebanon	14
A SHIPILOV: Taking Up a Point	16
D. ZGERSKY: New Israeli Crime	22
D. ZGERSKY: Will the "Green Line"	29
Disappear	
A. STEPANOV: It Must Not Happen Again	38
D. ANTONOV: Provoked Chain Re-	•
action	40
D. ZGERSKY: Latest Round	41
A. STEPANOV: Pain and Hope	50

#### LIBYA

D. ZGERSKY: Piping an Alien Tune	4
Y. BOCHKARYOV: AWACS Diplo-	14
macy Y. BOCHKARYOV: Will They Con- sent?	20
A. TRETYAKOV: Overcoming the	25
Difficulties	72

and the second secon	
MAURITIUS	•
Mauritius (Picture Story)	10
MEXICO	
E. MONTES: In Search of Stability L. MAXIMENKO: Our Friend	6
Mexico Guanajuato (Picture Story)	32 34
Y. KNYAZEV: Non Grata Diplo- macy	46
MIDDLE EAST	
O. FOMIN: The Dacca Islamic Con-	
ference Y. GUDKOV: The Carrot for Israel,	1
the Stick for the Arabs L. MEDVEDKO: War and "Anti-	1
Peace" D. VOLSKY: What NATO is After	2
in Lebanon A. STEPANOV: The Kind of "Peace"	3
Werbington Intends	7
G. DRAMBYANTS: Thunderheads Over the Persian Gulf	10
Lawlessness or the Rule of Law (The Editor's Page)	12
D. ZGERSKY: Unwanted "Helpers"	12 13
A. STEPANOV: Threat of Interven-	22
D. VOLSKY: Guided Reaction D. VOLSKY: Counterweight to Es-	23
calation A. USVATOV: The Gulf Crisis	24
L. MEDVEDKO: Shadow of a Triple	26
Alliance D. VOLSKY: Taking Up a Point	29 32
D. VOLSKY: Diplomats or Generals? The Only Real Way (The Editor's	
Page)	33 34
A. USVATOV: The Two Against	35 37
A. STEPANOV: It Must Not Happen Again	38
D. VOLSKY: Resuscitation of Corp- ses?	40
F. LANGER: Abyss of Blood and Hatred	40
D. ZGERSKY: Latest Round The Soviet Union and the Middle	41
East (The Editor's Page) A. STEPANOV: Study of the Gulf	43
(Book Review) D. VOLSKY: Horizontal Escalation?	43 45
D. VOLSKY: Horizoniai Escalarioni D. VOLSKY: Sinister Knot	52
MONGOLIA	
V. GODYNA: For a Peace in Asia V. GODYNA: Dedication to a Peace	- 1
ful Asia A. KRIVEL: Erdenet	15 18
A, KRIVEL, Eldonol	

M. DUGUERSUREN: Internationalist Policy of Peace (Interview)

28

B. PISHCHIK: Old Soldiers - Re-B. PISHCHIK: Old Soldiers Re-call 34 Jambyn Batmunkh Elected MPRP General Secretary 36 V. GODYNA: Complete Unanimity 45 V. GODYNA: Conturies Compressed into Decades 47

# MOZAMBIQUE

V. MIDTSEV: "Peacemaking" N			Mas-	12
querade Y. BOCHKARYOV;	Out	to	De-	12
stabilize				49

.

# NAMIBIA

Y. BOCHKARYOV: Namibia Talks	
Wrecked	21
Y. BOCHKARYOV: Just Another	
Trick	26
SAM NUJOMA: SWAPO Fights On	
(Interview)	27
L. SKURATOV: Those "Flexible"	
Racists	32
V. GALIN: Robbing the Rightful	
Owners	35
T. FIRSOVA: Ethnic Cosmotics	46
and the second	

### NEPAL

L. KHLEBNIKOV:	Catching	Up	
with the Times	-	•	29
Nepal (Picture Stor	ry)		41

# NETHERLANDS

V. MOLCHANOV: Time of Decision N. ZHOLKVER: Holland and the	6
Missiles	12
V. MOLCHANOV: Dublous Decision	25
V. BOIKOV: With Both Stick and	
Carrot	32
V. MOLCHANOV: Peace Fighters	
Sue the State	50

# NEW ZEALAND

A. KUZNETSOV: Voters Revolt NICARAGUA	31
A. USVATOV: Unity and Restraint V. DOLGOV: The Sun Will Not	1
Rise in the Evening	2
A. VLADIMIROV: A Lot of Wind V. DOLGOV: In the Land of San-	5
dino Policy of Brigandage (The Editor's	10
Page) A. BARYSHEV: In the Pillory	14 17
A. BARYSHEV: Washington Against Everybody	18
A. VLADIMIROV; U.S. Aggression Condemned A. VLADIMIROV: Crocodile Jaws C.F. CHAMORRO BARRIO; The Mil-	20 21
itary Front and the Political (Inter- view)	22
the Pillory	23
D. ORTEGA: Revolution on the	

Y. GODUNSKY: The Road to Re-	
vival	29
D. VOLSKY: A Scenario and the	
Motives	34
V. DOLGOV: The First Free Elec-	
tions	38
V. DOLGOV: Direct Aggression	
Planned	41
V. KSENIN: Comic-Strip Murder	
Manual	43
H, RUIZ: Elections: Strategy and	
Tactics( Interview)	44
More About Terrorism	44
A. VLADIMIROV: The People's	•••
Will	46
V. DOLGOV: Threat of Intervention	47
V. DOLGOV: An Anxious Time	49
Y. DEPOROV: U.S. in the Dock	51

#### NIGERIA

L. SKURATOV: The Military Back in	
Power	2
Y. DOLETOV: Repercussions of the	_
Military Coup	7

#### NORWAY

Oslo (Picture Story)	. 7
D. KISELYOV: Ambassador and H "Sons"	34
B. KOZLOV: "Norwegians Wi Never Forget"	11 42

#### OCEANIA

O. KUROCHKIN: Annexation Piece-	
meal	15
A. USVATOV: Peace for the	
Pacific	38
O. KUROCHKIN: The Pentagón	
Sets Its Sights on Micronesia	48
A. KUZNETSOV: The Solomon	
Islands Under Washington Pres-	
sure	49
N. AGAYANTS: No Eden Now	49
A. KUZNETSOV: For Independ-	
ence, Not Autonomy	50
• •	

#### PAKISTAN

L. YELIN: Spiders in a Jar	10
L. ZHEGALOV: Ambitions Global	
and Local	11
L. YELIN: Supply and Demand	12
L. YELIN: Hawkeye on the Way	16
E. LVOV: I Won't Permit Itl	17
L. MIRONOV: Fine Words, But	22
Lahore (Picture Story)	26
E. LVOV: Old News, Odd Logic	31
V. TIMOFEYEV: The Threads Lead to Pakistan	48

#### PERU

V. LISTOV:	The	Taut	Strings	of	
Chiclayo					46

# PHILIPPINES

L. YELIN: The Mantras Didn't Help 51

# POLAND

V. TSOPPI: Hope Is Becoming a Certainty (Book Review)	10
V. CHERNYSHOV: Rallying the	
Forces of Socialist Poland	14
V. TSOPPI: Unity	20
V. GANYUSHKIN: Friends Visit	
Friends	21
V. TSOPPI: What the Elections	
Showed	27
V. IONOV: U.S. Interference Ex-	
posed (Book Review)	28
V. TSOPPI: Weekdays and a Holi-	
	30
	31
V. TSOPPI: Vital Strength	33
Made in Poland (Picture Story)	22
A. YERMAKOV: More Light on the	~ /
Anti-Polish Conspiracy	34
M. FYODOROV: Jablonna-5: Re-	
sponsibility of the Journalist	50

#### PORTUGAL

2
13
17
22
33
36
50
49
51
52

### ROMANIA

V. GRISHIN: Guidelines of Co-	7
operation V. ANDREYEV: To Our Mutual Ben-	'
efit	24
V. KLIMENKO, B. KOZLOV: The Inscription on the Obelisk	34
S. MENSHIKOV: Rediscovering Ro- mania	46
V. ANDREYEV: The Romanian Com- munist Party Congress	49

#### EL SALVADOR

A. BARYSHEV: Means of Last	~
Resort?	5
I. BYKOVA: Films of Struggle	11
E. NADEZHDIN: Needed: Negotia-	
tion, Not Sham Election	12
V. MASHIN: The Long and the	
Short of It	13
2001 01 11	15
A. BARISHEY. THE Electron Later	
A. BARYSHEV: Duarte Again	21
A. BARYSHEV: Meaningful Details	23
S. TSEPULIN: Semi-Done Justice	29
S. ISEPULIN: Semi-Done Justice	L7
A. BARYSHEV: Of Visas and	
	52
Symbols	

# SOUTH AFRICA

L. SKURATOV: Complicity in Ag- gression V. ALEXANDROV: Poisoners Y. BOCHKARYOV: Massive Aggres- sion M. ZARIPOV: Tank in a Bakery Window Y. BOCHKARYOV: Manoeuvring V. ALEXANDROV: What He Has Raised M. ZARIPOV: Who'll Take Pity? V. MIDTSEV: "Peacemaking" Mas- querade A. NIKITIN: So Just and Free L. SKURATOV: Yet Another Ruse L. SKURATOV: Yet Another Ruse L. SKURATOV: Hand in Glove V. GALIN: Beware of Koeberg B. ASOYAN: Nuclear Bomb in Pre-	1 2 8 8 10 11 12 12 13 14 14 20
toria's Hands? M. ZARIPOV: Prison Island Y. BOCHKARYOV: Condoning Rac- ism L. SKURATOV: No Sofa for Pieter Botha Y. BOCHKARYOV: Intrigue Against Angola Y. BOCHKARYOV: Rebuff to Racists L. SKURATOV: A Stigma, Not a Halo Y. BOCHKARYOV: Police-Club Liberals L. SKURATOV: Farce Y. KARAULOV: No Sensation D. ZGERSKY: Kindred Souls E. LVOV: Black and White T. FIRSOVA: Lily-White Diplomacy	21 23 24 26 31 36 37 40 40 44 45 47 50
SPAIN	_
V. VIKTOROV: Sinister Alliance V. LAVRENOV: The Price of Ad- mission N. ZHOLKVER: Sales Promotion N. ZHOLKVER: Keep Off1 Trade Union Visit O. KLIMOVA: Ever-Living Flame N. YERSHOVA: Just for the Fun of It V. CHIRKOV: Fruitful Dialogue A. MEDVEDENKO: Sustained Pres- sure I. MIKHLIN: Under Pro-Atlantic Pressure V. VOLKOV: For a Nuclear-Free Iberian Peninsular Valencia (Picture Story)	3 11 13 14 18 20 21 28 35 49 49
SRI LANKA	· .
A. ULANSKY: Mossad Steps In? A. DYMKOV: Darkened Skies V. YAKOVLEV: Why Solomon Bandaranaike Was Murdered A. MIKHAILOV: What's in Walters' Briefcase?	27 39 43 52
SUDAN	
---	----------
Y. BOCHKARYOV: AWACS Dip- lomacy	14
SWEDEN	
D. KISELYOV: Dictating to Sweden D. KISELYOV: A Third Kind of Logic	2 10
V. MOLCHANOV: Through Six De- cades D. KISELYOV: Paranoia	11 16
SWITZERLAND	
E. MOROZOV: His Contribution	2
SYRIA	
A. USVATOV: Syria's Firmness, Soviet Support G. MUSAELYAN: Nation on the	13
Alert	28
A. STEPANOV: Confidence and Fortitude	44
TUNISIA	
A. USVATOV: The Bread Dis- turbances	5
TURKEY	
V. ALEXANDROV: Though the Government is a Civilian One Y. LEBEDEV: Different Yardstick	4 15
V. MASHIN: Denials, More Denials	23 30
Y. LEBEDEV: That Criminal Press L. YURIEV: Taking His Cue from	
Thatcher? L. YURIEV: Grocer to the West?	35 42
T. IGROV: Their Crime? Working for Peace	43
UGANDA	,
Uganda (Picture Story) B. KRIVTSOV: "The Gem of	20
Africa"—Light and Shadow	35
UNITED ARAB EMIRATES	
United Arab Emirates (Picture Story)	27
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA	
Y. GUDKOV: The Carrot for Israel, the Stick for the Arabs V. GUSHCHIN: No Joking Matter	1
L. DEKABREV: Lie Detector for	

Export?

lizers

So Good of Him

.

Don't Believe John Hackett D. VOLSKY: Treacherous Tranquil-

V. GUSHCHIN: How Serious?	4
L. DEKABREV: Sobering V. RYKUNOV: Strategy of Space	-
Terrorism	4
Y, GUDKOV: Castaways	4
Y TSAPLIN: In a Hurry S SERGEYEV: The Zhao Ziang	
Visit to the U.S.	5
V. GUSHCHIN: Words and Their	
Meaning I BEZYMENSKY: What Will "Fill	5
L. BEZYMENSKY: What Will "Fill the Bill"?	5
A. VLADIMIROV: A Lot of Wind	5
L. MLECHIN: CIA Against Austra-	r
lia Honest, Equal, and Substantive	5
(The Editor's Page)	6
D. MAXIMOV: Who Is Violating	
Commitments	6
Y. GUDKOV: Behind the Rhetoric	6
V. GUSHCHIN: "More Nutmeg than	,
Anywhere Eise" L. YELIN: Base Triangle	6
Y. GUDKOV: Exercise in Bombast	7
A. BARYSHEV: Under the "Big	-
Pine" Code Name V. ALEXANDROV: Competent	7
Opinion	7
N. SHMELYOV: Backpedalling	7
A. ZLOBIN: Speech is Golden A. GURNOV: Tunnel Vision	7 7
A. STEPANOV: The Kind of "Peace"	
Washington Intends	7
V. MOŘEV: The Shultz Tour A. CHERNYAKOV: Outer-Space	8
A. CHERNYAKOV: Outer-Space	8
T. NATALIN: Sinful George	9
O. FOMIN: What the U.S. Seeks in the Arab World (Book Review)	9
D. VOLSKY: Washington Plot	,
Against the Third World	10
A. USVATOV: Impotence of Force	10
P. KUZNETSOV: More New Jerseys G. SIDOROVA: Dollar Electioneer-	10
ing	10
A. STEPANOV: A Fiasco	11
Y. KARAULOV: Teaching Them How Y. GUDKOV: Start of the Election	11
Marathon	12
V. GUSHCHIN: "Guaranteed"	
Interference	12
S. MIKHAILOV: Another Billion for Lies	12

A. BARANOVA: With a Base on

Banditry as Policy (The Editor's

M. FROLOV: Door-Slamming Policy D. MAXIMOV: Neutron Gifts Y. GUDKOV: The Iron Heel of

M. TARATUTA: Taking Up a Point The Word and the Deed (The

O. VALENTINOV: The Spreading

A. BARYSHEV: The Demagogy and

V. GUSHCHIN: How Serious?

Mars

Page)

Cancer

Substance

Agribusiness

Editor's Page)

Lies M. FROLOV: At the Word "Peace" 

Y. GUDKOV: The Intervention in	
Lebanon	13 13
D. VOLSKY: Bluff or Real Threat? V. MASHIN: The Long and the	15
Short of It	13
Policy of Brigandage (The Editor's	•
Page)	14
V. TSOPPI: Harmonious Disaccord?	14
M. TARATUTA: What Would Lin- coln Say?	14
V. GUSHCHIN: It's All in the	•••
Pocket	14
L. YELIN: Prelude to the Event	14
V. KAZAKOV: Washington's Star-	14
War Ambitions O. KUROCHKIN: Annexation Piece-	14
meal	15
A. KOSENKO: Standing It on Its	
Head	15
G. SIDOROVA: The Death Mer-	15
A. ZVEREV, E. MYAGKOV: Get-	
ting Others to Pay for Militariza-	
tion	15
V. GUSHCHIN: Measure for All	16
Things A. BARYSHEV: Militarist Rampaging	16
V CAVELVEV No Holds Barred	16
Y. GUDKOV: The Keeper of the	
Philosophical Flame	17
M. CHERNOUSOV: When Thomas	17 <sup>.</sup>
Powers Was Frank Y. GUDKOV: Resisting Big	17
Business Onslaught	18
V. TSOPP1: Wolf-Pack Ethics	18
V. GUSHCHIN: All Their Eggs in	
One Basket	18
V. ALEXANDROV: What Really	
Matters	18
N. KOZYREV, D. POGORZHELSKY:	
Inspection or Snooping?	19
V. ALEXANDROV: In Respect of	
"Respect"	19
E. LVOV:And of Election	
Votes	19
Y. UZIN: "Angel" and Others A. NIKOLAYEV: All-Star Parade	19 19
S. SERGEYEV: What Reagan Was	17
After in China	20
V. ALEXANDROV: Doing Well	20
M. MAKEYEV: In the U.N. and	20
Elsewhere K. IONOV: Counting on the	20
"Wonder Weapon" (Book Review)	20
Y. GUDKOV: The White House and	
Budget Deficits	21
V. MASHIN: With an Eye to Poll- ing Day	21
L. YELIN: Practising	
L. YELIN: Practising B. ZARITSKY: Nettles for Casey	21 21
B. ZARITSKY: Nettles for Casey G. SIDOROVA: Freedom, Liberty	21
B. ZARITSKY: Nettles for Casey G. SIDOROVA: Freedom, Liberty Y. TAVROVSKY: The Far Eastern	21 21 21
B. ZARITSKY: Nettles for Casey G. SIDOROVA: Freedom, Liberty Y. TAVROVSKY: The Far Eastern Card	21 21
B. ZARITSKY: Nettles for Casey G. SIDOROVA: Freedom, Liberty Y. TAVROVSKY: The Far Eastern	21 21 21
B. ZARITSKY: Nettles for Casey G. SIDOROVA: Freedom, Liberty Y. TAVROVSKY: The Far Eastern Card A. STEPANOV: Threat of Inter- vention Y. KNYAZEV: Just Observing	21 21 21 22
B. ZARITSKY: Nettles for Casey G. SIDOROVA: Freedom, Liberty Y. TAVROVSKY: The Far Eastern Card A. STEPANOV: Threat of Inter- vention Y. KNYAZEV: Just Observing I. BLISHCHENKO: Washington in	21 21 21 22 22 22
B. ZARITSKY: Nettles for Casey G. SIDOROVA: Freedom, Liberty Y. TAVROVSKY: The Far Eastern Card A. STEPANOV: Threat of Inter- vention Y. KNYAZEV: Just Observing	21 21 21 22 22 22

V. GUSHCHIN: Days of Mourning	23
A. KARENIN: Perverted Logic	24
A. BARYSHEV: Double-Dealing	24
V. SERGEYEV: Who's Next in Line?	24
Y. GUDKOV: Why Businessmen	
Want Trade	24
L. ZHEGALOV: Lesson for the	
	24
Washington Mentors	24
METROPOLITAN YUVENALIY:	
Churchmen's Peace Mission fo the	
U.S.	25
Co-operation Is Possible	25
M. TARATUTA: Pre-Election	
"Triumph of Justice"	25
G. BORISOVA: "Value for Money"	25
A MADIMIROW Denial Deniad	25
A. VLADIMIROV: Denial Denied	20 20
S. ZINCHUK: Washington's Chain	
of Blocs	25
V. BUNIN: Bases of Aggression	25
Y, GUDKOV: The Democrats' Elec-	
	25
tion Marathon	25
L. YELIN: The Second Coming of	
Midas	25
	26
Dubious Policy	
V. RYKUNOV: Poison and Lies	26
D. POGORZHELSKY: Slyboots	
Speakes & Co.	26
S. MIKHAILOV: Professor Cohen's	
Conclusion	27
G. MYASNIKOV: Wilson, Turpil and	
the "Grey Wolves"	27
A. GLOTOCHKIN, S. LAVRENOV:	
	27
Playing at "Barbarossa"	<b>21</b> .
Washington: A Mecca for Terrorists	
(The Editor's Page)	28
D. VOLSKY: Politics Is Not a Game	
	28
of Draughts	
E. LVOV: War on the Poor	28
Y. KNYAZEV: Study in Scarlet	28
V. KUZAR: U.S. and Allies Build	
	28
Up Their Naval Power	20
Knots Must Be Untied (The Editor's	
Page)	29
G. STAKH: Washington's Dishonest	
-	29
Game	4.7
A. NATAROV: Disinherited for	
Life	29
G. SIDOROVA: Lie-Detector	
Freedom	29
P. MASHIN: The Reaganite "Olive	
	30
Branch''	50
A. NIKITIN: Pressuring Greece	30
A. ARKHIPOV: So Free with Public	
Money	30
L. VELIKOVICH: Militarism Mouth-	50
L. YELIKOYICH: Mundrisin Mouth-	
ing the Name of God	30
D. VOLSKY: Pacific Stratagem	31
A. ARKHIPOV: The Democrats'	
Choice	31
D. ANTONOV: Confrontation Prov-	•••
	34
ing Ground?	31
A. ANDREYEV: Human Rights	31
V. GODYNA: Fun and Games	31
B. KOZLOV: In Dudgeon at the	
Truth	32
	32
M. OSOKIN: The Doctor's Career	
A. NATAROV: In the "Society of	
Equal Opportunity"	32

G. HALL: The Reagan Trip to China 32 G. BAZHENOV: The Sanctions a Failure 33 D. POGORZHELSKY: Sabotage 33 Y. GUDKOV: Ready to Go All the Way 33.34 Witches' Sabbath of Revanchism (The Editor's Page) V. BOIKOV: Who Works for Dis-34 armament and Who Against 34 D. VOLSKY: A Scenario and the Motives 34 A. YERMAKOV: More Light on the Anti-Polish Conspiracy 34 V. TSOPPI: A Real Patriot 34 D. KISELYOV: Ambassador and His "Sons" 34 M. OSOKIN: "Reports" about Nothing 34 Without Jokes or Parallels (The Editor's Page) 35 V. BOIKOV: Hiffing Allies in the Pocketbook 35 Y. KNYAZEV: Shaky Foundation 35 Y. GUDKOV: On the Way to a Rude Awakening 36 G. SIDOROVA: Washington's Poisoned Darts 36 V. GRISHIN: Dangerous Alliance 36 A. KUZNETSOV: Shining City-for Whom? 36 D. VOLSKY: Back to Colonialism? 36 V. TSOPPI: Flight 007, the Pentagon, et Cetera 36 V. LYUBOVTSEV: Taking Up a Point 36 From Positions of Realism (The Editor's Page) 37 M. OSOKIN: Laser Guinea Pigs 37 A. KARENIN: Against the Whole World 38 S. MIKHAILOV: Hatemongering 38 Y. KARAULOV: Rash Request 38 YELIN: Still at It 39 L. A. NATAROV: That "Free World" 40 F. GORYUNOV: Taking Up a Point 40 A. ARKHIPOV: Through the Election Prism 41 V. DOLGOV: Direct Aggression Planned 41 L. YELIN: Cloak-and-Dagger Demo-41 cracy... M. TARATUTA: ... and "Quief" Diplomacy 41 A. KARETIN: Sinister Trail of the CIA (Book Review) 41 Deeds, Not Words, Are the Criterion (The Editor's Page) 42 A. KARENIN: For Peace in Outer 42 Space D. VOLSKY: Pentagon "Asiamissiles"? 42 A. ARKHIPOV: Made-to-Order In-42 telligence S. BORISOV: How the Administration's Money Ran Out V. CHERNYAVSKY: Taking Up a 43 43 Point is a Shift Towards Better Relations

Possible? (The Editor's Page)

D. VOLSKY: Dangerous Reciprocify 44 A. ANDREYEV: Sheer Coincidence 44 More About Terrorism 44 L. YELIN: Thank You, Americal 44 D. VOLSKY: Horizontal Escalation? 45 A. BOROVIK: America's Slaves 45 Y. GUDKOV: Going the Whole Hog 46 V. SOBOLEV: Genocide in the Jungle 46 Y. DIMOV: From Under the Counter 46 A. MOISEYEV: Peace Corps Againi 46 No Alternative (The Editor's Page) 47 A. ARKHIPOV: For a Second Term 47 M. TARATUTA: Put on the Shelf 47 V. MASHIN: The Onion-Knowers 47 V. CHERNOV: Why the Myth 47 L. MODZHORYAN The Zionist Lobby: Pressure Levers 47 D. VOLSKY: Diplomacy of Intimidation 48 O. KUROCHKIN: The Pentagon Sets Its Sights on Micronesia 48 B. JOHNS: The Truth, and Nothing but the Truth 48 V. MASHIN: Out-Heroding Herod 48 D. SMIRNOV: Delta Again 48 V. GRISHIN: A "Point of Honour" 48 V. KUZNETSOV: Put the Brakes on the Nuclear Conveyor Belts 49 A. ARKHIPOV: In Line with That Famous Doctrine 49 V. GUSHCHIN: "Revolving Doors" 49 G. BORISOVA: New "Logs" for the CIA 49 **Operation Paperclip** 49 Shut Weapons Out of Space (The Editor's Page) 50 V. CHERNÖV: Now We Know 50 A. ARKHIPOV: Zealous and Vigilant 50 V. MIDTSEV: The Same Old Policy 50 Criminal Policy Stands Condemned (The Editor's Page) 51 A. GURNOV: Washington's Grenada "Experiment" and Its Meaning G. SIDOROVA: Point-Blank 51 51 O. YURIEV: Diplomatic Red-Pencil 51 Y. DEPOROV: U.S. in the Dock 51 A. KARENIN: To Stop the Perilous Race 52 L. YELIN: If Will Be a "Crushing" Victory 52 D. VOLSKY: Sinister Knot 57

#### URUGUAY

		V: The	Generals	
	sieged MEDVEDE	NKO: On t	ha Eva	7
Â.	BARYSHE	V: The Uru	guay Elec-	47
tio			gady Liec-	49
				- 47
			• , •	. 47

#### VATICAN

I. GRIGULEVICH:	Italy:	The	New	
Concordat				20
V. KSENIN: Papal	Death	Myst	ery	29
A. SHIPILOV: Taki	ng Up	a Pc	oint	48

## VIETNAM

V. KUZMICHOV:   Conference in     Y. KUZMICHOV:   Conference in     Vientiane:   The Future Belongs to     Dialogue   7     P. AKIMOV:   Barbarism     10   TROFIMOVA:     I. TROFIMOVA:   On the Banks of     the River Song Huong   10     Y. KUZMICHOV:   Two Tendencies     I. FONYAKOV:   Ho Chi Minh City     on the Saigon River   18     V. GODYNA:   The Lessons of Dien     Bien Phu   19     T. NEKHAMKINA:   Vietnamese     Handicrafts (Picture Story)   29     V. GODYNA:   His Heart Beat for     Vietnam   30     M. ILYINSKY:   On the Scales of     Life   36     D. VOLSKY:   Pure, Clean Relations     V. KHREKOV:   Viatally Important to     All Three   44     A. MINEYEV:   Construction Along     the Great River   44	A. MINEYEV: Awakening of the	
Vientiane: The Future Belongs to Dialogue   7     P. AKIMOV: Barbarism   10     I. TROFIMOVA: On the Banks of the River Song Huong   10     Y. KUZMICHOV: Two Tendencies   16     I. FONYAKOV: Ho Chi Minh City on the Saigon River   18     V. GODYNA: The Lessons of Dien Bien Phu   19     T. NEKHAMKINA: Vietnamese Handicrafts (Picture Story)   29     V. GODYNA: His Heart Beat for Vietnam   30     M. ILYINSKY: On the Scales of Life   36     D. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations   41     V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important to All Three   44     A. MINEYEV: Construction Along the Great River   44	Central Highlands	6
Dialogue7P. AKIMOV: Barbarism10I. TROFIMOVA: On the Banks ofthe River Song Huong10Y. KUZMICHOV: Two Tendencies1. FONYAKOV: Ho Chi Minh Cityon the Saigon River18V. GODYNA: The Lessons of DienBien Phu19T. NEKHAMKINA: VietnameseHandicrafts (Picture Story)29V. GODYNA: His Heart Beat forVietnam30M. ILYINSKY: On the Scales ofLife36D. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations41V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important toAll Three44A. MINEYEV: Construction Alongthe Great River44	Y. KUZMICHOV: Conference in	
Dialogue7P. AKIMOV: Barbarism10I. TROFIMOVA: On the Banks ofthe River Song Huong10Y. KUZMICHOV: Two Tendencies1. FONYAKOV: Ho Chi Minh Cityon the Saigon River18V. GODYNA: The Lessons of DienBien Phu19T. NEKHAMKINA: VietnameseHandicrafts (Picture Story)29V. GODYNA: His Heart Beat forVietnam30M. ILYINSKY: On the Scales ofLife36D. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations41V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important toAll Three44A. MINEYEV: Construction Alongthe Great River44	Vientiane: The Future Belongs to	
P. AKIMOV: Barbarism   10     I. TROFIMOVA: On the Banks of     the River Song Huong   10     Y. KUZMICHOV: Two Tendencies   16     I. FONYAKOV: Ho Chi Minh City   16     on the Saigon River   18     V. GODYNA: The Lessons of Dien   19     Bien Phu   19     T. NEKHAMKINA: Vietnamese   19     Handicrafts (Picture Story)   29     V. GODYNA: His Heart Beat for   30     M. ILYINSKY: On the Scales of   36     Life   36     D. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations   41     V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important to   41     A. MINEYEV: Construction Along   44		7
I. TROFIMOVA: On the Banks of the River Song Huong   10     Y. KUZMICHOV: Two Tendencies   16     I. FONYAKOV: Ho Chi Minh City on the Saigon River   18     V. GODYNA: The Lessons of Dien Bien Phu   19     T. NEKHAMKINA: Vietnamese   19     Handicrafts (Picture Story)   29     V. GODYNA: His Heart Beat for   30     M. ILYINSKY: On the Scales of Life   36     D. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations   41     V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important to All Three   44     A. MINEYEV: Construction Along the Great River   44		10
the River Song Huong10Y. KUZMICHOV: Two Tendencies16I. FONYAKOV: Ho Chi Minh City16v. GODYNA: The Lessons of Dien18Bien Phu19T. NEKHAMKINA: Vietnamese19Handicrafts (Picture Story)29V. GODYNA: His Heart Beat for30M. ILYINSKY: On the Scales of36Life36V. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations41V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important to41A. MINEYEV: Construction Along44	1 TROFIMOVA: On the Banks of	
Y. KUZMICHOV: Two Tendencies   16     I. FONYAKOV: Ho Chi Minh City   18     on the Saigon River   18     V. GODYNA: The Lessons of Dien   19     Bien Phu   19     T. NEKHAMKINA: Vietnamese   19     Handicrafts (Picture Story)   29     V. GODYNA: His Heart Beat for   30     M. ILYINSKY: On the Scales of   36     D. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations   41     V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important to   All Three     A. MINEYEV: Construction Along   44	the River Song Huong	10
I. FONYAKOV: Ho Chi Minh City on the Saigon River   18     V. GODYNA: The Lessons of Dien Bien Phu   19     T. NEKHAMKINA: Vietnamese Handicrafts (Picture Story)   29     V. GODYNA: His Heart Beat for Vietnam   30     M. ILYINSKY: On the Scales of Life   36     D. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations   41     V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important to All Three   44     A. MINEYEV: Construction Along the Great River   44	V KUTMICHOV: Two Tendencies	16
on the Saigon River18V. GODYNA: The Lessons of Dien19Bien Phu19T. NEKHAMKINA: Vietnamese19Handicrafts (Picture Story)29V. GODYNA: His Heart Beat for30N. ILYINSKY: On the Scales of36Life36D. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations41V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important toAll ThreeA. MINEYEV: Construction Along44	I FONVAKOV Ho Chi Minh City	
Nic Software   19     Nic Software   19     T. NEKHAMKINA: Vietnamese   19     Handicrafts (Picture Story)   29     V. GODYNA: His Heart Beat for   29     V. GODYNA: His Heart Beat for   30     M. ILYINSKY: On the Scales of   36     D. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations   41     V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important to   41     All Three   44     A. MINEYEV: Construction Along   44		18
Bien Phu 19   T. NEKHAMKINA: Vietnamese 29   Handicrafts (Picture Story) 29   V. GODYNA: His Heart Beat for 30   M. ILYINSKY: On the Scales of 36   Life 36   D. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations 41   V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important to 44   A. MINEYEV: Construction Along 44	V CODVNA: The Lessons of Dien	••
T.   NEKHAMKINA:   Vietnamese     Handicrafts   (Picture Story)   29     V.   GODYNA:   His Heart Beat for     Vietnam   30     M.   ILYINSKY:   On the Scales of     Life   36     D.   VOLSKY:   Pure,     Clean Relations   41     V.   KHREKOV:   Vitally Important to     All Three   44     A.   MINEYEV:   Construction Along     the Great River   44		19
Handicrafts (Picture Story)29V. GODYNA: His Heart Beat for Vietnam30M. ILYINSKY: On the Scales of Life36D. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations41V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important to All Three44A. MINEYEV: Construction Along the Great River44		.,
V. GODYNA: His Heart Beat for   30     Vietnam   30     M. ILYINSKY: On the Scales of   36     Life   36     D. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations   41     V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important to   44     A. MINEYEV: Construction Along   44     the Great River   44	I. NEKHAMKINA; Vielinanioso	20
Vietnam30M. ILYINSKY: On the Scales of36Life36D. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations41V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important to41All Three44A. MINEYEV: Construction Along44the Great River44	Mandicratis (Ficture Story)	27
M. ILYINSKY: On the Scales of Life 36 D. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations 41 V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important to All Three 44 A. MINEYEV: Construction Along the Great River 44		30
Life 36 D. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations 41 V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important to All Three 44 A. MINEYEV: Construction Along the Great River 44		. 30
D. VOLSKY: Pure, Clean Relations 41 V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important to All Three 44 A. MINEYEV: Construction Along the Great River 44		21
V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important to All Three 44 A. MINEYEV: Construction Along the Great River 44		
All Three 44 A. MINEYEV: Construction Along the Great River 44		41
A. MINEYEV: Construction Along the Great River 44	V. KHREKOV: Vitally Important to	
the Great River 44		44
	A. MINEYEV: Construction Along	
L. MIRONOV: Asia Needs Security 45	the Great River	
	L. MIRONOV: Asia Needs Security	45

#### WEST BERLIN

E. BOVKUN:	Singer	of	Protest	
Sonas	-			18
V. IVIN: Resto	rina Pol	itical	Ruins	27
L. YELISEYEV:	Revanch	lst Ju	inket	39

# PEOPLE'S DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF YEMEN

P. PER	WIN	IOV:	On	the	Road	That	
Started							42

## YEMEN ARAB REPUBLIC

Yemen	Arab	Republic	(Pictur <del>e</del>	
Story)		cord of the		12 40
A. JUBR/	AN: Ke	Along the	Road of	-10
Positive	Neutra	lity (Intervi	ew)	43

#### YUGOSLAVIA

L. KHARKOV: The Main Jobto	
Stabilize Economy	5
L. KHARKOV: Fruitful Talks	11
L. KHARKOV: The Foreign Debts	
Problem	21
L. KHARKOV: The Flag of Freedom	
over Kalemegdan	43
L. KHARKOV: Equality and Mutual	
Benefit	48

## ZAIRE

Y. BOCHKARYOV: The Hidden Side of the Lumumba Assassination 3, 4

## ZAMBIA

Υ.	YURIEV:	Kenneth	Kaunda	(A	
60f	h Birthday	Note)			17

#### ZIMBABWE

۷.	KAZAKOV:	Robert	Mugabe	
(A	60th Birthday	Note)	-	8

## BOOK REVIEWS

V. CHIRKOV: Not for the Picking	- 5
L. KHARKOV: From Moscow to	
Berlin	7
V. GODYNA: Why They Came	
Home	. 8
O. FOMIN: What the U.S. Seeks	
in the Arab World	9
V. MOLCHANOV: One Way	
Towards a Nuclear-Free Europe	10
V. TSOPPI: Hope is Becoming a	•
Certainty	10
A. TOLPEGIN: How Myths Are	
Born	12
S. GOLYAKOV: The Imperative of	
Our Time	13
F. VOLOSHIN: Foreign Policy of the	
African States	14
M. CHERNOUSOV: Europe: Non-	••
Nuclear or Super-Nuclear?	15
N. YAKOVLEV: A Futile Effort	19
K. IONOV: Counting on the	.,
"Wonder Weapon"	20
Y. GVOZDEV: Crisis of the System	~~
of Imperialist Domination	21
A. MELNIKOV: Anatomy of NATO	22
Y. BOCHKARYOV: Analysis of	
Inter-African Relations	27
V. IONOV: U.S. Interference Ex-	
posed	28
N. ZHOLKVER: Shadows on a	
Hiroshima Bridge	30
S. GOLYAKOV: Peace is Formed	
by People	31
D. POGORZHELSKY: Whence the	
Threat to Peace	32
V. GUSHCHIN: A Scholarly Study	34
N. ZHOLKVER: Consistent Policy	
of Peace	35
G. SIDOROVA: What If Would Be	55
Like	38
R. KRESTYANINOV: In the Name	50
of Peace, Progress and Justice	40
A. KARETIN: Sinister Trail of the	70
CIA .	41
A. STEPANOV: Study of the Gulf	43
V. LAVRENOV: The Working Class	-5
of France and the EEC	47
V. GODYNA: Democratic Unity the	47
Imperative	48
erreperate were were at the	-70

#### PEOPLE IN THE NEWS

ALI, Kamal el-Din Hassan (Egypt) BRAHIMI, Abdelhamid (Algeria)	40 19		
BUHARI, Muhammadu (Nigeria)	7		
DIZDAREVIC, Raif (Yugoslavia)	28		
DJURANOVIC, Veselin (Yugoslavia)	26		
FABIUS, Laurent (France)	31		
FEBRES CORDERO RIVADENEIRA,			
Leon (Ecuador)	41		
GANDHI, Rajiv (India)	48		
KANG SUNG SANG (D. P. R. K.)	15		
KARAME, Rachid (Lebanon)	22		
KIM YONG NAM (D. P. R. K.)	3		
LANGE, David Russel (New			
Zealand)	37		
LUSINCHI, Jaime (Venezuela)	5		
MALRONEY, Brian (Canada)	45		
MWINYI, Ali Hassan (Tanzania)	26		
ORTEGA SAAVEDRA, Daniel (Ni-	20		
- · · · ·	40		
caragua) is in a straight an	48		
ÖZAL, Turgut (Turkey)	4 26		
SALIM, Salim Ahmed (Tanzania)			
UBEIDAT, Ahmed (Jordan)			
Von WEIZSÄCKER, Richard (West	~ .		

Germany)

34

#### DOCUMENTS

Resolution of the Supreme Soviet of the U.S.S.R. on the Infernational Situation and the Foreign Policy of the Soviet State Yuri Andropov's Reply to the French Movement "Appeal of 100" 4 To a Revolutionary and Thinker (Speech by Pyotr Demichev in Havana, January 8, 1984) Open Letter from the Central Committee of the People's Democratic Party of Afghanistan to the Central Committee of the Italian Communist Party Yuri Andropov's Replies to Ques-5 tions Put by Pravda Yuri Andropov's Reply to a Letter from UNESCO **Director-General** Amadou Mahtar M'Bow Open Letter from the Trade Unions of European Socialist Countries to the Workers and Trade Unions of Europe 6 Appeal of the WPC Presidential Committee Remove the Global Threat of Nuclear War (Statement of the WPC Presidential Committee) Message from the WPC Presidential Committee to the Participants in the

Stockholm Conference on Con-Security Building fidence and Security Building Measures and Disarmament in Europe

From the Central Committee of the Communist Party of the Soviet. Union, the Presidium of the U. S. S. R. Supreme Soviet and the U. S. S. R. Council of Ministers 7 Address of the CPSU Central Committee, the Presidium of the U.S.S.R. Supreme Soviet and the U.S.S.R. Council of Ministers to the Communist Party and the Soviet People 7 Communiqué on the Plenary Meeting of the CPSU Central Committee 8 Speech by Konstantin Chernenko 8 Speech by Nikolai Tikhonov 8 Speech by Mikhail Gorbachov 8 Communiqué of the Eighth Con-ference of the Foreign Ministers of Laos, Kampuchea and Vietnam 8 Concerning Non-Increase and Reduction of the Military Spending of the Warsaw Treaty and NATO States 11 Proposal of the Warsaw Treaty States to the NATO States Concerning Talks on Non-Increase and **Reduction of Military Spending** 11 Konstantin Chernenko's Reply to the Message of a Delegation of the Town Council of Assisi and Rep-resentatives of the Franciscan Order 15 Konstantin Chernenko's Replies to Questions Put by Pravda 16 Konstantin Chernenko's Reply to Appeal by Leaders of the Socialist International 16 Concerning the Proposal of a

Treaty on the Mutual Renunciation of the Use of Armed Force and on the Maintenance of Relations of Peace Between the Member States of the Warsaw Treaty and the Member States of NATO 20 Message of the Warsaw Treaty States to the Member Member States of the North Atlantic Treaty Organization Concerning the Conclusion of a Treaty on the Mutual Renunciation of the Use of Armed Force and on the Maintenance of Relations of Peace 20 Declaration of, the International Conference on Nicaragua and for Peace in Central America 21 Konstantin Chernenko Replies to American Scientists 22 Letter from Andrei Gromyko to U. N. Secretary-General Javier Perez de Cuellar on the Problem of the Connection Between Disarmament and Development

22

Marshal Ustinov Replies to Questions Put by a TASS Correspondent 22

of the Anti-Conference Press Zionist Committee of Soviet Public 22 Opinion Statement of the Soviet Govern-24 ment Konstantin Chernenko's Replies to Questions Put by U.S. Journalist Joseph Kingsbury-Smith 25 Konstantin Chernenko's Replies to 26 Questions Put by Pravda Economic Summit Conference of the 26 CMEA Countries Statement on the Main Directions of the Further Development and Deepening of the Economic, Scientific and Technological Co-operation of the CMEA Countries 26 Declaration of the Countries of the Council for Mutual Economic Assistance on the Maintenance of Peace and International Economic 26 Co-operation Statement by the Soviet Govern-28 ment Communiqué of the Conference of Foreign Ministers of Laos, Kampuchea and Viefnam 30 Create an Atmosphere of Trust in the World. Foreword to the book of Konstantin Chernenko's articles and speeches published in Britain 30 The Soviet Union's Proposals on a 32 Middle East Settlement Statement by the Soviet Association 32 of Maritime Law Konstantin Chernenko's Reply to Irish Peace Leader Sean McBride 34 Statement issued by the Buenos Aires Conference of South American Communist Parties 34 Konstantin Chernenko's Reply to a Message from the International Conference on Nuclear-Free Zones -36 Konstantin Chernenko's Replies to Questions Put by Pravda "To Know and Understand Each Other" (Konstantin Chernenko's 37 Foreword to a Portuguese Edition of a Book of His Articles and 38 Speeches)

40 Years of the Socialist Revolution in Bulgaria (Speech by Todor Zhivkov, General Secretary of the Bulgarian Communist Party and Chairman of the State Council, at the celebrations in Sofia)

CSO: 1812/141

Message from President Chernenko to Finnish TV Audiences 40 Speech by Erich Honecker, General Secretary of the Socialist Unity Party of Germany and Chairman of the State Council, at the October 6 Celebrations in Berlin Marking the 35th Anniversary of the German Democratic Republic 42 Konstantin Chernenko's Replies to Questions Put by the Washington Post 44 Appeal to Ecologists and All Inin Environmental Convolved servation Press Conference of the Anti-Zionist **Committee of Soviet Public Opinion** 44 Konstantin Chernenko's Message to American readers of a collection and speeches of his articles published in the U.S.A. 47 Konstantin Chernenko's Replies to Questions Put by NBC News Correspondent Marvin Kalb 48 Zionism—A Threat to Peace and International Security. Statement by the Anti-Zionist Committee of Soviet Public Opinion 49 Communiqué on the Warsaw Treaty Foreign Ministers' Committee Meet-51 ina Letter from Jose Eduardo dos Santos, President of the People's Republic of Angola, to the Secretary-General of the United Nations 51 Speech by Fidel Castro at the First National Forum on Energy Problems 52

#### NT ATLAS

France This year the following supplement was put out for our subscribers: "The Three Centres of Present-Day Imperialism: U. S. A.—E. E. C.— Japan" (With No. 40)

٨

INTERNATIONAL

# JAPAN ACCUSED OF POACHING SOVIET SALMON IN OPEN OCEAN

PM071101 [Editorial Report] Moscow IZVESTIYA in Russian in its 4 February 1985 Morning Edition publishes on page 5 a 1,800 word article by special correspondents A. Illesh and A. Pralnikov entitled "Tour of Three Seas." It describes how the writers spent 4 days flying over the Sea of Japan, the Sea of Okhotsk, and the Bering Sea to investigate violations of the Pacific salmon fishing regulations. The article points out that Japan, Korea, and Taiwan fish for salmon far out to sea in the northwest Pacific, while the USSR, the United States, and Canada fish only in coastal waters--which does not deplete fish stocks in the way that deep-sea fishing does. It continues as follows:

A get a second second

"Almost all salmon of Asian origin spawn in Soviet rivers. The USSR spends huge amounts--approximately R50 million a year--on reproduction, the construction of fish nurseries, and the cleaning up of rivers to which Asian salmon go to spawn. Therefore we have reason to ban fishing in the open sea.

"But the Soviet Union, taking account of the whole range of fishing ties between our countries and seeking to develop good-neighborly relations, allowed Japan to fish in open waters in the northwest Pacific. And Japan agreed to compensate us for part of our fishing organizations' expenditure on the reproduction of Far Eastern salmon.

"Fishing areas and dates were set, as were quotas for catches in metric tons and numbers of fish.

"But here are a number of figures: 2, 23, 83, 234, 419... They show the growth in violations of the fishing regulations by Japanese ships from 1979 through 1983. And almost all the regulations have been violated..."

The writers go on to describe how they observed boats, their names deliberately covered up, fishing in a prohibited area. The fact was reported to a Soviet inspection ship. They also saw Taiwanese boats fishing illegally. The article continues:

"Later (in Moscow) we learned that last year, according to the minimum estimate, the damage caused by poaching by fishermen from Taiwan amounted to almost R70 million. That was for salmon alone...

"Japanese inspectors have also repeatedly informed our side about encounters with Taiwanese poachers. Thanks for the assistance, but it has to be remarked that our Japanese colleagues detect their own violators all too rarely. Let us give them their due, though: the number of violations decreased in 1984. However, the Japanese fishing department stubbornly refuses to allow our inspectors to monitor the catch in the Japanese ports where the fish are handed over."

The article notes the strange phenomenon whereby, when an inspector is on board a fishing boat, it frequently catches far more fish than stated in its log book. The writers claim that poachers have an early warning system to warn of the approach of Soviet inspection ships, and that "secret" nets are used to boost the catch. In addition, they state, the type of nets used by Japanese fishermen are harmful to other kinds of salmon apart from the humpback, which is what they are after: "According to approximate data, indirect fishing losses could exceed 30 percent (!) of the catch. And if all the losses are added up (of course we do not count poaching--just losses from 'fishing according to the rules'), it turns out that in sea fishing for salmon the losses are greater (!) than the catch."

CSO: 1807/223

Ţ.

INTERNATIONAL

# CEMA CONSTRUCTION SPECIALISTS' MEETING IN TASHKENT

[Editorial Report] Tashkent PRAVDA VOSTOKA in Russian 25 January 1985 carries on page 4 a 200-word UzTAG article titled "In the Interests of the Fraternal Countries." A conference of CEMA specialists on "The Physical and Mechanical Characteristics of Cement Varieties" ended its work on 24 January in Tashkent. Ye.N. Shcherbakov, head of the Soviet delegation and chief of a sector in the All-Union Scientific Research Institute for Transport Construction summed up the joint studies in the area of the properties of concrete and fittings and, in addition, noted the contributions of Uzbek scholars in discovering energy-efficient means for producing and using cement especially in warm climates and areas with high seismic activity. The Polish delegate to the meeting, Leslaw Brunarski, assistant professor at a construction technology institute in Warsaw, spoke of the usefulness of such conferences in saving time and energy, accelerating the application to production of research work, and in avoiding diffusion of efforts.

CSO: 1830/338

### INTERNATIONAL

## BRIEFS

FRENCH CULTURAL WORKERS IN TURKMENISTAN--(TurkmenINFORM) A delegation of French workers in literature and art, and activists of the France-USSR Society, has visited Ashkhabad in connection with Days of France in Turkmenistan. The delegation is headed by R. Offrois, president of the France-USSR Society. They met with R. A. Bazarova, deputy chairman of the Turkmen SSR Council of Ministers. [Summary] [Ashkhabad TURKMENSKAYA ISKRA in Russian 18 Jan 85 p 3]

RADIO-TV PROTOCOL WITH KUWAIT--A protocol on exchanges in the field of radio and television between the USSR State Committee for Television and Radio Broadcasting and the Ministry of Information of Kuwait was signed in that country's capital. It covers the period 1985-86. The sides will send each other feature and documentary television films and television programs about the life of the two countries, and also radio programs and music recordings. [Text] [Moscow Television Service in Russian 1335 GMT 15 Jan 85 LD]

CSO: 1812/146

## NATIONAL

#### CHERNENKO'S OLD BORDER UNIT RECEIVES AWARD

PM201618 Moscow KRASNAYA ZVEZDA in Russian 20 Feb 85 Second Edition p 1

[Lieutenant Colonel A. Ladin report: "Award to Border Guards"]

[Text] The volunteer Konstantin Ustinovich Chernenko came to serve in this border guard detachment in 1930. Here he was admitted to Communist Party membership. Here the Communist border guards elected him secretary of the party organization. Many memorable pages have been written in the detachment's combat history by the border guards of the thirties and other generations of vigilant border guards.

And now a joyful new event has occurred--Challenge Red Banners of the Kazakh Communist Party Central Committee, Kazakh SSR Council of Ministers, and USSR KGB Border Guards Military Council have been presented to the Red Banner border detachment.

Speaking at a rally of the personnel and representatives of the public, Lieutenant General V. Donskov, commander of the Red Banner Eastern Border District, noted that the detachment is honorably continuing the glorious traditions of the older generation of defenders of our motherland's sacred borders. For 3 successive years now the servicemen have achieved excellent indicators in training and service. The detachment has been entered on the border guards' roll of honor. It has been decided that the USSR KGB Border Guards Red Banner, which the detachment has won for the third time, should remain here permanently.

The rally participants adopted with great enthusiasm a letter to the CPSU Central Committee and Comrade K.U. Chernenko.

CSO: 1830/361

NATIONAL

# COMMUNIST APPROACH TO DEMOCRACY EXPLAINED

PM041346 Moscow PRAVDA in Russian 14 Dec 84 Second Edition pp 2, 3

[Article by E. Kuzmin under the rubric "Questions of Theory": "The Communists and Democracy"; capitalized passages between slantlines printed in boldface type]

[Text] Democracy... With what different, and sometimes contradictory, interpretations this concept has been and is invested. The following question acts as the main watershed here: Does democracy bring people the light of truth, the triumph of genuine freedom, social justice, and humanism, or is it merely a political cover for the dominance of one class over another?

To answer this question we must first of all explain the essence of democracy as a form of political power, as a state system, which is one of the forms it takes. Naturally, this aspect of democracy which always manifests itself concretely, depending on the class essence of the given state, attracts Marxism-Leninism's main attention.

Bourgeois ideologists and opportunists view democracy as a kind of absolute with a set of characteristic features (a multiparty system, the presence of an opposition, parliamentary elections, and so forth). Simultaneously they are stubbornly trying to force this multiform phenomenon of life into a Procrustean bed of abstract schemata. One cannot but recall F. Engels' prophesy here, that in the epoch of socialist revolutions "pure" democracy will become the bourgeoisie's "last haven." "...During the crisis and the day after," he wrote, "our only opponent will be //THE ENTIRE REACTIONARY MASS RALLIED AROUND PURE DEMOCRACY..."// (K. Marx and F. Engels, Works, Volume 36, page 218). But whereas before this concept was used primarily to justify the bourgeois system of power nowadays its strategic functions are: First, to serve as an ideological weapon for undermining socialist power of the people, and second, to act as a kind of "huckster" to attract developing countries.

"Democracy for a negligible minority, democracy for the rich--this is the capitalist society's democratism," V.I. Lenin observed. "Taking a closer look at the mechanism of capitalist democracy, we discover restrictions everywhere, even restrictions on democratism." (Complete Works, Volume 33, page 88).

Nowadays, the monopolistic bourgeoisie can no longer ignore the political activeness of the working people and the increased cohesion and might of the

working class, and is sometimes forced to make certain concessions. True, it is panic-striken about these concessions and does its utmost to reduce them to nought. For this reason, the true spokesmen for the working people's interests--communist and workers parties, trade unions, and other progressive organizations--are still having to operate under deliberately disadvantageous conditions, despite the talk about "equal opportunities" and frequently they are subjected to outright persecution and repressions. As in the past, but on an even bigger scale, the monopolies' iron heel crudely tramples the working people's most important socioeconomic and political rights and their national and human dignity, while the imperialist policy of preparation for a nuclear war carries a grim threat to the paramount right of every man--his right to life.

For communists the question of democracy, like any other political question, is in historical terms, a concrete question. In capitalist countries it is communists, in alliance with left-wing forces, who consistently uphold the working people's democratic rights and freedoms, actively using parliamentary and other institutions for this purpose, despite their class limitations. Practical experience shows that in the struggle for the democratization of society's life there can be ups and downs, temporary defeats and substantial advances, which are a kind of prologue to the coming decisive offensive against the strongholds of capitalism. And while state-monopoly capitalism serves as a material preparation for socialism, developed democracy in a certain sense prepares the ground politically for socialism.

Back at the turn of the last century V.I. Lenin discovered a natural law according to which capitalism's "instability" emerges as a tremendous progressive factor which accelerates social development and involves increasingly large numbers of the population in the vortex of society's life, forces them to think about the system under which they live, and "shape their own happiness" themselves. A vivid confirmation of this idea of Lenin's is the massive scope of the antiwar movements, of the peoples' struggle against the threat of a nuclear catastrophe.

In tackling the relevant tasks, communists face an extremely complex theoretical and practical problem. On the one hand, by entering parliament local authorities bodies, and sometimes even the government, they have the opportunity to express the working people's concerns and needs. At the same time, they have to respect "the rules of the game" of the political superstructure which functions according to laws determined by the logic of capitalism which, naturally, clash fundamentally with the interests of the working class and its socialist ideal.

Experience indicates that the orientation toward making full use of parliamentary democracy, as one form of the struggle against capitalism, is correct in principle. However, at the same time this experience also cautions against the considerable danger which arises when people, getting more and more involved in parliamentary activity, begin to overestimate it, and in their efforts to win the electorate's votes begin to take note of "public opinion" which is frequently fabricated by bourgeois propaganda, and sometimes even deviate from the fundamental principles of Marxism-Leninism. Continuity in the development of given democratic institutions must not overshadow the socialist revolution's main task, that is the need to change the class content, the essence of democracy as a mode of organization of political power. No matter how deep the cracks may be in the monopolistic bourgeoisie's system of domination, when it is forced to enter into compromises with the people, they cannot, in themselves, serve as a guarantee for genuinely democratic transformations. These call for decisive, irreversible changes in the correlation of social forces and for fundamental changes in the economic and sociopolitical spheres. A genuinely democratic renewal of the state cannot be achieved through compromise with the ruling classes, but only through acute battles with capital, the victorious outcome of which can only be ensured by the complete mastery of the entire rich arsenal of class struggle.

In view of the abrupt vicissitudes of history which mark our time, the quest for new solutions to important political questions is understandable. Within the framework of this quest, it cannot be excluded that in the specific conditions of individual capitalist countries, determined by their traditions and distribution of class forces, it will prove possible to utilize certain forms of political life which have not yet been tested by the socialist society. However, the answer to the question of how valid or realistic they are can only be provided by historical experience. Thus, for instance, all appraisals of the political system of the society of real socialism from positions of the so-called "pluralistic concept," uncorroborated by experience, but vigorously pushed in the West, are scientifically and politically unfounded. Having no cognitive or ideological value, such appraisals frequently end up as fruitless, carping criticism which is detrimental to the common cause of the struggle for socialism. In fact, attempts to artificially implant pluralistic political forms would mean a return to the past, to stages which have already been traversed by each socialist country in the course of its development, and would lead to a distortion of political relations in a direction that accords with the interests of world imperialism.

The entire social reality, life itself, prove beyond question: just as there is no democracy without socialism, so there is no socialism without the consistent development of democracy. Moreover, under socialism, the level and degree of real democratism act as one of the main indicators of society's political, economic, and cultural maturity, and of the manifestations of man's social role.

"An invaluable quality of our democracy is its grip on reality," Comrade K.U. Chernenko has observed. "And the party attaches tremendous importance to its actual development and deepening... Broadly speaking, it is a matter of developing to the full the creative force of the socialist self-government of the people. This is what is meant by improving the political system of our society. It means bringing it closer to the ideal of socialism."

The enormous wealth of practical experience accumulated by the Soviet Union and the other fraternal countries attests that only socialism is capable of resolving the most complex questions of the democratic renewal of society. This practical experience, combined with revolutionary theory, makes it possible to discover ways of consistently improving the mechanism of people's power, adapting it to the needs of the current stage of development.

It is above all a question of enhancing the fruitfulness of, and augmenting the returns from the numerous forms of spontaneous social activity. Naturally, the qualitative indicators in themselves give us an idea of the essence of this matter, and are important evidence of the working people's high political activeness. However, mass involvement is not an end in itself in democracy. It must be taken into account that behind the externally positive and impressive figures there often is the far from identical measure of activity on the part of individual citizens and of their actual involvement in the management process. The same people, for instance, are members of a number of organizations and hold several posts each, while others do not belong to any organization whatsoever. And of course, the very process of improving democracy does not proceed "without a hitch." This is connected with the need to overcome inertia and old and obsolete notions, and also with existing contradictions between the growing numbers of people that are being involved in management and the need for their high professionalism and competence in this work, between the territorial and sectorial principles of management, between its public or state principles, and so forth.

In recent years the influence of the soviets of people's deputies on all aspects of the society's life has intensified noticeably, the content of their activity has broadened and deepened substantially, their links with the masses have been strengthened, and the deputies' work has become more varied. However, as the CPSU Central Committee April (1984) Plenum observed, the soviet's vast potential is still not being exploited sufficiently.

Improving the work of the representative organs, the Communists follow their path, relying on socialist traditions. The soviets as organs of power are primarily "working corporations." In this context it is especially important to enhance increasingly the effectiveness of the monitoring of the management apparatus' work. An essential channel here is the regular hearings of government, ministry, and department reports at Supreme Soviet sessions and meetings of their presidiums, deputies' inquiries, the further intensification of the activity of standing commissions, and--most important--the enhancement of the fruitfulness of their work. In present-day conditions exceptional importance attaches to broader publicity which is an inherent part of socialist democracy, a means of boosting the working people's activeness, and a norm of our society's life.

The party regards all this as ways to resolve the pivotal task of combining a highly skilled, strictly professional standard of management with extensive consultation of the people and mass control. At the All-Union Conference of People's Controllers it was emphasized especially that the development of control is one of the most essential avenues of deepening socialist democracy, that in our society this aspect of activity must become truly nationwide, that every Soviet citizen should see himself of a people's controller and think and act in accordance with this lofty civic duty. The elections to union and autonomous republic supreme soviets and local soviets scheduled for 24 February 1985 will be a major sociopolitical event which will have an important impact on the deepening of people's power in our country, and the improvement of the entire activity of the soviets and organs of state administration. The upcoming election campaign is called upon to further boost the living creativeness of the masses and their activeness in the struggle to strengthen the motherland's economic and defense might, and to demonstrate convincingly once again the indestructible unity of the party and the people.

An important form of deepening links with the masses--the practice under which leaders of rayon, city, and oblast organizations receive workers for audiences directly at enterprises, construction sites, and kolkhozes and sovkhozes--is being introduced increasingly widely in the Soviet Union and other socialist countries. "Open-letter days," leading officials' reports to labor collectives, their articles in the press, and the television series "Solved on the Spot" are very popular.

However, there exist many reserves for the deepening of firsthand democracy. For instance, the rural gatherings which have been introduced on a wide scale are not being held regularly everywhere, and frequently the involvement of those who attend them is low.

A task of exceptional topicality is the development of democracy directly in the production sphere. Yet not everywhere do the workers fully exercise the rights granted them by the Law on Labor collectives, and sometimes they lack confidence in the effectiveness of the decisions adopted. In my view, a form of production management at primary level like the financially autonomous team, which was discovered by the masses themselves, is one that, above all, demands close attention here.

One of the factors which determine the improvement of socialist democracy is the enhancement of the Soviet people's material well-being, cultural standard, and quality of services provided for them, and the organization of the working people's living and leisure conditions at the appropriate level in keeping with the spirit of the times. The decisions of the CPSU Central Committee October (1984) Plenum, the Central Committee Politburo 15 November session, and the USSR Supreme Soviet 2d Session, 11th convocation, were a new vivid manifestation of the party's concern for the welfare of the people. The consistent implementation of the targets and tasks outlined, will promote the further growth of the labor and political activeness of the broadest working masses and foster in them a lasting interest in resolving significant problems.

The widening of the circle of people who are being involved in running the affairs of society and the state is naturally closely connected with the growth of social awareness and the enhanced political standard of the masses. And that, in turn, demands an uncompromising struggle against formalistic and bureaucratic attitudes toward the working people's needs, against bureaucratic arrogance, as Lenin called it, against bribery, nepotism, favoritism, embezzlement of socialist property, the desire to live beyond one's means, and against all other vices, incompatible with the socialist way of life and the principles of socialist justice and the equality of all before the law.

Without any doubt, the resolution of the aforementioned problems not only does not envisage any "curtailment" of democracy, any "tightening of the screws," but, on the contrary, is inconceivable without the development of people's power, of socialist self-government, and the working people's initiative, just as it is inconceivable without the further strengthening of the state of the whole people. The party rejects any kind of vacuous twaddle and is working persistently to combine more closely democracy and an enhanced standard of organization, responsibility and discipline in society. It is consistently seeking to establish order in all sectors, to ensure that citizens and people in official positions discharge their duties without fail and efficiently, and it proceeds from the premise that only a truly strong state enjoys the active support of the people.

Life will show what stages of development and growth socialist democracy has yet to undergo. But one of the most important ideological-political guiding stars for the coming years is the conclusion that the establishment of the classless society will, by and large, take place within the historical framework of mature socialism. And the obvious prospects for statehood and democracy also stem from this.

At the All-Union Scientific and Practical Conference on Questions of Ideological Work, which ended a few days ago, the need for a serious elaboration of the theoretical problems of the development of socialist self-government in present-day conditions was pointed out. Studies of this kind would help the party to resolve more successfully the practical tasks of improving the Soviet society's political system, and all forms of involvement of the masses in state and social affairs.

Bearing in mind the difference between the concepts of "exercise of power" and "management," it is possible to say that even at the stage of developed socialism the overwhelming majority of the population, virtually all the people are the instruments of political power, that is, they themselves /EXERCISE/ power. With respect to the process of management, we can, obviously, as yet only speak of the masses' /PARTICIPATION/ in management. "Because when /ALL PEOPLE/ have learned management and are in effect managing social production on their own, then the door will have been opened wide for the transition from the first phase of communist society to its higher phase...," V.I. Lenin wrote (Volume 33, page 102). In its efforts to improve socialist democracy and the machinery of power the party is guided by a principled approach which attempts to combine current practice with long-term objectives and endeavors to ensure that present-day reality contributes as much as possible to progress toward them. Undoubtedly, this approach will make it possible in the new edition of the CPSU program to reflect fully the living link between historical periods and define clearly ways of developing our democracy and statehood and all forms of the self-government of the people which is the genuine forerunner of the communist future in the socialist present.

CSO: 1800/176

#### NATIONAL

# ATHEIST EDUCATION TECHNIQUES, PROBLEMS DISCUSSED

Moscow POLITICHESKOYE SAMOOBRAZOVANIYE in Russian No 12, Dec 84 (signed to press 23 Nov 84) pp 46-52

[Article by A. Okulov: "Atheist Education: Experience, Problems"; headings in upper case appear in boldface in source ]

[Text] As a result of the tremendous socioeconomic changes in the life of our society since the establishment of the Soviet state, the great mass of workers has been definitively and irrevocably estranged from religion through a major educational effort on the part of the Communist Party. If we take into consideration the fact that the overwhelming majority of the prerevolutionary Russian population was more or less in the grip of religious convictions, then we must state that indeed the victorious emergence of the Soviet state was characterized by historic achievements not only in the socioeconomic sphere but also in the formation of a new person free from religious oppression.

The history of the Soviet nation has concretely confirmed the Marxist-Leninist conclusion that religion will disappear in the same measure that it is separated from its social roots. The improvement of social and economic living conditions, the liquidation of class and national oppression, the development of public education, the spread of literacy and general education among the population and the wealth and accessibility of ideas--all this decisively furthered mass atheism in our country. The Communist Party was concerned about the religious questions of the Soviet people at every step in the building of socialism and about developing therein a scientific and materialistic world view. From Leninist documents to those issued by congresses and recording resolutions of the CPSU Central Committee in recent years, the ideas of Lenin as developed creatively by our party have been and will remain the chief compass for the course of atheist activity.

The consolidation and supremacy of the scientific, materialistic world view are not merely an important accomplishment of socialism and an indicator of

This article may be used to accompany Section 7 of the course "Theoretical and Methodological Problems of the Ideological Activity of the CPSU".

its maturity, but also a far stride in the intellectual history of mankind and an inalienable component of the revolutionary transformation of the world on a socialist basis. However, it would be erroneous to imagine the dying of religion under socialism as an automatic process going its own way along a constant, direct upward course. This process has contained contradictions and its way has not been straight or simple.

Let us turn to the intellectual legacy of V. I. Lenin. The Communist Party sees as its most important task the resolution of contemporary problems in building communism under present-day conditions on the basis of Leninist thought and methodology. With precisely this in mind, the June (1983) Plenary Meeting of the Party's Central Committee outlined the comprehensive program to raise the level of ideological activity in the nation, including that of atheist activity. In his speech, Comrade K. U. Chernenko emphasized that there may be no slacking in this work inasmuch as a considerable part of our population remains under the influence of religion. "Many of the ideological centers of imperialism are attempting not only to support, but also to establish religiosity and lend it an anti-Soviet, nationalistic direction. They count heavily on religious extremists. At the same time, illusions of "infringements of freedom of conscience in the USSR" are being disseminated ("Izbrannye Rechi i Stat'i" [Selected Speeches and Articles], 2nd Ed., Moscow, Politizdat, 1984, p. 597).

The advocacy and dissemination among the masses of the scientific world view represents to the Party a task for the central government. The lessons of the history of Soviet society have corroborated with absolute clarity that success in building the new life would be unthinkable without a consistent, uncompromising battle for the scientific world view of the workers and against idealistic views and against religious ideology, traditions and the mores of the old order.

# INTELLECTUAL CONTENT OF ATHEIST EDUCATION

Of lasting importance for understanding the intellectual content of atheist education as an integral component of communist education as a whole is the Leninist methodological aim, according to which Party organizations may allow neither refusal to carry on the intellectual fight against religion nor attempt an administrative prohibition of religion. The CPSU regards this principle of V. I. Lenin's as a necessary foundation of formulation of tasks which society must carry out at every step of its development in the area of atheism and religion. "For our party," stated Comrade K. U. Chernenko, "the fight with religious superstitions has always represented a struggle of the scientific, materialistic world view against an antiscientific, religious world view. It conducts this fight through intellectual, truly humanistic and democratic means alone--those of education, conviction and training" ('KPSS i Prava Cheloveka" [The CPSU and Human Rights], Moscow, Izdatel'stvo APN, 1981, p. 201). The basic principles of atheistic activity are: subordination of atheist propaganda to the resolution of key socioeconomic problems in the building of communism; consistent scientific reexamination of the individual ideas and means of atheist propaganda; utilization of up-to-date findings in the social and natural sciences in practicing critiques on religion and developing atheist convictions among all Soviet people; the systematic study of processes occurring in the sphere of religious ideology and ordinary religious consciousness and a class and Party approach to judging these processes and phenomena; achievement of unity and mutual rapport between atheist education and the directions of educational activity in the political, labor, moral, internationalist, esthetic and other spheres. These principles have the common premise that scientific atheism is not merely the denial of religion but a positive concept composing an inalienable component of the materialist world view.

A scientific approach to atheistic activity under present-day conditions is unthinkable without close attention to the ideological problems posed in the materials of the 26th CPSU Congress and subsequent Party documents. At the Congress it was emphasized that education is successful only when founded on a secure basis, the Party's socioeconomic policy, and when it corresponds to the questions being resolved in the socioeconomic sphere. This position of importance provides a reliable reference-point, likewise, for serious enrichment of all our work in the area of atheist education.

There are still serious faults in the direction of atheistic activity. They are frequently related to failure to hold this work in sufficient esteem and to remember that the overcoming of religion is one of the difficult collective processes in the life of society. It must be borne in mind that conditions for life and work have changed substantially in recent times. The ignorance and inner darkness of the working masses have long since disappeared.

The very modernized propaganda of religion has become refined. It will hardly be a revelation that far-reaching changes have come about in the shape of theological thought. It would be erroneous to conceive religion and the Church as immovable factors of communal life unaffected by social change. An analysis of theological works and study of the preaching of different religious organizations shows that there has been a very clear attempt in church circles in recent years "to take a place" in basically new social conditions and to "sign up" in a political and ideological sense for the new world. There has been a definite transition from enunciating the principles of the social neutrality of religion to propagandizing ideas concerning its socially activist character. The goal of this reorientation is giving religion the reputation of a socially progressive factor in communal development and reinforcing its influence in this way. We may speak of revision of different forms of the "socialization" of religion and acknowledge efforts to identify religious ideals with social ideals in our society which, as is well known, are formed outside religion in a fundamental conflict with it.

Cart of the and a second In church and theological circles, the task is seen as rapprochement between the religious and secular spheres. Thinking that the majority of believers actively supports the socialist system and takes part along with all other citizens of our country in building communism, church leaders assert that the "hand of God" is visible in the development of socialist society and that believers, consequently, ought not restrict their lives to narrow boundaries of service to the church. The idea is expressed that the new society is being built with the "divine blessing".

. . .

In general terms, this represents the political orientation and ideological position of the religious organizations active under the conditions of contemporary Soviet society. Thus, it would be wrong to ignore the attitude of theology to new problems and concepts and motives new to it; however, on the other hand this fact must not be overestimated or taken for evidence of a change of the social nature and function of religion in communal life.

Some atheists draw the conclusion from the church's political loyalty that religion has already been converted under socialist conditions to a completely ordinary, innocuous psychology and turned to private views that have nothing to do with broad social interests; they conclude that it has lost its ideological function. Unfortunately, this is not the case: according to such views, one would have to assert that the propaganda effort of the scientific materialistic world view is superfluous. Naturally, in our country religious organizations are not backed up by a particular social class with an interest in preserving it or striving to use religion in its own interests. From this aspect, the Soviet state has "disarmed" religion and this represents one of the essential factors in the ideological conflict with religion. However, the socio-ideological role of religion is not only determined by its potential for conscious exploitation by certain classes. Religion continues to fulfill its conservative function objectively, acting upon the thought and behavior of millions of people. The negative role of religion consists in the orientation it advocates and which leads to a failure to honor human life, rather proclaiming it unessential by comparison with an illusory world beyond earthly existence. Religious teaching, by reconciling man to the idea of blind obedience to fate, in one way or another enchains his social activity and thus represents an ideology unacceptable to us.

For this reason, in spite of all positive changes in the activity of religious organizations that have taken place in this nation, criticism of religion as an ideology should remain sharp and uncompromising and must not be accompanied by superficiality and impatience, which have an injurious influence on atheistic work.

To overcome religion is a complex and prolonged process demanding thorough study of the principles by which it is conserved and of how workers can be estranged from it. Engels wrote, "We must not come to terms with religion, which subjugated the Roman Empire to itself and in the course of 1800 years ruled over the greater part of the civilized world, merely by declaring it an absurdity concocted by charlatans. In order to come to terms with it, we must first be able to explain its origins and development, starting from the historical circumstances in which it arose and attained supremacy" (K. Marx and F. Engels, "Sochineniya" [Works], Vol. 19, p 307). Under conditions of socialism, too, atheist education depends for its success largely on systematic and thorough analysis of all social developmental factors, objective and subjective, which are inherent realities of our world.

# PRECONDITIONS OF EFFECTIVE ATHEIST ACTIVITY

The effectiveness of atheist work as an important component of all ideological activity in the country, of course, is a function largely of the extent to which the objective and subjective causes are overcome that support religious views and a religious mood among different groups of people. There are many such causes, explained in the writings of our scholars and researchers. Not only the legacy which the Old World bequeathed to us is involved here, but also our own, as yet undecided questions of human existence. "...The consolidation of a new socialist structure brings triumph over extreme social conflicts; on this victory is based, ultimately, the break with the enemy classes. This outcome has nothing in common with that oversimplified, politically naive conception that socialism offers total salvation from contradictions and incongruities, from all the confusion of human life. Well may one say that in their own fashion our opponents exploit this conception when they try to oppose the new order, pointing out that under socialism, too, there is travail and disillusion and at times a very difficult conflict between the old and the new."1

Unfortunately, in the theoretical plan, all these questions are insufficiently thought through as regards our atheistic work. The Enlightenment view of religion as merely the fruit of error and deception, does not get to the heart of the matter. We must not forget that religion addresses not only pseudoproblems but also the genuine ones confronting us in everyday life. Contemporary religious teaching often tries to make use of the many inadequacies in our educational work, speculating on the human emotions that arise under such conditions as the international situation, the threat of nuclear war and so forth.

Any intensification of atheistic activity under present-day conditions is still obstructed by formalism, or alienation of propaganda from real life, and still more from the believers, and by failure to differentiate the organization and conduct of propaganda according to various classes of believers. This approach is of little use. Success in this work can be expected only when it is inspired by the ideas of combative materialism and its content is related to life, everyday work and the wide circle of believers' interests.

Moreover there are often situations in which the arguments of science by themselves have a weak effect and must be strengthened by the psychological microclimate of the collective in which the believer works, by mutual relations in that microclimate, by concern for others etc.

Atheistic activity under contemporary conditions, it seems to us, ought more and more to make a transition from a narrow antireligious direction to a broader circle of theoretical and situational problems, in order to achieve close communication of atheist education with other directions of the party's intellectual and educational work and with a whole multiplicity of problems, the resolution of which depends on forming well-rounded development and harmony of the person. The complex problems of atheist education cannot be turned into "naked" atheism. This problem must be viewed in the perspective of the maturation of the mind in our society as a total background, from the position of the Marxist-Leninist conception of humanity, the ideals of communism. The key to this is the Marxist world view, the basis of the whole system of fundamental values and principles affecting the behavior and way of life of the people.

In recent years our debate with religion has become more and more involved with the area of moral problems. Its subject is how a person ought to live; what ideals one should strive for; what the purpose of life is. The majority of church sermons now address earthly moral problems, to be sure in their own way. More than 60 such works were published last year alone, for example, in ZHURNAL MOSKOVSKOY PATRIARKHII.

We ought to oppose religious ideas of the goal and purpose of life with the Marxist understanding of existence, life and its purpose and of happiness, good and evil and so forth. The June Plenum of the CPSU Central Committee presented as one of the most important problems in the struggle with religious ideology the utilization of skillful, creative propaganda on the Soviet way of life and fundamental values of socialism. Such positive disclosure of the problems of the people's life of the mind and the greatness and beauty of communist ideals will be a truly effective critique of religious ideology, creating conditions for greater and greater uprooting of religion from our society. The moral health and intellectual wealth characteristic of our society grows out of the practice of workable socialism and from the people's living and working conditions and their ideals. Communist morality possesses a shining faith in the human being, in man's developmental abilities, possibilities and strengths. We constantly observe in atheistic work that people turn to religion less often as a result of arguments about the universe than when they are prompted by difficulties and confusion connected with their personal life and the failures of human social ties. The extremely constricted and limited social connections of many believers lead to a feeling of inadequacy and to incomprehension of one's true place in life and society. This estrangement from the community may under certain conditions become the soil that nurtures religion. Life teaches that the most significant factor in the liberation of man from religious beliefs is the growth of the individual's social ties, the involvement of the believer in social activity, the increasing influence of the socialist collective on his way of life and a careful and concerned attitude towards people, especially people whose fate is difficult, among others those who suffer hardship.

Specific sociological studies of the state of religiosity carried out in the 70's in many Soviet republics, krays and oblasts have helped enrich the work done in the sphere of atheist education. There has been significant success in overcoming a purely pedagogical approach and acquiring more complete mastery of socioeconomic and cultural factors influencing atheist convictions. In many republics, krays and oblasts, more precise descriptions of the organized structure of atheist education itself have been provided; coordinating councils have been established and agitators and organizers designated in labor collectives and dwellings. Effective forms of atheistic activity among different segments of the population have emerged.<sup>2</sup>

The individual sociological studies which are well thought out give considerable factual material to Party and other social organizations and institutions connected with ideological work and scientific information about religious phenomena among different population groups concerning why many people still turn to religion, what channels serve for the propagation of religion among new generations, what processes take place in the sphere of atheist education, what level and characteristics atheism has achieved in different social classes and so forth. Without this information, as our press points out, no effective supervision of scientific atheistic activity is possible, nor can competent decisions be made or atheistic work be planned and steered.

In our country, a rich fund of knowledge in the field of atheist education has been acquired. It must be increased and invested to raise the emphasis on effective work. Here we will point out the importance of one of the numerous problems that arise--atheist work among young people. In recent years, religious organizations have devoted substantial attention to "intellectual support" from representatives of youthful intelligentsia. They understand very well that religion and the church have no future apart from an influx of young people and thus this field of our youth organizations' ideological activity must undergo thoroughgoing improvement.<sup>3</sup>

It must be kept in mind that, in the words of Academician B. A. Rybakov, truly, "youth today is very interested in cultural history and in particular the history of religion. Sometimes this interest is somewhat unhealthy; however, more often it is a question of understanding a problem in depth rather than superficially."<sup>4</sup> For this reason it is necessary to explain to young people the roots of religion and explain it in the greatest possible scientific depth.

The Marxist study of the history of religion, like that of the history of free thinking and atheism, with its consistent application of the principles of historicism in its approach to these problems, serves as an indispensable condition of the successful struggle between the Marxist world view and religion and of the further growth of atheist teaching among the people.

Concerning many historic events in our country's past, adherents of various religions often try to profit from the claim to have been protectors of national originality, high moral ideals and culture. History has always been a field for fierce battles between the Marxist world view and religion. An example deserving our attention as atheists is the millennial observance of the Christianizing of Rus, for the observance of which in 1988 the Orthodox Church has already begun active preparation. In this connection it will doubtless attempt to rekindle religiosity among the people and exaggerate the meaning of the church in the Russian cultural/historical tradition.

It is the task of scientific atheist propaganda to reveal the social essence of Orthodoxy on the basis of the historical situation in which it arose and explain the position and role of the Orthodox Church in various stages in the development of feudal and capitalist society. On the basis of fundamental studies in Soviet historiography in the history of religion and of the church in prerevolutionary Russia,<sup>5</sup> we should give written or oral analyses of the complex phenomenon of religion in terms of class. We should refute clerical legends concerning an immutably positive role of the church with conviction and especially repudiate an alleged distinguished significance of Orthodoxy in the creation and development of the Russian state as an historic process.

In atheist teaching we must not lose sight of the role that imperialist propaganda assigns to religion. There is no end in capitalist countries to the propagandistic lie concerning the situation of the church and its believers in the Soviet Union. These endeavors are intended to lower the workers' opinion of socialist achievements. Decades of clerical propaganda keep the population of the West in ignorance of the social and cultural transformations that have taken place in our country.

Many foreign anti-Soviet centers still dream to this day of turning religious organizations in the USSR into groups opposing the Soviet states. Making use of various illusory ideas about the situation of religion and the church in our country in its fight against socialism, clerical anticommunism tries in every way to retrace vestiges of nationalism on this soil. In recent times the voices of Ukrainian nationalist organizations abroad have sounded especially insolent. Western clerical centers try to call to life extremist sentiments among representatives of the Catholic clergy in the USSR. Reactionary Islamic centers abroad have likewise activated their propaganda in efforts to profit from events in Iran and the area of Afghanistan; they hope that the Islamic faith will return to life among broad population segments in the Central Asian republics. Declaring themselves "friends of Islam", they discredit the national policy of our party and discuss the incompatibility of the communist ideology with national spiritual values, which Islam is said to defend.

That such assertions are entirely unfounded is evident to everyone who has any knowledge of the actual position of believers and the church in the Soviet Union. Following Leninist principles, the Communist Party at every stage in the building of socialism and communism has been able to direct the secularization process in the USSR along humanist lines, attracting believers to the formation of a new world; it has done everything for the complete satisfaction of the spiritual needs of the Soviet people and the development in them of a scientific and materialistic world view. Socialism has created for the working masses the greatest accessibility to knowledge and the gifts of the mind. Now more than three quarters of workers in the economy have (complete or incomplete) higher or secondary education. Socialism has liquidated all forms of oppression and secured the right to work, education and rest as well as the full employment of workers and has prepared genuine possibilities for the creative growth of the members of society.

The most important task of atheist propaganda is to report on the truth about socialist society in a profitable and convincing way and to inform every Soviet person about its advantages and the socialist and humanistic direction of atheist education. Our society helps an individual maintain himself in life without "mediators" in the form of divine powers and helps him to see the world and manifestations of life without obstacles and barriers in the form of religion's world-picture. It helps a person to find happiness and the goal of life here on earth. This is the very essence of education based on science and materialism.

In the resolutions of the CPSU Central Committee in recent years concerning the perfection of ideological work, just such a set of measures is set forth to improve the atheist education system and raise its scientific level in conformity with different segments and groups of the population. These documents reflect questions such as the further intensification and extension of scientific research work in the field of atheism; preparation of cadres of lecturers and propagandists of atheism; strengthening of atheistic education, especially among young people; widespread use of all forms of ideological mass media in atheist teaching: movies, radio, television, literature, visual arts and so forth and the strengthening of direction by the Party of these important areas of ideological work. When these tasks have been fulfilled, atheistic propaganda can be made more specific, better differentiated and more directly goal-oriented and we will achieve its organic integration into the system of the Party organizations' ideological work and therewith increase its efficacy.

#### SUBJECTS FOR REPORTS

- 1. Basic positions of CPSU policy in questions of religion and the church.
- 2. Causes of the vitality of religiosity under conditions of socialist society.
- 3. Relationship of atheist education to other directions of ideological and educational work.

#### FOOTNOTES

- 1. Yu. V. Andropov, "Izbrannyye Rechi i Stat'i" [Selected Speeches and Articles], 2nd ed., Moscow, Politizdat, 1983, p 246.
- This finding is summarized in the book "Ateisticheskoye Vospitaniye. Voprosy i Otvety" [Atheist Education. Questions and Answers], Moscow, Politizdat, 1983.
- 3. The specific character of this work is discussed in detail in the article by I. Galitskaya, "Some Problems in the Atheistic Education of Young People", POLITICHESKOYE SAMOOBRAZOVANIYE, No 4, 1983.
- 4. VOPROSY NAUCHNOGO ATEISMA, No 20, 1976, pp 223-224.
- 5. Only a few historians' works will be pointed out: N. M. Nikol'skiy, "Istoriya Russkoy Tserkvi" [History of the Russian Church], 3rd ed., Moscow, Politizdat, 1983; "Religiya i Tserkov' v Istorii Rossii" [Religion and the Church in Russian History], Moscow, Mysl', 1975 (herein are published articles by prominent historians of our country such as B. D. Grekov, S. V. Bakhrushin, M. N. Tikhomirov, M. N. Pokrovskiy, A. M. Sakharov and others); N. S. Gordiyenko, "Kreshcheniye Rusi" [The Baptism of Rus], Facts Against Legends and Myths], Lenizdat, 1984 and others.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. "O Religii i Tserkvi" [On Religion and the Church]. Collection of Statements from the Classics of Marxism-Leninism, Documents of the CPSU and the Soviet Government, 2nd ed., Moscow, Politizdat, 1981.

- 2. "Materialy Plenuma Tsentral'nogo Komiteta KPSS 14-15 Iyunya 1983 Goda" [Materials of the Plenary Meeting of the CPSU Central Committee, 14-15 June, 1983], Moscow, Politizdat, 1983.
- 3. Chernenko, K. U., "KPSS i Prava Cheloveka" [The CPSU and Human Rights], Moscow, Izdatel'stvo APN, 1981.
- 4. Chernenko, K. U., "Utverzhdat' Pravdu Zhizni, Vysokiye Idealy Sotsializma" [To Affirm the Truth of Life; High Ideals of Socialism]. Speech at the Anniversary Plenary Meeting, Board of Directors, USSR Writers' Union, 25 September, 1984, Moscow, Politizdat, 1984.
- 5. "Ateisticheskoye Vospitaniye" [Atheist Education]. Handbook for Active Members in Ideology, Moscow, Politizdat, 1983.
- "Current Problems of Scientific and Atheistic Education in the Light of Resolutions of the 26th CPSU Congress", VOPROSY NAUCHNOGO ATEIZMA, No 29, Moscow, Mys1', 1982.
- 7. Kuroyedov, V. A., "Religiya i Tserkov' v Sovetskom Gosudarstve" [Religion and the Church in the Soviet State], Moscow, Politizdat, 1981.
- Sherdakov, V. N., "Illyuziya Dobra. Moral'nye Tsennosti i Religioznaya Vera" [The Illusion of Good. Moral Values and Religious Belief], Moscow, Politizdat, 1982, pp 21-79.
- 9. Kostenko, N.A., "The Unity of Atheistic and Moral Education in the Process of Forming the Personality of the Communist Type", VOPROSY NAUCH-NOGO ATEIZMA, No 29, Moscow, Mys1', 1982.
- 10. Ugrinovich, D. M. "Culture and Religion (Some Theoretical Problems)", VOPROSY NAUCHNOGO ATEIZMA, No 30, Moscow, Mys1', 1982.
- 11. Filimonov, E. G. "Sotsial'naya i Ideologicheskaya Sushchnost' Religioznogo Ekstremizma" [Social and Ideological Essence of Religious Extremism], Moscow, Znaniye, 1983.
- 12. Mazalova, V. P. "Ateizm i ego Fal'sifikatory" [Atheism and its Falsifiers], Moscow, Politizdat, 1984.

COPYRIGHT: Izdatel'stvo "Pravda". "Politicheskoye samoobrazovaniye", 1984

9582

CSO: 1830/261

NATIONAL

## AUTHOR DECRIES LACK OF PRINTED LEGAL CODES IN USSR

[Editorial Report] Moscow IZVESTIYA in Russian on 16 January 1985 carries on page 3 a 2,000-word article by E. Zhbanov entitled "If I Had a Code in My Hands." The author begins by outlining a courtroom situation in which the defendant was honestly unaware of the law, but nevertheless held accountable for his wrongdoings. Zhbanov addresses the issue of how to enlighten further citizens of their legal rights and duties; at present there are legal lectures, discussions, faculties of law, television shows, and a large flow of information available on the subject. He notes that, in fact, during the years 1972-1980, the Institute of State and Law of the USSR Academy of Sciences recorded an increase from 46 to 57 percent in the number of people who had an increased awareness of the law; fifty-one percent of all citizens were recorded as having a full awareness of their legal rights and obligations. Yet, the author states, that leaves one-half of the population without this full knowledge.

One particular problem seems to be that it is impossible to find copies of the legal codes of the USSR or union republics for sale anywhere. Publication of these documents is sporadic and haphazard: "...the publication of a code (in particular with commentaries) is a rare, episodic event, and instantly, scarcely have they appeared in the world, they take on the character of a deficit good--they do not reach the open store-counter--in essence they are 'spread out' and not sold--so that it is necessary for even a majority of professional jurists, alas, to obtain one 'from an acquaintance'." The author cites several examples: the most recent publication of the Criminal Code of the RSFSR with commentaries (Moscow, "Yuridicheskaya Literatura," 1984) had a tirage of 170,000 copies; the Code of Labor Laws--180,000 copies; the Commentary to the Code on Marriage and Family Law of the RSFSR, which came out in 1982 (and "for some reason, only [available to] workers of the law-preservation organs")--a tirage of 50,000.

As part of a solution to this problem, the author praises the efforts of Kazakh authorities, who saw fit to print the new Code of Administrative Offences in the local newspapers, in addition to printing the book itself.

In response to the authorities statements as to why so few copies are printed ("there is not enough paper"), the author notes that a more rational use must be established in order to print sufficient copies of these important documents.

CSO: 1830/337

NATIONAL

# YEREVAN HOSTS CONFERENCE ON USE OF ATOMIC ENERGY AND TECHNOLOGY

[Editorial Report] Yerevan KOMMUNIST in Russian on 23 January 1985 on page 2 carries a 400-word ARMENPRESS article on the 6th Science Council Conference on the use of atomic energy and technology, Armenian SSR Science Academy Presidium, held in Erevan. Laboratory workers at the Low Temperature Physics Institute reported on experiments in hardening cutting instruments by the cryogenic process which when strengthened by liquid helium increases the strength of the cutting tool ten times. The conference was attended by the country's specialists in the plasma ion field. They reviewed the research data and its potential application in industry. The scientists from the Kharkov Physics and Technology Institute, authors of the iono-plasmic process, reported on the creation of a new generation of installations for the strengthening of cutting instruments utilizing the principle of electron plasma spraying. Participating in the conference were A. M. Petrosyanits, state committee chairman for USSR use of atomic energy, Yu. E. Khodzhamiryan, deputy chairman of Armenian SSR Council of Ministers, and the M. B. Edilyan, deputy chairman of Armenian SSR Gosplan.

#### FIRST PLAY AT TAGANKA THEATER UNDER NEW DIRECTOR

[Editorial Report] Moscow PRAVDA in Russian on 7 February 1985 on page 3 carries a 1,200-word article by E. Surkov who reviewed the first production at Taganka Theater staged by its new director, Anatoliy Efros. Efros replaced the exiled Yiriy Lyubimov. For his first play Efros chose Maxim Gorky's "Na dne" [On the Depths] which received mixed reviews: "Uneven with weaknesses and omissions, but deep and powerful," wrote Surkov.

CSO: 1830/339

REGIONAL

VAYNO ON POLITICAL, IDEOLOGICAL EDUCATION

Tallinn KOMMUNIST ESTONII in Russian No 11, Nov 84 pp 34-43

[Article by K. Vayno, first secretary of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Estonia: "Increasing the Role of Managers in the Ideological-Political Education of the Masses"]

[Text] Ideological and mass political work, as one of the main areas of party control of the process of improvement of developed socialism, is increasingly coming to the fore, and its role and significance are also increasing. Just as a result of the active, deliberate creativity of the masses it has been possible to solve the large and complicated problems that arise in the process of perfecting developed socialism. And the scope and effectiveness of this activity is directly proportional to the level of the ideological conviction of the workers. This is why the party proceeds from the idea that the formation of a new individual is not only a most important goal, but also an indispensable condition for communist creativity.

All this multifaceted work in the modern stage should be carried out in a close unity with all political, organizational and economic activity for implementing the decisions of the 26th Party Congress and subsequent plenums of the CPSU Central Committee. "Only the merging of ideological-educational work," emphasized Comrade K. U. Chernenko in his speech at the June (1983) Plenum of the CPSU Central Committee, "with political, organizational and management work will produce the necessary effect. Both party and economic leaders must always be aware of this."

The need to provide for an ever-closer unity of ideological, organizational and economic activity of management personnel was again emphasized with full force in the recently adopted decree of the CPSU Central Committee, "On the Participation of Management Personnel of the Estonian SSR in Political and Educational Work Among the Workers." This document which is for the entire party is a convincing confirmation of the constant concern and the great attention which the CPSU Central Committee and the general secretary of the CPSU Central Committee, Comrade K. U. Chernenko personally devote to the state of affairs in the republic. At the same time this is also an immense assistance to the republic party organization in such an important matter as enlisting management personnel for direct participation in the political, ideological and moral tempering of the masses. The CPSU Central Committee noted in its decree that the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Estonia, the party committees and the local party organizations in carrying out the decisions of the 26th Party Congress and the June (1983) and February and April (1984) plenums of the CPSU Central Committee as well as the instructions of General Secretary of the CPSU Central Committee Comrade K. U. Chernenko, have begun to pay more attention to ideological and political-educational activity. The republic party organization is conducting purposive counterpropaganda and rebuffing the ideological sabotage of foreign television and radio and reactionary immigration and clerical centers.

Having given a high rating to the work of the republic party organization and management personnel for ideological and political education of the workers, the CPSU Central Committee also drew attention to certain shortcomings and omissions in this important matter. The decree of the CPSU Central Committee is for party organizations of the republic a document of immense practical significance which will be used as a guideline for many years. It sets the tasks not only for party organizations, but also for councils, trade unions, the Komsomol and state agencies and public organizations. The in-depth analysis of the successes and shortcomings contained in the decree will help them to take a correct and critical view of their own work, to see shortcomings better and to find ways of eliminating them.

The ratings, conclusions and recommendations of the decree of the CPSU Central Committee are of principal importance for each party committee and for each party organization in the republic. They inspire us to new deeds and to working better and more fruitfully today and tomorrow than we did yesterday. Now everything depends on party committee and party organizations, on their ability to mobilize the labor collectives to carry out the tasks facing them and to take advantage in the necessary way of the great, highly skilled, authoritative and politically prepared detachment with the republic's management personnel comprises. Their organizational and political activity should fully correspond to the requirements of the 26th Party Congress, and the June (1983) and February and April (1984) plenums of the CPSU Central Committee.

The tasks of the republic party organization for implementing the decree of the CPSU Central Committee, "On Participation of Management Personnel of the Estonian SSR in Political and Educational Work Among the Workers," were comprehensively considered at the 15th Plenum of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Estonia and at plenums of all party gorkoms and raykoms. Now local party organizations of the republic everywhere are holding meetings at which the communists are discussing in an exacting and businesslike way the tasks for implementing the decree of the CPSU Central Committee.

The main thing now is to translate the earmarked plans of measures into the language of practical deeds and to utilize more effectively the entire arsenal of means and forms of active and effective participation of managers of all levels in mass political and educational work with people. Erratic efforts will produce nothing here. It is necessary to get set for systematic, longterm and persistent work, taking into account the fact that the process of instilling in personnel qualities of a persistent political leader is just as complicated as life itself is and that as we advance the demands placed on them by the society are constantly growing. "Managers of our day," emphasized Comrade K. U. Chernenko in a speech at a meeting with workers of the staff of the CPSU Central Committee, "should be distinguished primarily by their devotion to party ideals, their profound knowledge of the matter, their organizational capabilities, their high culture, and their ability to think on a large scale, have a sense of the new and recognize it in practice It is from this standpoint that we must educate personnel and improve the system for training them and increasing their qualifications."

In carrying out these tasks the party gorkoms and raykoms and the local party organizations of the republic must keep in mind that management activity is primarily implementation of the party policy, the provision of a close unity of ideological, organizational and economic work, the concentration of major attention on live political and educational work, and the development of initiative and activity among the workers.

The level of ideological maturity of the workers and their attitude toward the matter largely determine the fate of our plans. For it is because of the fact that some of our personnel do not have an adequate understanding of this most important point that one still encounters a narrow departmental approach to the matter. In this there frequently lie also the roots of formalism, pointless involvement in administrative work, superfluous meetings and paperwork, and attempts to explain imperfections by so-called objective factors.

Life and practice irrefutably prove that fruitful political and educational work can be carried out only by a politically mature and trained manager. Therefore the party gorkoms and raykoms and the local party organizations of the republic are faced with an immediate task: to constantly increase the responsibility of the managers for the state of affairs in the sections entrusted to them and the fulfillment of the tasks by the party, and to instill the ability to draw political lessons, speaking in Lenin's words, from the practical experience of economic construction.

All this increases the need to develop in personnel such definitive characteristics of the political manager as communist ideology and a political approach to evaluating phenomena of social life and to adopting decisions and carrying them out.

The basis of the communist ideology and the political maturity of the manager is a profound mastery of revolutionary theory and the ability to constantly check with Marxism-Leninism. It is precisely a scientific world view that makes personnel conscious political managers who are capable of independently evaluating the phenomena of social life, seeing the inseparable connection between current tasks and our final goals, and arguing convincingly against any ideological opponent.

The Central Committee of the Communist Party of Estonia and the party gorkoms and raykoms, during the course of preparing for the new school year in the network of political and economic education, adopted additional measures for improving ideological and theoretical training of management personnel and instilling in them a high political culture and a new type of economic thinking. The main role here is played by the organization and content of work in the system of political education of managers. Now practically all workers are included in various forms of political education and almost every other one of them is a propagandist. In order for all managers to have a profound understanding of party policy, to be able to apply the knowledge they have received in practice, and to have a clear idea of their public duty and carry it out in practice, the party committees are called upon to improve the content, the quality and the effectiveness of political training of management personnel.

The main form of training top managers of labor collectives are the schools of the party-economic and ideological aktiv which are created under the party gorkoms and raykoms. More than one-third of the managers train in them. As the results of the past training year showed, we are far from taking full advantage of the possibilities of this tested form of studies for management personnel. The studies did not penetrate deeply enough into the subject and its link with real life, the primary sources were poorly studied, and many students did not take notes. These shortcomings were especially typical of schools of the party-economic and ideological aktiv of the Tartu and Kokhtla-Yarve gorkoms, the Rakvereskiy, Raplaskiy, Khar'yuskiy and a number of other party raykoms. Here it should be noted that frequently the key problems of economic and ideological work were raised not by secretaries of party committees who should know the state of affairs in the local areas, but by lecturers who were brought in from outside. But, as a rule, the lecturers considered these issues in the general theoretical plane, without analyzing the practice of a specific city or rayon.

Naturally, such an approach does not satisfy the students, 70 percent of whom have a higher education and almost 30 percent of whom have taken training in the university of Marxism-Leninism. As was pointed out in the decree of the CPSU Central Committee, the local secretaries of party gorkoms and raykoms are responsible for the work of the schools of the party and economic aktiv. They bear responsibility for making sure that the training is close to the needs of the social practice of the listeners and that they will learn effective methods of management and political education, and the fundamentals of pedagogy, social psychology and sociology. It is necessary to quickly inform our personnel on crucial issues of CPSU policy.

Universities of Marxism-Leninism should become the main form of political training of management personnel at the republic, city and rayon levels. At one time more than 70 percent of the deputy ministries and chairmen of state committees took training in the University of Marxism-Leninism of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Estonia. And this was quite correct. As was noted at the 15th Plenum of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Knowledge they received, although at first some of them were not especially enthusiastic about studying there. Today the party committees are faced with the following task: to include the overwhelming majority of management workers in training in the University of Marxism-Leninism.

The University of Marxism-Leninism should expand correspondence training so that as many management workers from rural areas of the republic as possible could acquire a university education. The work experience of the division of managers of the RAPO shows the great advantage of this form of training and, consequently, it deserves further development.

A profound mastery of political knowledge is a most important duty and the obligation of each manager. Party committees are obliged to increase the responsibility of management personnel for political education, the more so since up to this point the demand for quality of training has been clearly inadequate.

Party committees should also change their attitude toward the organization of independent training of managers. This is even more important since in the current training year many managers are studying according to individual plans. While improving the work of the entire system of Marxist-Leninist education, it is necessary to rely on further development of political selfeducation and the instilling in managers of a profound internal need for theory, an interest and a taste for constant independent work with primary sources and political literature.

The quality and the results of political training under individual plans depend to no small degree on how consistently the party committees supervise this training and how principled they are in evaluating the knowledge of the manager. But there is still a great deal of liberalism and inexactingness in this important matter. The 15th Plenum of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Estonia demanded that party committees introduce an efficient system of personal accounting for independent study on the part of each registered worker and that it check on the quality of their knowledge.

Management workers themselves form a large detachment of propagandists. This important party duty is a serious and responsible burden for each one of them. And here they cannot do without constant specialized training and deepening of their knowledge. Here propagandists should be helped by various kinds of seminars, courses and consultation sessions. But party committees have still not achieved a radical change for the better in their work with propagandists.

Can it really be considered normal that many manager-propagandists throughout the entire year attend only one or two seminars which are conducted monthly by the party gorkoms and raykoms. Nor do many of them attend the biweekly courses which are organized by the House of Political Education of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Estonia. It is no wonder that certain manager-propagandists turn the conducting of classes over to others. It is quite clear that the so-called "doublers" cannot always fully replace the manager when studying a complicated problem, and as a result the quality of the classes and the return from them decrease.

In a word, the party committees will have to improve their work with managerpropagandists and make greater demands on them for raising the level of their knowledge. This is especially important now, at the beginning of the new school year, in the system of political and economic education. On the eve of the new school year in the system of political and economic training everywhere in cities and rayons of the republic, the Day of the Propagandist, which has become a tradition, has been festively celebrated. A unique kind of review of their readiness for the classes, this day showed that we have many leaders of political education who have profound knowledge and a great spiritual culture as well as the ability to relay to their students the essence of the material that is being studied, to relate it to present-day problems and economic and social tasks of the labor collective, and to draw an audience with their clarity of thought and word.

For their useful public labor, the best of them were awarded on the Day of the Propagandist the Certificate of Honor of the Presidium of the Supreme Soviet of the Estonian SSR, the Leninist Certificate of Honor and table medal, as well as gifts. Among those who were awarded the certificate of honor was the head of the office of political education of the party committee of the Tallinavtotrans Association, Liliya Vilipo, the motor electrician of the base for technical service of the fleet of the Estonian Maritime Shipping Line, Yuriy Bogomolov, the head of the office of political education of the party committee of the Ab'ya Sovkhoz in Vil'yandiskiy Rayon, Val'veriys and others --a total of 12 people. The Leninist Certificate of Honor was awarded to the propaganda activist, Hero of Socialist Labor, a librarian of the office of political education of the Pyarnu City Committee, Lindy Soovik, an engineering technologist of the TEZ imeni M. I. Kalinin Association, Boris Levitskiy and others, and the table medal -- to the engineer of the Electrical Equipment Plant imeni Kh. Pegel'man, Vasiliy Yelykov, a professor of the Tartu State University, Iokhannes Kalits and other comrades. It should be noted that among those who were given awards there were many management workers who had devoted a considerable part of their life to the cause of propaganda of Marxism-Leninism and the CPSU policy and had mastered a kind of second profession--the profession of a propagandist. And this is quite predictable.

Difficult problems of education can now be resolved only by well-trained propaganda personnel. They are responsible in the most direct way for the force and depth of the convictions of our people, their ability to figure out complicated phenomena of life correctly, their attitude toward labor and the ideological atmosphere in the collective. Therefore one can say without exaggeration that it is to the great credit of the army of many thousands of propagandists that the republic is successfully carrying out its national economic plans and socialist commitments and that the majority of our workers of cities and villages are working with initiative, creativity and a complete exertion of efforts.

It is now required of manager-propagandists that they reinforce and multiply all that is positive that has been achieved in the republic in the arrangement of Marxist-Leninist education in recent years, especially since the June (1983) Plenum of the CPSU Central Committee, which called for comprehensively developing active forms of studying, giving them a more practical direction, and eradicating dogmatism and formalism.

Party organizations of the republic have an immense means of political education of the workers--various forms of verbal agitation and lecture propaganda--which is constantly being used by the large ideological aktiv, as
it were, the middle level. In the republic today there are more than 30,000 political informers and agitators in operation. There is no need to show that painstaking daily work with this category of party aktiv serves as an immense reserve for party organizations. But now, unfortunately, in some places part of this reserve is only listed on paper and does not do any real work, and another part, and a considerable one at that operates in the old way, departing from crucial problems of the present day and from problems of counterpropaganda. Certain party committees have drawn out the certification of political informers and agitators and do not give them enough methodological assistance. All this has a negative effect on their work.

The main task now, in light of the decree of the CPSU Central Committee, consists in maximally activating the work with this category of ideological personnel, improving their qualitative make-up, and gradually raising their role to the level of requirements that are now placed on managers who are engaged in political and educational work among the workers. And this, in turn, requires the improvement of ideological-theoretical training of political informers and agitators as well as raising their political cultural level.

One of the most important and extremely necessary qualities a manager should have is the ability to persuade people and to make them follow him. Without this quality everything else turns out to be less useful. V. I. Lenin taught that personal influence and speaking at meetings mean a great deal in politics. Without them there is no political activity. This Leninist precept was clearly formulated in the decree of the CPSU Central Committee. It also notes the positive experience of the participation of management workers in unified politics days, sociopolitical readings, days of the open letter, articles in the press, and presentations on television forums and on the radio. These effective forms of ideological and political education of the workers should be developed further. The practice of conducting unified political days should be the first to be improved.

An effective form of political, ideological and educational work, of lively contact between managers and workers, and of study of public opinion, the republic political days, which are traditionally held on the second Wednesday of every month, bring together almost 400,000 people. The results of the 63rd political day were just summed up. Thus unified political days now have a more than 5-year history. For example, at the last one thousands of management workers spoke. They were asked a multitude of questions and many business suggestions were made. As always, they were taken into account and strict control was established over their realization.

The party gorkoms and raykoms acted correctly when they refrained from addressing large audiences. The brigade, the farm and the student group were all quite reasonable audiences for a manager of any rank. Now almost half of the appearances are directly in the work stations, which gives the conversation special confidence, particularity and effectiveness.

It should be noted that in the last year and a half all members and candidate members for the bureau of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Estonia, 20 ministers and chairmen of state committees, and many official party and soviet workers have spoken before the creative and scientifictechnical intelligentsia, and workers of the press, radio and television. There have been a total of about 250 meetings with these collectives.

An example of creative search is provided by the Tallinn, Pyarnu, Narva and Kokhtla-Yarve party gorkoms. Here they regularly hold meetings of party and soviet workers with teachers from schools and educators from children's preschool institutions. Last year alone there were 200 papers given by speakers of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Estonia in training institutions of the republic.

The decree of the CPSU Central Committee quite correctly points out that party, soviet, trade union and Komsomol workers of the republic still speak rarely to youth audiences and in collectives of trade, public catering, consumer services and public health institutions. And yet the mood of the workers and their evaluation of the work of Soviet agencies of authority depend to a considerable degree on their operation. The same thing can be said about members of propaganda groups of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Estonia, who practically never speak in residential areas, or to pensioners. The latter, although they are not involved with labor collectives, display a vital interest in their affairs. And party committees must fully satisfy this interest.

Party gorkoms and raykoms are the main units in the organization of unified political days. The success of political days in local areas and the effectiveness of the speeches of the management workers depend largely on their attitude toward the matter. An example of a constant search for more effective forms of organizing and conducting political days is the experience of the Kokhtla-Yarveskiy, Paydeskiy, Khiyumaaskiy and several other party raykoms. They hold preliminary meetings with the visiting comrades at which they familiarize them with the state of affairs in the rayon, the problems which will have to be solved, the difficulties and the questions that are most frequently asked in the labor collectives.

Practice shows that along with these positive example, in the republic there are party committees which, instead of painstaking organizational work, have reduced their role to that of an information transfer unit between the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Estonia and the labor collective. For example, in Vil'yandiskiy Rayon there have been cases where the collective did not learn about a meeting on the political day until the speaker from the Central Committee arrived. Such cases are not simply a matter of organizational and technical mismanagement, but manifestations of a formal attitude toward this important kind of mass political work. It is clear that this is unacceptable in any measure, but in the organization of unified political days which involve thousands of people it is absolutely intolerable.

The success of unified political days and their political and ideologicaleducational influence are determined largely by the central figure of this measure--the manager who speaks before the people on instructions from the party committee. And on this plane the party gorkoms and raykoms should be interested primarily in the kind of impression the speech leaves in the consciousness of the people, and how it is reflected in the deeds of the labor collective. This is the way the problem was posed by the CPSU Central Committee. This is the way workers of the republic understand the point of the political days.

"To listen to the word coming from the labor environment, from the vanguard of socialist construction, to consult with the people of labor," noted Comrade K. U. Chernenko at the February (1984) Plenum of the CPSU Central Committee, "this today should be our primary duty, a profound internal need of each communist-manager." An appearance on a unified political day should be regarded as a kind of report from the manager to the workers concerning his work. This is precisely why it is very important for the managers to speak to more than just the collectives under their jurisdiction.

Reports from managers to the population and their speeches and conversations in the labor collectives and in the residential areas have become an indispensable constituent part of political and ideological-educational work of the party among the masses and a weighty element of socialist democracy. "It is important," it is emphasized in the decree of the CPSU Central Committee, "for the Leninist style and traditions for daily political work among the masses to become an internal need of managers at all levels. They are called upon to unwaveringly deepen the ties between the party and the people and to educate not with words, but with deeds--efficient organization of labor, concrete concern for the individual, personal example and their moral image."

At the 15th Plenum of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Estonia they noted the work of those members and candidate members of the Central Committee who go to any labor collectives on unified political days. Among them are A. Kaldma, V. Lind, I. Lott, E. Myandmaa, Kh. Teder and others who during the past 2 years have spoken more than 40 times. At the same time there are speakers of the Central Committee who have skipped more than half of the political days. This cannot be called anything but an underestimation of the importance of political education work.

There are also managers who try to dictate to the party gorkoms and raykoms the dates of their short visits and who plan to solve a mass of other problems on the political day. And it turns out that the meeting with the labor collective is like something done in passing, which is secondary in nature. Naturally, with this kind of haste there is simply no time left for becoming familiar with the collective and speaking with the people, not to mention receiving citizens to discuss their personal problems. Typically, such managers, as a rule, speak only in organizations under the jurisdiction of their own departments.

Many unutilized reserves lie hidden in conducting days of the open letter, and organizing presentations from management workers in the press and on television and radio. We are speaking about the need for careful preparation, in-depth development of the subject, improvement of the selection of competent authors, and knowledge of the local situation. Only with the observance of these conditions is it possible to guarantee that the presentations will be timely and effective. As the political fighter for the party, the party, soviet and Komsomol worker as well as the executive should be good teachers and psychologists, should display vigilance, tact and mastery at persuading people, and should instill in them the readiness and the internal need to participate actively in the new life. It is precisely toward this that the decree of the CPSU Central Committee orients party organizations of the republic.

The decree of the CPSU Central Committee points out that the most important task of the republic party organization is to strengthen the class education of the workers. This means, above all, that party committees and organizations in their propaganda should utilize better the glorious revolutionary history of the Estonian working class, its joint history with the Russian proletariat in their struggle against the tsarist autocracy for Soviet power in Estonia. Class education today means also the sacred memory of those who gave their lives liberating the republic from the German fascist oppressors 40 years ago. And it also means gratitude to the great Russian people and all the sister nations for their selfless assistance in postwar restoration of the national economy and the transformation of Estonia into a highly developed industrial republic.

The main content of the class education of the republic's population under modern conditions should be to affirm in their awareness the advantages of socialism, its patriotic and international education, and the strengthening of friendship among Soviet nations.

It must also be taken into account that the complex of these issues reflect the fact that Soviet authority is fairly young in Estonia and the awareness of some of the people is lagging behind the rapidly developing life. Forty years of socialist construction is a historically short period of time for forming a new social consciousness. And this is not only a theoretical problem. Party organizations have to deal with it in practical activity as well.

When arranging ideological and political work one can no longer fail to take into account the large-scale "psychological war" which is being unleashed by international imperialism against the countries of socialism, primarily against the USSR and particularly against our republics, with its attempts to influence the minds and hearts of the Soviet people. It is necessary to counteract these attempts with systematic, differentiated and varied organizational and educational work, and offensive counterpropaganda.

The aggravation of the antagonism between the two world systems requires further strengthening of party leadership of the Komsomol and the entire matter of education of youth and activation of its participation in solving the problems facing our republic. We should constantly be concerned about increasing the role of the party nucleus in the activity of the republic Komsomol organization. Today each one of our 6,500 young communists in the republic should recall that work in the Komsomol is a responsible party assignment and should carry it out honorably.

The tasks of the republic party organization for implementing the decree of the CPSU Central Committee, "On Further Improvement of Party Leadership of the Komsomol and Increasing Its Role in Communist Education of Youth," were recently discussed at the 16th Plenum of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Estonia. It will now be necessary to conduct plenums of party committees and meetings of local party organizations at which they will have to earmark concrete measures for strengthening the leadership of Komsomol organizations. Here it is necessary to achieve unwavering implementation in practice of the requirements of the party concerning constant communication between party managers and youth and active participation of communists and management personnel in the communist education of the younger generation.

The more complicated the problems that will have to be solved by the party organizations, the more persistently and purposively they must act. A harmonious combination of international and national, even in the state of perfection of developed socialism, is not established of its own accord. Even now internationalists are not born, they are developed.

Under modern conditions the attitude of the manager-communists toward problems of internationalism is an indicator of his true devotion to the party. It is precisely on firm patriotic and internationalist foundations that the highest qualities of the Soviet man are synthesized--his ideological conviction, his devotion to the cause of communism and the friendship of nations, and his constant readiness to strengthen the might of his socialist homeland. Therefore the internationalist education of people must be conducted persistently, in organic combination with the patriotic education, forming a high sense of a unified family and an awareness of belonging to the Country of the Soviets. Management personnel are obligated to systematically master the experience of economic and educational activity that has been accumulated in other union republics and extensively inform the population of the achievements of the multinational culture of the peoples of the USSR.

The measures devoted to the 40th anniversary of the liberation of the Estonian SSR from the fascist oppressors and the awarding of the First Degree Order of the Patriotic War to the city of Tallinn contributed greatly to further improvement of the ideological and political education of the workers. In cities and rayons and labor collectives everywhere these festivities merged into a brilliant demonstration of the limitless devotion and close solidarity of all workers of the republic around the Communist Party of the Soviet Union, its Leninist Central Committee, the Politburo of the Central Committee headed by general secretary of the CPSU Central Committee, chairman of the Presidium of the USSR Supreme Soviet, Comrade Konstantin Ustinovich Chernenko.

The festivities devoted to the 40th anniversary of the liberation of the Estonian SSR from the fascist oppressors evoked a new surge of labor and political activity among the workers of the republic and the veterans of the Great Patriotic War and contributed to strengthening the patriotic and internationalist education of the younger generation. Now the party gorkoms and raykoms, the ministries and departments, the party, trade union and Komsomol organizations must exert all efforts in order to reinforce what has been achieved and to develop it further in preparation for the celebration of the 40th anniversary of the victory of the Soviet people in the Great Patriotic War. The June (1983) Plenum of the CPSU Central Committee focused the attention of party organizations on the need to strengthen the offensive nature of propaganda and agitation and to improve counterpropaganda. In order to carry out these tasks in the republic, during the time that has passed since the plenum a number of practical measures have been taken to improve counterpropaganda work and to develop an irreconcilable attitude toward ideologically alien phenomena as well as to increase the role of local party organizations in the fight against our exposure to bourgeois ideology. A certain system has taken form for working with ideological personnel who handle questions of counterpropaganda.

Questions of fighting against crime and drunkenness in the republic should be discussed separately. They were recently discussed by the republic party aktiv, and concrete measures were developed for fighting against these negative phenomena. As was noted at the 15th Plenum of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Estonia, legal protection agencies of the republic are still slow in restructuring their work, and they are not achieving any appreciable reduction of the crime rate. The fight against drunkenness in the republic is being waged poorly.

It is quite obvious that administrative measures alone cannot solve the problem. If party committees and organizations are not able to motivate the public, and above all the labor collectives, there will be no essential result. The main thing that must be done now is to mobilize the public and to shift the center of gravity of the fight against legal violations to the basic units of our society--the labor collectives.

Many managers and party, trade union and Komsomol organizations are apparently not yet psychologically ready for such a statement of the problem. Therefore they must make some radical changes. Even on the personal plane some of the managers must take a critical look at themselves. It should be stated frankly that we still have managers who abuse alcohol themselves, appear among people in an intoxicated condition and, moreover, get behind the wheel of an automobile in a condition of alcoholic intoxication. Recently, for example, the former director of the Kuremaas Sovkhoz-Technicum, E. Syeyet, who ran over a man while he was drunk, was expelled from the party and held criminally liable. It is also no secret that we have many parties on work premises and even in work stations where alcohol is abused. And this is quite inadmissible.

When organizing the implementation of the decree of the CPSU Central Committee, the party gorkoms and raykoms and the local party organizations are obligated to sharply step up the fight against hooliganism, drunkenness, theft of socialist property, moneygrubbing and other violations of the law. And everyone must begin this immediately.

It should be especially emphasized that the ideological and moral image of the manager and his personal example constitute a most important factor in strengthening the ties between the party and the masses, the sociopolitical unity of our society. As is emphasized in the decree of the CPSU Central Committee, people look at the manager as a person who is trusted to represent the party and the state. He is in view everywhere. And each hour life verifies his right to hold a management position.

Trusting in sincere relations between the manager and his subordinates, and his authority are truly verified only when people see in him a model of business efficiency, adherence to party principles, honor and uprightness. In the republic we have many managers who are characterized by competence, the ability to attract people, and a combination of true adherence to party principles and delicacy. Of special value is the face that many of them not only provide an example of a conscientious attitude toward business and are concerned about improving the conditions for the life and labor of the people, but also constantly communicate with them at work, in the dormitories, during various mass cultural measures and sports competitions. Here they always proceed from the idea that they are representatives of the party and political workers.

It was noted at the 26th CPSU Congress that every manager should constantly keep in mind his high responsibility to the people whom he has been trusted to lead and to the party and the nation. It is precisely these kinds of managers, recognized production commanders and skillful educators of people in the republic that the following people have a right to be called: the director of the Sewing Association imeni V. Klementi, L. Allika, the minister of local industry, V. Veskivyali, the director of the Krengol'mskaya Manufaktura Cotton Fabric Combine, O. Klushin, the rector of Tartu State University, A. Koop, the chairman of the 9 Maya Kolkhoz in Paydeskiy Rayon, E. Liyeberg, the director of the Tartu Experimental Demonstration Sovkhoz, Kh. Parik, the first secretary of the Paydeskiy Party Raykom, V. Roosmaa, the minister of the timber and wood processing industry, V. Chernyshev, and many others. They inherently display initiative, competence, business efficiency, the ability to hold council with people, to listen to their opinion, and to be concerned about them, and also personal modesty.

But, unfortunately, far from all managers are capable of combining official and personal authority, of correctly balancing their rights and responsibilities, and of serving as a model of moral purity and orderliness. We know of cases in which individual managers abuse their job positions and try to furnish their apartments at state expense and violate the policy for distributing housing.

Of course every violation like this should be evaluated according to party principle. The bureau of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Estonia has brought a number of managers to strict party liability. But certain party committees still take a liberal attitude toward such acts. There are frequent cases in which the local party organization is not even notified that the communist manager has been punished by the higher party agency.

The party gorkoms and raykoms must resolutely refrain from the offensive practice whereby the personal affairs of the manager are considered directly at the bureau, bypassing the local party organization. This contradicts the CPSU Charter and the principle of democratic centralism. Under modern conditions as never before the role of business qualities of the political manager is increasing--competence, education and erudition, a broad world view, and the ability to solve economic and social problems skillfully and concretely. But among these undoubtedly necessary qualities of the manager one should especially single out one: modesty.

Modesty has always made a person look better, especially a manager. Unfortunately, in the republic there are still many managers who strive for prestige in daily life. Most frequently these management workers exhibit both arrogance and condescension. It is clear that one cannot put up with such an attitude toward people. It is the direct duty of party committees to eradicate any manifestations of condescension, red tape and arrogance, and to resolutely get rid of irresponsible workers who have no initiative and who are inclined, in the words of V. I. Lenin, "to replace business with talk, work with discussions" ("Poln. Sobr. Soch." [Complete Collected Works], vol 35, p 201).

The immense responsibility for instilling in personnel the qualities of a political leader lies with the local party organizations who are called upon to be concerned about their growth, and to render them effective assistance in increasing their political training and mastering the skills of educational work with people. At the same time it is the local party organizations who should be primarily responsible for showing the manager his mistakes and, if necessary, publicly, and they must, in a party way, demand from him an answer for his deeds, and for his failure to fulfill his direct duty--being an educator of the masses.

It goes without saying that very high demands are placed on management personnel and their activity is evaluated on a high ideological and moral scale. They must not only teach people, but also learn from them, they must confirm everywhere and in everything the principle of social justice, they must attentively take criticism into account, and they must engage in direct and open dialogue with the masses. Indifference to people's opinion, haughtiness and loose morals are incompatible with the position of the manager.

As Comrade K. U. Chernenko said in a meeting with the voters, "A manager can be demanding of others because he is demanding of himself. This gives him, in addition to his official right, a moral right to be firm in those cases when it is better, as they say, 'not to waste words on trivia, where it is necessary to use authority."

stight in the

We only speak of the qualities of a manager. We must emphasize that under today's conditions it is exceptionally important to develop new economic thinking in personnel. Its most important components are creative initiative and socialist enterprisingness, purposiveness and persistence, the ability to take reasonable risk, and the ability to ensure fulfillment of the plans under any conditions. Such a statement of the issue ensues directly from the main criterion for evaluating the activity of the management worker, which always has been and still is the concrete results. To skillfully utilize the rich arsenal of means, forms and methods of organizational and ideological work in order to mobilize the labor collectives for comprehensive intensification of production, acceleration of scientific and technical progress, implementation of the Food and Energy programs, and early fulfillment of the plans for 1984 and the 11th Five-Year Plan as a whole--this is what we must see as the direct duty of party committees, local party organizations and management personnel at all levels. It is required that they organize the friendly work of people and maintain that businesslike atmosphere which has been established recently.

Each day the 11th Five-Year Plan comes closer to the finish, and preparations for the next, the 27th CPSU Congress are becoming more and more active. This lends special significance to the organizational and political work of the party organizations and managers.

In carrying out the serious tasks set for the republic's economy, it is important to utilize more fully the large reserves of which lie in socialist competition and to actively utilize the nationwide preparation for a worthy greeting for the 50th anniversary of the Stakhanovite movement for achieving high production indicators and improving the education of the workers. The most favorable possibilities for this are created by the development of the brigade form of organization and stimulation of labor. Success of the socialist competition in honor of the 40th anniversary of the Victory depends largely on party, trade union and Komsomol organizations as well as economic managers.

Party organizations should in all ways support and develop the initiative of the workers, even more closely relate ideological and organizational work to solving concrete national economic problems and, as Lenin taught, proceed further and achieve more. We have all the necessary conditions for this.

The labor collectives of the enterprises and farms of the republic are supporting with deeds the party appeal to struggle for a 1-percent above-plan increase in labor productivity and the reduction of production costs by a half a percent. Thus during 9 months of this year industry sold 64 million rubles' worth of products in excess of the plan. And these were mainly consumer goods. The entire increase in output was achieved exclusively as a result of increasing labor productivity.

Agricultural workers have achieved good results. During 9 months they sold the state 13 percent more cattle and poultry and 6 percent more milk than during the same period last year. The harvest is complete, and it was one of the best in recent years. This made it possible to overfulfill the plan for delivery of grain to the state. The potato harvest also promises to be high. The overall plan for procurements of coarse feeds was also fulfilled, which will provide for an abundant wintering for the cattle.

Construction, transportation and communication workers have worked fairly well. Behind all the results there are great efforts of labor collectives and the purposive work of party, soviet, trade union and Komsomol organizations and economic managers. The overall strengthening of discipline and organization have also had a positive effect. We now have before us many urgent and important affairs and, as K. U. Chernenko said in his speech at the anniversary plenum of the Board of the USSR Writers Union, "Creativity of labor and a creative approach to jobs should today be a distinguishing feature of each member of the intelligentsia--of each scientist or engineer, teacher or doctor. Of course this is also true of every worker, every kolkhoz worker, every person who works honorably and conscientiously on behalf of the flourishing of our great homeland."

Party organizations and economic managers must devote more attention to solving complicated problems of intensive development of the economy and, on the basis of this, provide for more complete satisfaction of the material and spiritual needs of the population, achieve good organization in all units of management, and create all necessary conditions for the development of the initiative and creativity of the masses and their active involvement in solving the key problems of public life. It is precisely toward this that the republic party organization and managers of all levels are directed by the decree of the CPSU Central Committee, "On the Participation of Management Personnel of the Estonian SSR in Political and Educational Work Among the Workers."

The report and election campaign in the lower levels of the republic party organization ended recently. It took place in an organized way, in a situation of efficiency and adherence to principles, with high attendance and activity of the communists. In the discussion of the reports in the local and shop party organizations more than one-third of the registered communists spoke, and in the party groups--almost three-fourths. The participants in the report and election meetings concentrated most of their attention on the root problems of the activity of local party organizations and their lower levels and management agencies in practical implementation of the decisions of the 26th Party Congress and subsequent plenums of the CPSU Central Committee. In a businesslike and concrete way they analyzed the results of the work that had been done, generalized the experience that had been accumulated, revealed shortcomings and unutilized possibilities, and earmarked the tasks for the future.

The reports and elections showed that the ideological activity of the local party organizations in the republic are becoming more goal-oriented, they are relying more actively on the economic and social policy of the CPSU, and they are working better to carry it out. At all meetings they discussed the tasks and noted the concrete measures for implementing the decree of the CPSU Central Committee, "On the Participation of Management Personnel of the Estonian SSR in Political and Educational Work Among the Workers." Here they relied mainly on strengthening lively educational work of the managers directly in the labor collectives.

Special mention should be given to the businesslike participation in the current report and election campaign on the part of managers of higher party agencies, ministries and departments of the republic. They have participated in more than 1,200 meetings of local party organizations and their lower levels. The experience of the participation of managers of all levels in party meetings and other measures in the lower party units and in the labor collectives should be reinforced and developed further in the practice of daily party work.

The businesslike, practical mood of the report and election campaign which has just come to an end and the discussion of the tasks ensuing from the decree of the CPSU Central Committee in plenums of party gorkoms and raykoms and party meetings in local organizations show that communists of the republic, having received the decree of the party Central Committee as a militant program of action, are doing everything possible in order to greet the next, 26th CPSU Congress with new successes in the development of the national economy and culture, in the political and educational work among the workers of Soviet Estonia.

COPYRIGHT: IZDATEL'STVO TSK KP ESTONII, "KOMMUNIST ESTONII", 1984

11772 CSO: 1800/149

# ARMENIAN COUNCIL OF MINISTERS REVIEW STATE PLAN

GF261143 Yerevan SOVETAN AYASTAN in Armenian 6 Feb 85 p 1

[Text] The Armenian SSR Council of Ministers session reviewed the results of the 1984 Armenian SSR economic and social development state plan and the 1984 state budget.

It was pointed out that thanks to the improvement of the organizational work for the realization of the tasks set by the 26th CPSU Congress and the largescale implementation of the socialist emulation, the basic targets of the 1984 plan have been fulfilled or overfulfilled. The industrial output sales annual plan has been fulfilled by 102.3 percent and the industrial production volume plan was fulfilled by 103 percent. The plan for the production of public consumer goods has been overfulfilled by 3.6 percent. The proportion of the highest quality category goods stood at 20.4 percent.

The denominators of production efficiency have improved. In industry, labor productivity increased by 4.4 percent. The target for the basic and additional reduction of output prime cost has been fulfilled.

The plan for the development of transport and communications has been fulfilled. Considerable volumes of construction work have been carried out. Compared to 1983, capital investments in the national economy have increased by 4.6 percent, the volume of construction and installation work has grown by 8.1 percent, and the commissioning of fixed capital has increased by 2.8 percent.

Measures have been realized to raise the social and cultural standard of the people, which have helped bring about the increase of real income per capita and public consumer funds. The fulfillment of the basic plan for retail commodities turnover has been ensured. The targets for the development of the chain of establishments of public consumer services, health care, and culture have been basically ensured.

The Armenian SSR Council of Ministers pointed out that not all of the republic's ministries and departments are displaying the appropriate stringency toward the leaders of enterprises and structures in the undeviated fulfillment of the plans and the further development of positive processes revealed in the republic's economy. A number of ministries and departments have not fulfilled the obligations for delivery of output and questions are not being solved quickly on the radical restructuring of the work of the enterprises, in order to produce an output of improved quality and to ensure their necessary variety.

Capital investments have not been used fully, the plan for the commissioning of fixed capital has not been fulfilled, and all the important measures for the introduction of modern technology has not been realized. A number of ministries and departments have not ensured the fulfillment of the socialist obligations for increasing labor productivity and reducing the prime cost of output, and have not fully used the capabilities for raising production efficiency and forming a strong cost-conscious and economic regime.

Taken as a whole, in spite of the overfulfillment of the gross agricultural output volume plan in the republic, the annual plan in public sector farms has been underfulfilled by 6.3 percent. Due to the disadvantageous weather conditions the fulfillment of the targets for the accumulation of all types of feed has not been ensured. The farms have not been sufficiently ensured with longlife grass seeds. Compared to 1983 figures animal deaths have increased.

The session pointed out that last year the shortcomings in the work organization of the enterprises and, as before, above normal interruptions in transport by trailer, have been permitted.

Serious shortcomings were also pointed out in the work of the other branches of the republic's national economy.

The Armenian SSR Council of Ministers urged the leaders of the ministries and departments to be guided by the 15 November 1984 decision of the CPSU Central Committee Politburo and the instructions and evaluations in the speech by Comrade K.U. Chernenko, general secretary of the CPSU Central Committee and chairman of the USSR Supreme Soviet Presidium, delivered at that session, as well as the decisions of the Armenian Communist Party Central Committee plenums, and establish and realize measures for the undeviated fulfillment and overfulfillment of the plan targets and the socialist obligations undertaken by the labor collectives for 1985. They should take into account the reinforcement and multiplication of the positive shifts made in recent years in the economic development field, to welcome in a worthwhile way the 27th CPSU Congress and the 40th anniversary of the victory of the Soviet people in the great paternal war, to conclude the current five-year plan period successfully, and to create a strong basis for the 12th Five-Year Plan period.

During the fulfillment of that work it is necessary to continue paying attention to the large introduction of scientific and technical achievements, to the improvement of the use of production capabilities, equipment, and labor resources, and the perfection of labor productivity and output through the improvement of organization of work.

It is essential to ensure the balanced operation of the associations, enterprises, and organizations throughout the year, to strictly fulfill the contractual obligations regarding delivery of goods, to fulfill the targets for saving material resources without reservation, and to defend in all locations the initiative of labor collectives to work for 2 days using saved substances, materials, and fuel in 1985.

The republic's government urged the ministries and departments to improve the provision of the population with industrial goods and services and to more fully satisfy the purchasers' requirements regarding high quality goods. It is essential to pay particular attention to the fulfillment of capital investment plans and to the commissioning of production capabilities and social and cultural projects.

It is necessary to further raise the management standard of enterprises and associations, to improve work methods, to create the necessary economic and organizational conditions to develop the creativity of the workers, and to strengthen discipline in all public locations.

The session was addressed by F.T. Sarkisyan, chairman of the Armenian SSR Council of Ministers.

CSO: 1838/39

## EFFORTS TO STEM URAL RIVER POLLUTION DESCRIBED

PM111133 Moscow PRAVDA in Russian 8 Feb 85 First Edition p 3

[Correspondent G. Sazonov report under the rubric "Man and Nature": "Keep on Rolling Forever, Ural!"--first paragraph is a PRAVDA introduction]

[Text] We continue our journey along one of our largest rivers, marking the border between two parts of the world--Europe and Asia. Our previous report (PRAVDA, 15 January) spoke of the upper reaches of the Ural and the inadequate protection of the small rivers which are its beginning. Today we talk about the river in its middle course, where its flow provides water for the population and enterprises in major industrial centers.

Orenburg Oblast--It was like a spring day. Prokudin made his way down along the river bank, disheveled by the fast-flowing high water. He scooped up some greenish water and decanted it from the palm of one hand into the other, as if trying to assess its worth. It was no idle curiosity that took him there. Behind him, smoke was pouring out of the industrial rubber products plant, where Nikolay Andreyevich was recently appointed deputy chief production engineer for protection of the environment. Life had made this appointment necessary.

The industrial rubber products plant is one of hundreds located in the Ural basin. For a long time the river has been part of people's economic activity, providing them with drinking water and food. As the cities grew and rural areas developed, water consumption increased sharply and is steadily growing. A sensible approach to the river's utilization is required.

"Extirpate shortcomings more fastidiously than any inspector," were the plant director's instructions to Prokudin at their first meeting. "The administration will back you."

Real concern must be shown to keep the reservoirs clean--this was what the new deputy chief production engineer tried to impress on chiefs of shops and services. He even had to fight some of them. His initiative resulted in the introduction of shop activity evaluation according to the "environmental protection" indicator. Bonuses for leaders and engineering and technical personnel were cancelled if the permissible norms were exceeded. Fuel oil waste remained the chief scourge for a long time. They decided to call on scientists and designers. An experimental installation to render harmless the discharged fuel oil sludge was developed in conjunction with them. Now the viscous fluid, which was previously dumped in the Ural, is collected in sumps and burned in the ovens. And this is actually beneficial--the heat is used to generate steam for industrial use.

Communist Prokudin proved himself just as energetic in building a water recycling system. When the builders encountered obstructions, he was knocking on all doors--the management and the party and soviet organs, for the sake of environmental protection. By the start of the current 5-year plan the plant had reduced by a factor of 10 its discharges into the Sakmara River, a tributary of the Ural, and once the second stage of purification installations was commissioned it was practically operating a closed cycle.

Nikolay Andreyevich proudly showed these installations—an entire factory with interconnected shops, fitted out with electronic equipment. After several stages, the cloudy water becomes blue again and goes back to "work" in the shops. Order has also been imposed in the plant as regards its industrial waste sewers. And now the plant is no longer accused of polluting the Ural River.

But Prokudin is not sitting back. Right next door is a plant producing silica wall materials. It is linked up with the main services lines of the industrial rubber products plant and uses the water the latter has purified in its own technological cycle. At one point Prokudin observed that the neighbors were discharging harmful waste into the Sakmara River. But the silica plant's chief power engineer persisted:

"No, it's not our waste ... "

He was forced to take matters up with old friends in the South Ural Basin Administration.

"So, they don't want to admit their guilt," P. Blednykh, chief of Orenburg's hydrochemical laboratory, sighed.

The walls in P. Blednykh's office are lined with charts. Multicolor bars reflect the extensive work done in Orenburg Oblast to fulfill the CPSU Central Committee and USSR Council of Ministers resolution on preventing the pollution of the Volga and Ural River Basins with effluents. Under the oblast party organization's leadership, the enterprises' collectives have commissioned over 200 purification systems.

Thanks to man's concern, the Ural River is breathing more freely. Now it is one of the cleanest rivers in the country. For a number of years now phenols have not been discharged into its waters. Oxygen content readings are normal. Anglers are catching ide [yaz] and pike-perch in the middle section of the river. But it is too soon to relax the efforts....

Over the last few years industrial sewage in Orsk, Orenburg Oblast's major industrial center, has been channeled basically into large water purification installations. But the "Yuzhuralnike1" Plant, the "Yuzhuraltsvetmetobrabotka" Production Association, and others are still discharging inadequately purified sewage into the Ural. Now and again the South Ural machine building plant fires "salvos" of petroleum products into the Yelshanka River, a small tributary of the Ural. It is true that the "Orskpromstroy" Trust is building centralized purification installations for the plant. At such a pace, however, that the handover deadline has long passed and the end of construction is not yet in sight. It has been difficult to find someone to place the order for the construction of their second phase. Orenburg Oblispolkom has not taken a clear enough stance on this issue. Similar questions are awaiting solution at enterprises in Mednogorsk, Gay, and Kuvandyk.

A necklace of large and small villages, some founded too long ago to remember and others recently appeared, extends along the river: The fertile soil and the proximity of water attracts them. Arable farming and stockraising are developed intensively on the river banks. That is gratifying. But in recent years some stockraising complexes have become sources of river pollution. Local organs have obliged farms to construct cleansing installations. And they have appeared in many places. We should be pleased. But the majority of installations are standing idle and the funds invested have failed to produce a return. Why? The main reason is that there have been no trained specialists to service them.

Last May an oblispolkom session stated that the cleansing installations were not in operation on a number of farms of Orenburgskiy and Belyayevskiy Rayons. What happened after that? Is it not time the specific culprits were found and called to account?

Here is another detail. The level of the Ural used to be higher. This is admitted by scientists, specialists, and local inhabitants. Different reasons are given for the fall in water levels. One thing is clear: More water is being drawn from the Ural. Over a 20-year period this indicator in Orenburg Oblast has risen from 1 to 5 million cubic meters per 24 hours. If we add the neighboring oblasts in Kazakhstan, the resulting figure is even greater.

"We are concerned with the lack of a general plan for the rational utilization of water in the river basin," A. Balandin, first secretary of Orenburg CPSU Obkom and head of the interrepublic social committee for the Ural, noted. "The result is that many localities use water to suit their own requirements. This can hardly be described as normal. The USSR Ministry of Land Reclamation and Water Resources and the central planning organs must resolve more quickly the question of instituting uniform water utilization norms."

Gravel and sand are extracted from the river. Dams are built along its tributaries without authorization. Decisions banning such works have been made repeatedly. But the instructions are by no means obeyed everywhere. Not all enterprises have installed instruments to control their water consumption. In actual fact, only a limited quantity of such instruments is produced. The lack of control costs millions of cubic meters of water wasted. We must think not only of ourselves but also of our offsprings. Hence, measures have been planned to transfer the region's industrial centers to a system of effluent-free water supply. Work is in progress on their implementation.

Over 96 percent of the water used by the collective of the Orsk-Khalilovo Metallurgical Combine is recycled. Last year alone the sum of R3 million was spent there for water purification purposes. The agglomeration, by-product coke, and electrical steel smelting production processes have already transferred to effluent-free operations. The Novotroitsk combine and the city have practically no adverse effect on the Ural River. Director V. Yesakov reported that designers are starting work on installations which will enable the entire combine to transfer to effluent-free water consumption. This is, of course, a pleasing innovation. Nevertheless, the original specific deadline for transfer to this system has already passed. Meanwhile, there are no finalized design blueprints, and construction work is still to come. The transfer of the Orenburg industrial center to effluent-free operations must also be speeded up.

A major enterprise—Magnitka—stands on the banks of the Ural. I Borodatyy, chief of the South Ural River Basin Administration, spoke of how much people in Magnitogorsk have done to purify the river waters. The proportion of recycled water used at the combine is high. Previously it was impossible to swim in the water reservoir, which lies within the city limits. Now thousands of people enjoy their leisure there. But part of the cleansed effluent does flow into the Ural, and there are instances of waste finding its way into the river. Therefore, it is necessary to introduce effluent-free water consumption more quickly, and everywhere. But the USSR Ministry of Ferrous Metallurgy is delaying over resolving this question.

...So, what was the outcome of Prokudin's application to the hydrochemical laboratory? He found support. The leaders of the silica wall materials plant were fined. Measures were taken to ensure that the reservoir is not polluted in the future.

CSO: 1800/180

# SOVETSKAYA LITVA PUBLISHING PLANS FOR 1985

Vilnius SOVETSKAYA LITVA in Russian 13 Jan 85 p 2

[Article by A. Gel'bakh: "'Critically, Interestingly, Energetically', A Survey of Answers to 'SOVETSKAYA LITVA-85' Questionnaire"]

[Text] First about the headline. "Write critically, interestingly, energetically!" -- this desire is encountered most often in the answers to a questionnaire sent back to the editorial staff. Now allow me to cite a few generalized figures. More than a hundred of our readers responded to the request of the newspaper to express their opinions and desires. The absolute majority of them noted that they are basically satisfied with the content and format of SOVETSKAYA LITVA. But, of course, they also found deficiencies and gave their recommendations and observations.

We have entered a year of active preparation for the 27th CPSU Congress. Taking the desires of the readers into account, the editorial staff will continue its active efforts to improve its publications, which are devoted to the course of the nation-wide socialist competition for the successful accomplishment of the tasks of the 11th Five-Year Plan and for a fitting celebration and reception of the 40th anniversary of the victory of the Soviet people in the Great Patriotic War and the all-Union forum of the party. A portrayal of the struggle of the labor collectives for thrift and economy and improving the productivity of labor and the quality of manufactured goods will be given an important position in the materials. The party is making an appeal for rational management, and with the help of a broad group of active writers we are making every effort to disclose the manner in which this appeal can be transformed into reality in the production associations, in enterprises and on farms, and at each job site.

In the future also much attention will be given in the pages of SOVETSKAYA LIT-VA to the large-scale economic experiment in which many enterprises from various economic sectors in the republic are participating. Under contemporary conditions in which the task of achieving a radical turning point by the end of the 1980s has been set forth with respect to improving the efficiency of the whole economy, the rapid implementation of the achievements of science and technology, promising inventions, and efficiency recommendations is of primary importance. The newspaper is proposing the publication of a series of articles in the Science and Industry section and will write about the creative socialist competition among engineers, and how the primary party organizations are concerned about the industrial retooling of enterprises and the introduction of large-scale innovations, which will radically improve the productivity of labor.

The readers' questionnaires contain recommendations for continuing the competition for the best essay in the current year also. More attention in these articles will be given to revealing the best character traits of the Soviet man and writing about innovators, progressive production workers, the activities of party and Soviet workers, economic leaders, and conscientious workers in socalled humble professions. The editorial staff will try to carry out these wishes. Now that the important political campaign has begun with regard to the elections to the Supreme and local Soviets of People's Deputies in the republic, we are planning to publish a series of essays on people in whom workers have placed a high trust by nominating them as their candidates for the post of deputy. The newspaper will write about accomplishments and reforms in our life in special articles under the headings "From Elections to Elections" and "As the Elections Approach".

On the threshold of the 27th Party Congress SOVETSKAYA LITVA has introduced a new heading "The Party Committee -- An Organ of Political Leadership", which, as the questionnaires attest, has already attracted the attention of the readers. In this section the editorial staff intends to turn over its columns to a number of first secretaries of raykoms in the Communist Party of Lithuania and to talk with directors of large industrial associations and kolkhozes and the secretaries of party committees in enterprises about the political leadership of the economy, problems concerning the ideological and moral education of workers, and about raising the awareness of the broad masses of people.

These are those plans which are already being accomplished in the pages of the newspaper. But they are in need of more precise definition and improvement. In the questionnaires sent back the readers note that the editorial staff sometimes is not very demanding with respect to publication of articles written by leading party, trade union, and industrial workers. They are frequently shallow and over-saturated with figures and percentages of a self-evident nature. And little is said in them about the peculiarities of style and methods of work and what is said is unconvincing. Complaints have also been expressed about articles throwing light on the practice of ideological work.

Taking these observations into consideration the editorial staff is reorganizing its work. In the pages of the newspaper we will try to discuss urgent questions relating to the improvement of the vanguard role of Communists and primary party organizations under contemporary conditions and we will give more attention to the preparation and publication of articles which discuss an overall approach to the problems of education and the unity of ideological, economic, and organizational work. The newspaper will make its pages available to the best propagandists and agitators for statements and speeches and will relate the experience of implementing the decisions of the June (1983) Plenum of the CPSU Central Committee. The editorial staff also plans to conduct political debates devoted to the adoption of a new edition of the CPSU Program at the 27th Congress. As before, much space in the pages of the newspaper will be occupied by the subject of military-patriotic education and materials devoted to the 40th anniversary of the victory in World War II. SOVETSKAYA LITVA will continue to publish the pages entitled "I Serve the Soviet Union" and "Progress of the People's War". Articles recounting the revolution in the years 1905--1907, the revolutionary movement in Lithuania, and preparations for the 45th anniversary of the restoration of Soviet rule in the republic are an important part of the plans of the editorial staff.

Many questionnaires call the discussions "Behind the Round Table", "Open Letter Days", and "Business Meeting Clubs" a great achievement for the newspaper. Judging by the basically unanimous evaluations received, these types of format have won the lasting approval of our readers. We will try to develop them in the future also. The permanent headings of SOVETSKAYA LITVA, "Satire", "Time, People, Ethics", "Saturday Discussion", and "Our Interlocutor", are also highly appreciated. Although the readers had definite complaints about the latter two columns, they want to see them written more often by authors from among leading public figures in culture and science, responsible party and Soviet workers, and distinguished workers and kolkhoz members. The readers are expressing a desire that these materials be published together with portraits of their authors. Indeed, in a confidential discussion it is not only important to know, but also to see with whom you are talking. The editorial staff will willingly fulfill these desires.

The evaluation given in the questionnaires concerning the work of the newspaper with respect to mail from the readers is worthy of special attention. The overwhelming majority considers that it is being conducted in a satisfactory manner. But, in the opinion of many of our authors, topical reviews of letters are still rarely seen in the pages of the newspaper and materials under the heading "Minister Comments on Letter" (director, chairman of a trade union committee -- depending on the question posed) should be published more often. And here is yet another suggestion which the editorial staff must carry out without fail. "A heading called 'Letter Withdrawn from Review' is necessary in SOVETSKAYA LITVA," writes an author from Kaunas. "But if one looks at or reads through readers' letters published over a quarter or a year at one time, it turns out that people write to the newspaper about one and the same thing: about the inattention, callousness, deception and red tape involved in dealing with individual public servants. Moreover, these messages frequently come from the same places, same enterprises, and same sectors of the economy. I think the newspaper must simply analyze this mail and the official answers received no less than once in a quarter, publish reviews in which the question of holding bureaucrats and formalists responsible is posed with all the authority of the party, and ensure that such responsibility be assumed without fail."

Various evaluations regarding one and the same headings, topical pages, and individual materials are sometimes encountered in the questionnaires. To some readers it seems that it is necessary to publish more articles on the education of youth and to others it seems that little space is given to such a column heading as "Advice to the Housewife". Some consider each issue of the weekly section "Physical Training and Sports" to be very interesting. Others

124

prefer "Our House, Our Family". Certain authors simply find themselves in a difficult spot. While giving a generally positive evaluation of the newspaper's editorial staff, they share the following thought: "Everything seems to be all-right with you. But one gets the feeling that something is still missing. Perhaps, humor?" Indeed, this could very well be so. But we hope to rectify this problem if we receive support from you, dear readers.

Write about what concerns and worries people, write brilliantly and emotionally about conscientious workers and about those who take the initiative and work like shock workers and disclose and disseminate their experience. Come out angrily against disorder and a negligent attitude toward the task at hand, strive to adopt specific measures regarding each critical statement -- this is the advice and demand of all our readers. And the editorial staff will be tirelessly guided by this in our daily work in the coming year.

10576 CSO: 1800/154

125

. .

. 0

.

# UZBEK ECONOMIST ON REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT PROBLEMS

Tashkent PRAVDA VOSTOKA in Russian 18 Jan 85 pp 2,3

[Article by M. Sharifkhodzhayev, Honored Scientist of the Uzbek SSR, professor: "The Key Task of Economic Development"]

[Excerpts] As K. U. Chernenko stresses, the decisive area of all work to improve the development of socialism has been and remains further development of the economy, the transition to intensification of production, and rational and efficient use of labor and material resources. This is the element in party economic strategy and in the development of socialist production with which the Soviet people can successfully resolve the multifaceted set of socioeconomic problems involved in steadily improving the economy and culture and developing and consolidating the socialist way of life.

Practical fulfillment of the tasks of consistent intensification demands further development of production forces and refinement of production relations. It presupposes solutions to a broad range of issues related to eliminating all kinds of losses, rational use of natural, labor, material, and financial resources, stepping up scientific-technical progress, introduction of complete mechanization and flexible automated production facilities and systems, re-equipping enterprises with a new generation of equipment and technology, use of robots and computers in production and economic management, introduction of no-waste and energy-conserving technology, producing materials with predetermined characteristics, development of bioengineering, and on this basis attaining the highest level in the world for labor productivity and production of output and securing a sharp improvement in all the other indicators of the socioeconomic efficiency of production.

Guided by the decisions of the 26th party congress and subsequent plenums of the CPSU Central Committee, the party organizations of Uzbekistan worked out and are successfully implementing a comprehensive program to put the economy on an intensified footing and switch production associations and enterprises to a new, higher level of technical and economic development. The importance of meeting this challenge is illustrated by figures on the consolidation of the republic's economic potential and the enlargement of its role in the country's unified national economic complex. Uzbekistan today has more than 1,750 operating production and science-production associations, combines, and enterprises in more than 100 industrial sectors. In their work to resolve the issues of intensive use of this economic potential the party organizations of the republic are concentrating their attention on introduction of the latest scientific and technical advances in production and fully converting science into a direct production force. They are insuring preferential production of highly efficient equipment, instruments, and means of automation and a transition from building individual machines to development and introduction of machine lines which encompass the entire industrial process and make it possible to completely mechanize and automate production and raise labor productivity.

At the same time, as the 16th Plenum of the Central Committee of the Uzbek Communist Party emphasized, some party organizations and labor collectives in the republic do not always consistently follow the policy of developing scientific-technical progress and introducing the key advances in automation, electronics, and cybernetics and progressive industrial processes into production. Little attention is given to improving the material-technical base of production to provide a foundation for a significant reduction in the sphere of application of unskilled manual and heavy labor and an improvement in working conditions.

The proportion of manual labor at some enterprises in the republic is 45-50 percent. It was this, plus the increase in the absolute number of persons employed in manual labor, that caused the increase in total volume of indus-trial production at a number of ministries, enterprises, and associations to increase to a certain degree through the use of extensive factors, while for industry as a whole the growth rate of production in 1984 was only 3.1 percent compared to the planned figure of 5.4 percent.

The socialist obligations of the working people of Uzbekistan for 1985 envisage increasing labor productivity by one percent more than planned, reducing the prime cost of output by an additional 0.5 percent below the plan, and exceeding plan figures for other indicators as follows: an additional 118 million rubles worth of material resources conserved; an additional five percent increase in the shift coefficient; full mechanization and automation of 215 more sections, shops, and production facilities; introduction of an additional 155 flow and automatic lines and 135 robot engineering units; and, switching 11,000 more persons from manual to mechanized labor.

As Comrade K. U. Chernenko stresses, the tasks of raising the level of management of scientific-technical progress demand mobilization of organizational efforts and the material means necessary for "the earliest possible technical re-equipping of all sectors of the national economy and rapid incorporation of the most progressive technologies in production. This is a key challenge. To meet it means also to meet the challenge of intensification and raising the efficiency of the economy."

Meeting this demand will enable us to make maximum use of intensive methods of production, carry out qualitative changes in production, and thereby achieve good final results for the national economy.

It is not possible to solve the many different and complex problems of intensification of production without a corresponding improvement in the whole system of the economic mechanism to bring it fully into line with the level of development of production forces and production relations. Comrade K. U. Chernenko stresses that active dissemination of the brigade contract, everbroader introduction of cost accounting, increasing the independence and accountability of economic managers and labor collectives, and intensifying material and moral incentive are effective ways to raise labor productivity, reduce materials-intensiveness, and achieve good final quality indicators.

Under the conditions of our republic it is especially important to integrate the national, regional, and sectorial aspects of planning and management that promote intensification of and improved efficiency in production.

A high rate of growth in population and labor resources is an important regional feature of the republic. The Uzbek SSR figure for natural population growth is almost triple the USSR average. This necessitates rational and optimal use of labor resources. To solve this major sociopolitical and economic problem and raise the efficiency of the country's public production overall the following steps are essential: (1) make the fullest possible use of production potential by raising the shift coefficient of equipment (this indicator is 1.3 for the Uzbek SSR); (2) insure accelerated development of the labor-intensive sectors of industry, in particular machine building and light and food industry, with a sharp rise in the proportion of final output; (3) continue the policy of establishing branches and shops in small cities and in urban-type and rural communities; (4) step up the increase in nonagricultural employment of the population in the rural areas; (5) develop the sectors of the nonproduction sphere at a surpassing rate, for the level of their development is significantly below USSR averages; (6) -- and this is very important -- sharply increase the training of skilled workers, for one of the real contradictions in development of the republic's economy is the serious discrepancy between the level of skills training of labor cadres and their organization and discipline, on the one hand, and the contemporary technical and technological level of public production on the other.

Refinement of the economic mechanism should insure the transition of the economy to the intensive path of development, comprehensive use of the natural and economic resources of Uzbekistan, and accelerated introduction of scientifictechnical advances and development of the initiative and creative activism of production collectives in working out and implementing steps to raise labor productivity and reduce the prime cost of output. These tasks are taking on special importance at the present time in connection with the formation of the above-plan economy fund at every enterprise and on the oblast, kray, and republic levels and with the socialist obligations of the working people -- to work two days in 1985 with economized raw and processed materials and fuel and to carry out a large-scale economic experiment.

A large majority of the labor collectives in the republic are striving to see that the person at every work position takes a conscious, highly responsible attitude toward his duty, works creatively, and uses machinery, equipment, and raw and processed materials economically. Suffice it to say that if in the current year an increase in the output-capital ratio of just one kopeck per ruble of production capital is achieved, on the scale of the republic this will mean an additional 180 million rubles worth of output. It was emphasized at the 11th session of the Supreme Soviet of the Uzbek SSR, 10th convocation, that strengthening state, plan, and financial discipline and rigorously following economy and thrift principles made it possible in 1984 to mobilize internal reserves worth 248 million rubles, and this amount was used chiefly to raise the standard of living of the working people.

11176 CSO: 1830/253

#### UZBEKISTAN'S INTERNAL LABOR DEMOGRAPHY PROBLEM

Tashkent PRAVDA VOSTOKA in Russian 18 Jan 85 p 3

[Article by K. Nomerovannyy, member of the USSR Union of Journalists: "The Dzhizak Steppe Awaits Its Conquerors"]

[Text] "Take steps toward rational use of labor resources and create conditions which promote resettlement of surplus population from densely populated oblasts and rayons to virgin land regions" -- from the decree of the 23rd Plenum of the Central Committee of the Uzbek Communist Party

It is a 10-hour train trip from Andizhan to Dzhizak. Outside the window you see cotton fields and kolkhoz settlements. All the way to Khavast it is as thickly settled as a city street.

A kolkhoz member's home flashes by. It has two well-built houses and numerous outbuildings, but no garden and no livestock quarters. Instead of animals there are two green Zhiguli's [cars] parked in the yard.

"The truth is that the farmer is being crowded in the Fergana Valley," I recalled being told in a recent conversation at the Andizhan Oblast party committee. They said that the population of the Fergana Valley had increased five times in 60 years. Andizhan Oblast, for example, has 358 persons per square kilometer. In Leninskiy Rayon the applications of kolkhoz members for land to be allocated for them to build homes for growing families lie unmet for years in the boards of directors of the kolkhozes. There are more and more such families in recent years. Some farms have less than a quarter of a hectare of arable public land per ablebodied kolkhoz member. Given such saturation and the high level of mechanization of field work, kolkhoz members lose their material incentive.

Oblast party and Soviet organs are devoting an enormous amount of attention to building branches of plants and factories and to the development of subsidiary industries in the rural areas. But the employment problem remains critical. Labor productivity is rising too slowly in the rural areas, and the prime cost of output is not going down fast enough. At the same time major industrial construction projects and new cotton zones in the republic lack workers. As noted at the October 1984 Plenum of the CPSU Central Committee, our country has 16 million hectares of irrigated and improved land which produces all the cotton and rice, 75 percent of the grain corn, and much other output. But one out of five farms has a cotton yield of less than 20 quintals a hectare. Too little feed is grown on irrigated land and the yields of grain and vegetable crops are low.

Uzbekistan has 3.7 million hectares of irrigated land, a large part of which is in the new cotton zones. Hundreds of millions of rubles have been spent to develop land, but there has been no substantial return. The necessary level of production has not been attained because of the shortage of people. At the same time the Fergana Valley has a labor surplus.

They say it is hard to get an Andizhaner to move. This is not exactly true. You can find people from Andizhan working on BAM [Baikal-Amur Mainline], in the Non-Chernozem region, laying gas pipelines, and building oilfields. Hundreds of families are also working on the new lands of the Dzhizak and Karshi steppes. Among them are Khursand Tursunov, the well-known organizer of agricultural production who is now the director of the Andizhan Sovkhoz, Rashid Abdurakhmanov, director of the Sovkhoz imeni XXV Parts"yezda in Zarbdarskiy Rayon, and others. They have left the settled regions and come, in families and sometimes even groups of families, at their own initiative, to conquer the Dzhizak Steppe.

The whole thing comes down to how the new settlers are met in the new place.

For example, take the farms in Zarbdarskiy Rayon. The rayon was established in 1979. It was developed by the incorporation of six cotton-growing sovkhozes. There are also orchard-farming and animal husbandry farms in the rayon, as well as the republic's oldest horse farm. Andizhaners have set up sponsorship relations with them. According to the plan, the rayon was supposed to produce 28,300 tons of cotton last year, or 13.2 quintals per hectare. The low yield there is not because of poor soil, but rather the lack of skilled and diligent laborers. For 795 square kilometers there are only 25,000 people, half of whom live in the rayon center.

Two hundred families of Andizhaners moved to the Sovkhoz imeni XXV Parts"yezda in May of 1984. This farm has already incorporated 4,100 hectares of arable land. The central buildings are very good compared to other farms in the rayon. They have a school, stores, and cultural-domestic facilities and are continuing to build housing.

Last fall several brigades and divisions headed by Andizhaners fulfilled their plans for cotton procurement and demonstrated complete mastery of working and watering the fields.

More than 1,000 families have come to Zarbdarskiy Rayon from Leninsk, Kurgantepe, Markhamat, Pakhtaabad, and Balykchinskiy, Andizhanskiy, and Moskovskiy rayons and are now employed in different sectors of production. Khursand Tursunov, director of the Andizhan Sovkhoz, relates: "Early in the spring of 1983,400 Andizhaners arrived. In the very first year we were able to increase cotton production by 2,100 tons. In 1982 the sovkhoz had a loss of 2 million rubles, but in 1983 the farm's profit was 1.9 million rubles."

Khidoyatullo Akhmedov, secretary of the party organization at the Andizhan Sovkhoz and former chairman of the planning commission of the Leninsk City Executive Committee, adds to the director's story:

"The sovkhoz has 63 communists and 106 Komsomol members. They are the backbone, and are settled firmly in the virgin lands. They set an example in labor. But..."

Here he sighs deeply:

"The new arrivals need, above all, a roof over their heads, a home for the family, and cultural-domestic conditions as good as those they had in the Fergana Valley. Our countrymen from the Andizhan MPMK [possibly "intergovern-mental mobile mechanized column"] promised to build 5,000 square meters of housing for us back in 1983, but the buildings still have not been turned over for occupation."

The farm has 5,500 hectares of developed land, but employs only 600 people. There are 10 hectares per cotton farmer.

For many Andizhaners conquest of the Dzhizak Steppe has become the main cause in their life. There are great prospects, and work enough for more than one generation. There are also good conditions for leisure time there. What is the value of the Arnasayskiye Razlivy [Arnasay Freshets] alone! There is also room for hunters and fishermen, and for lovers of water sports. In addition there are six forestry enterprises, three preserves, and a national park.

But the main thing for now is work. The same Andizhan Sovkhoz has only its central buildings plus two small settlements and 9 divisions with one building or trailer apiece. For 70 cotton brigades they have just 21 field camps. The new lands look like desert; there are few trees.

There is no question that people ran into many difficulties at first -- poor domestic service and housing arrangements and inadequate mechanization of production. And at first newcomers tolerate all this. But only at first. If this is abused, the desire of people to move here may be extinguished. And it is not enough in this case simply to assign a person to new housing. Still more concern must be shown for him. Sponsorship obligations in this case must be carried out as a solemn duty.

The virgin land is waiting for immediate, effective help; it is waiting for direct participation by the farms of the Fergana Valley in meeting the challenges posed for the republic by the October Plenum of the CPSU Central Committee.

11,176 CSO: 1830/253

# BOOK ON ESTONIAN COMMUNIST PARTY REVIEWED

Moscow VOPROSY ISTORII KPSS in Russian No 11, Nov 84 pp 135-137

[Review by T. T. Popov, candidate of historical science, of book "Kommunisticheskaya Partiya Estonii v Tsifrakh (1920-1980)" [The Communist Party of Estonia in Figures (1920-1980)] Eesti raamat, Tallin, 1983, 310 pp]

[Text] Speaking of the successes of Great October and of the establishment of Soviet power in the provinces, V. I. Lenin remarked that if the revolution accomplished its work so rapidly "it was because we relied completely on the local elements, revealed the full scope of action to them, and in fact expected from the provinces the enthusiasm that generated the invincibility and the speed of action of our revolution".

Lenin's observations on the important of local party organizations in strengthening and augmenting the leading role of the CPSU in the revolutionary transformation of society has taken on still greater importance at the stage of developed socialism. The 26th CPSU Congress noted the enormous role of local party organizations in strengthening the determination of the rank and file to solve the major problems of today. The CPSU Central Committee is constantly studying the state of affairs in the provinces, and on the basis of a comprehensive and thorough analysis it reaches conclusions of importance to all the party.

Also stemming from this is the need for constant study of the status of the party rank and file in the provinces. Local party organizations are devoting great attention to research on this topic. Evidence in particular of this is the article by A. A. Prutskiy "Party Life: Figures and Facts. (Digests of the Statistical Material of Local Party Organizations)", which was published in the journal VOPROSY ISTORII KPSS [QUES-TIONS OF HISTORY OF THE CPSU] (No. 5 for 1984). The article properly noted that in recent years publications have contained much material revealing various aspects of the life of local CPSU organizations.

However it analyzed only data from a single decade -- since 1970. Left unexamined are materials that to a considerable extent feature the

\* V. I. Lenin, "Poln. sobr. soch." [Complete Works], Vol. 45, p. 249.

establishment and development of local party organizations, including the Communist Party of Estonia /KPE/. The article only mentions the advisability of utilizing the work experience of this republic's party organization. However, the figures contained in the statistical digest of the KPE for 60 years clearly show that the KPE grew and developed on the base of the principle of individual selection from the time of its origin, and that CPSU decrees were carried out regarding the regulation of party ranks and the assignment of communists in the most important areas of the building of socialism and communism.

The special features of this book and the existence of factors typifying the activity of the Communist Party under exceptional conditions are the grounds that make this work stand out.

We note that the digest, which has come out in its first edition, includes the entire period from the moment of the birth of the Estonian Communist Party up to the present day (1920-1980).

The novelty and practical value of the digest further consist in the fact that it publishes for the first time material on the structure and numerical composition of the Union of the Estonian Region of the RSDRP /Russian Social Democratic Workers' Party/ before 1910. Also put into scholarly circulation are materials that reveal the activities of the party organizations of Estonian national units in the Red Army in the years of the Great Patriotic War. Although military communists were not part of the republic's party organization, they played a large role after demobilization in replenishing and strengthening its ranks.

The book employs a topical-chronological method that makes it possible to pick out the highlights of the party's establishment and development throughout the entire course of its history, and to follow the changes in its quantitative and qualitative makeup and in its organizational structure.

Serving as the documentary basis of the digest are statistical reports of primary party organizations, of rayon and municipal committees and of the Estonian Communist Party Central Committee. Where statistical reports were lacking, the compilers used information from the minutes of party congresses, reports of mandate commissions and other documents.

One service of the compilers of the digest is the great amount of work done to come up with statistical data from the period of the Estonian bourgeois state, when the activities of communists were carried out under the strictest conspiratorial conditions. At that time party membership lists were not maintained, and party cards were not issued, which, naturally, complicated the work of the compilers of the digest. In 1940, after the legalization of the KPE, communists were issued party cards, and documents were produced that contained information on the numbers and activities of party members in the pre-revolutionary period. It is clear from these data that even under deep underground conditions party ranks were being replenished. Where the party consisted of 690 members in June 1920, there were three times that many by early 1924 (see p. 37). In addition, the party organization contained many active members, who became the party's solid reserve.

The book also notes the special features of admission to the party in Initially admission to the Estonian Communist Party was acthat period. complished without passing through the candidate stage upon the recommendation of two communists regardless of their length of party membership. But in August 1940 the candidate stage was introduced, plus recommendations from three party members who had been party members for at least three years. With this procedure there was a considerable drop in the influx of new members into the ranks of the Communist Party of Estonia. Since there were few communists in the republic who had been party members for more than three years, in 1941 the Central Committee of the VKP(b) /All~Union Communist Party(Bolshevik)/ allowed recommendations from those who had been party members for at least six months, provided that they also knew the person recommended for at least six months (see p. 46). This helped to replenish the party's ranks. Where in January 1941 11 persons had been admitted to the party as candidate members, 145 were admitted in May (see p. 45).

The favorable conditions for party admission that were established for the ESSR were extended to Estonian national military units, which aided in setting up an abundance of organizations in combat units.

We cannot fail to note the unique conditions under which the republic's communist party was constituted. The Estonian party organization left the RKP(b). In June 1920 the Politburo of the RKP(b) Central Committee approved its direct entry into the Communist International. In November 1920 the first congress of that organization definitively confirmed the structure of the party and decided to call it the "Communist Party of Estonia — a Section of the Communist International."

In connection with the continual repression on the part of the authorities the composition of the communist party was changed. The major change took place in 1938, when a large number of communists were amnestied from prison by the bourgeois regime. In addition, the party ranks were considerably replenished through the admission of new members and by the return of communists from abroad. Since admission to the party was restricted in the late 1930s, there were considerably fewer young people in its ranks than in the 1920s. Seventy-seven percent of communists were between the ages of 30 and 50, and 22.5 percent of them were women (see pp. 35-36). This was the makeup of the republic's communist party on the eve of the revolution of 1940.

After the republic's liberation from the German Fascist occupiers, growth in the ranks of the KPE was rapid. In 1945 alone communist party membership tripled. The social base of the party's growth was continually broadened. In the first years after Estonia's liberation from the German Fascist occupiers the growth of party organizations was mainly due to demobilized communists and candidate party members returning from other union republics. Later on, party ranks were replenished by the best representatives of local workers, peasants and intellectuals.

During this period women made up more than a fourth of those admitted to the party, and in some years, a third. The number of women in the KPE grew 1.4 times faster than the total membership of the republic's party organization. During all the postwar years the percentage of women in the KPE was higher than the average all-party percentage, which in 1957 were 27.9 and 19.7, respectively (see pp. 79 and 110).

The social base under the conditions of developed socialism has considerably aided the party's numerical growth. From 1959 to 1980 the republic's party organization increased by a factor of 3.2. The growth in the educational level of new members has created conditions for improvement in the party's qualitative makeup. Where in 1959 46.4 percent of candidate party members had a secondary or higher education, in 1980 91.2 percent of them did (see pp. 143-144).

The republic's party organization has many party veterans who joined before the revolution and in the period of underground struggle under the conditions of the bourgeois dictatorship. As of 1 January 1959 there were 13 party members who had joined prior to October /1917/, and 61 who had been members since 1917 (see p. 149).

The party's makeup has an international flavor. As of 1981 the KPE was made up of 69 nationalities. The majority were Estonians, Russians, Ukrainians, Belorussians and Finns (see p. 182).

Several tables show the development of the party educational system in the republic. One can follow the rapid growth in the number of students in various types of party education (see pp. 228, 240 and 244).

It should also be noted that there are well-written historical surveys for the book's sections and chapters. The reader is thus enabled to more fully appreciate the statistical material coming at him from all sides, and to follow the course of development of the republic's communist party. The reader discovers in this digest proof that Estonia's social-democratic organizations were from their very beginning an integral part of the RSDRP as one of its local organizations.

Of definite interest are the maps showing the party organizations of Estonian Bolsheviks on the eve of the October Socialist Revolution and of the socialist revolution of 1940, their numerical and national makeup and the occupations of communists (see pp. 23 and 41). The tables on the organizational structure of the Estonian Communist Party, together with the maps, clearly show the times and places that KPE congresses and conferences were held in the period from 1920 to 1940, with their agendas, and the times and places of party activists' meetings and conferences. This information is considerably amplified by data on the Estonian Komsomol (number of organizations and their makeup, komsomol congresses, etc.).

Of great interest are the photocopies of party cards of the Estonian Communist Party from the bourgeois period, fragments of its program (for 1920), and the mandates of delegates to the Second KPE Congress and to the Third Comintern Congress.

The materials in the digest are undoubtedly of great scholarly and practical importance. They reflect the process of quantitative and qualitative changes in the republic's party organization throughout its entire history.

While noting the value of the book under review, it must be said that the compilers have not escaped without fault. Some important positions are either not brought out or not sufficiently covered in the digest. In particular, the structure of the primary party organizations is not well shown or discussed. Diagram No. 8 on p. 236 is not accompanied with a commentary. The trend that it shows of record growth in the number of communists of the indigenous nationality could be misunderstood without an explanation of the circumstances.

In conclusion I would like to emphasize once more that the digest under review is a remarkable addition to the literature of the social sciences. It will undoubtedly attract the attention of scholars and practical workers in the field of party construction.

COPYRIGHT: Izdatel'stvo TsK KPSS "Pravda", "Voprosy istorii KPSS", 1984

12697 CSO: 1800/167

# SIBERIANS FEAR RIVER DIVERSION COULD DESTROY IRTYSH

[Editorial Report] Moscow OKTYABR' in Russian No 12, December 1984 publishes on pages 173-185 a 9,000-word article entitled "We Live on the River" by Vladimir Cheshegorov. Cheshegorov offers a detailed survey of the extensive damage already done to the Irtysh by water projects such as the Karaganda Canal and the Bukhtarminskaya Hydroelectric Station. While acknowledging the urgent need for water in the south, he warns that the Irtysh is already so depleted that diverting more of its flow to Central Asia might destroy it.

Cheshegorov's article chronicles a trip he took along the entire length of the river from its source at Lake Zaysan to Khanty Mansiysk, where the Ob' and Irtysh diverge. Along the way he listens to people as they describe the environmental damage that has taken place over the years as the river has been exploited by industry and agriculture. Those who live on the river feel that their needs have been forgotten. Cheshegorov shares their sorrow and frustration. He describes the ruin of the region's fisheries and the migration of villagers away from flood plains that no longer support their farms. He remembers when the exploitation of the Tyumen oil fields first brought changes to the river, "catching sight of a self-propelled tanker creeping with difficulty against the current, we shook our fists at it. We knew what kind of 'black gold' it was bringing us in its hold. This 'gold' glistened later in oily spots on the water and along the shore. Every time we went swimming we crawled out of the water spotted like giraffes. It took a long time to scrape the oil tablets off with sand. Even the most thoughtless of us in those days knew that we had to cut off the gills of a fish immediately after it was caught."

Cheshegorov believes that the entire river is now threatened, beginning at its very source. He quotes an old man who lives on Lake Zaysan, which has suffered from intensive water use in eastern Kazakhstan, "the lake is ill. Terribly ill. There is no snow at all in the mountains, the streams do not flow into the lake. The water has receded 4 meters. It makes me sick to look at it." Cheshegorov finds the situation downstream just as bad:

"Beginning at Omsk and going downriver, literally every 3 to 5 kilometers one's eye falls on sluice gates. Pumping stations suck water out of the Irtysh with large steel trunks to supply cities and villages; irrigation systems also cling to the river ... along the path of the motor ship it is impossible to count all of the large and small sluice gates on the main channel, the tributaries and the streams. And even without them the Irtysh is not abundant in this region: after all, beginning at Omsk and going upstream there are no significant tributaries for 1,300 kilometers." This section of the river flows through the dry steppe where it splits into numberous channels and loses even more water. The river will be further strained by the massive increase in irrigated acreage called for in the October 1984 CPSU resolution on land reclamation.

Hydroelectric stations comprise another serious threat to the river. According to Cheshegorov "the summer that construction began on the Bukhtarminskaya Hydroelectric Station our river, the Bolshaya, a tributary of the Irtysh, was taken away from us ... the river grew so shallow that only the mud in the river bed kept us from fording it." Cheshegorov describes other consequences of daming the river:

"In the years after the completion of the Bukhtarminskaya Hydroelectric Station the losses from the shortfall of forage crops from flood plains in the Omsk Oblast alone came to more than 350 million rubles. During this time a fourth of the flood plain increased so much in salinity that the topsoil was ruined ... the supply of fish was depleted, wildfowl disappeared, the ability of the river to clean itself was sharply decreased."

5

Cheshegorov visits the Bukhtarminskaya Station and talks to the workers. He is appalled by their mercenary attitude towards the river. He describes the opinion of a young worker who believes that "if the energy of the entire Irtysh were to be converted to kilowatt hours, and these, in turn, would all go into production, then the profits would be so great that there would be enough money to build a second Irtysh." Questioning the young man further, he discovers that most of the workers at the hydroelectric station keep boats on the reservoir, where there are "excellent sites, beautiful shores, many fish." This is in stark contrast to the scene downstream. Cheshegorov berates the worker, "You have created a heavenly corner for yourselves, but below your dam there is hardly a trickle of water." Cheshegorov asks, "Is it worth it then to be concerned that (the Irtysh) is growing shallow, when it would be much more simple in light of our technical capabilities to break it up into a few sections with dams and admire our 'artificial seas?' No, this is not the fruit of an inflamed imagination. Something similar already exists in plans." He continues bitterly, "But how is it possible to cut something living into parts and admire these stump parts, how can there still be a glimmer of life in them?"

In light of the present state of the river, Cheshegorov is alarmed by Central Asia's growing demand for water. He asks:

"Are we doing the right thing by overworking such a depleted river? Should we then be surprised that the Irtysh grows noticeably shallower each year? ... And the Irtysh-Karaganda Canal with its planning estimate of up to a 76 cubic meter outflow of water per second is already built. Now the canal will lead further to Dzhezkazgan, and, naturally, its capacity will increase. But this is not all: they are working out plans to divert part of the flow of the Siberian rivers to the south. And this will effect the Irtysh. In the region where it discharges into the Ob' they plan to take 25 cubic kilometers of water for the first phase of the diversion, and for the second--up to 60. But to this enormous figure one must unfortunately continue to add more and more, because the use of water for the industrial and everyday needs of cities and villages near the Irtysh will grow; nearby sovkhozes will also expand their network of irrigation systems; and, besides that, water is needed to fill the reservoir of the Shul'binskaya Hydroelectric Station already under construction. In this event, what will remain of the Irtysh itself?"

Cheshegorov admits that water is desperately needed in the south, but he defends the rights of those who live along the river and love it, "the Irtysh has as much significance for the Siberian as it does for the southerner."

Cheshegorov finds no easy answers to resolve the conflict between the demands of the economy and the environment. He discusses the problem with land reclamation engineer Fedor Ivanovich Shilyayev:

Shilyayev admits problems, but believes hydrotechnical projects must be built anyway, "After all, scientists, like all mortals, learn from their mistakes. But are these always mistakes? Doing something for the first time, it is difficult to guess all of the consequences that will occur many years in the future. On the other hand, are we always ready to renounce our intentions, even if we know about the negative consequences? No, without submerging flood plains we cannot build hydroelectric stations. The flooding is a negative consequence. So what do we choose? The hydroelectric station."

Cheshegorov replies, "That's true, but each year the choice engenders more heated debate."

"Yes, that is so. A reappraisal of our values is going on. Now scientists are more concerned with ecological problems, and this is good news. Before, when the engineering mentality predominated we were delighted with projects to subjugate nature. When these projects are carried out they are truly impressive. You yourself have seen the Bukhtarminskaya Hydroelectric Station and the Karaganda Canal. But voices are ringing out ever more insistently, saying that in building them we are at the same time harming nature, the earth where we live. I read in LITERATURKA<sup>\*</sup> how sharply Candidate of Economic Sciences Peredentsev quarreled with Gerardi, the main engineer of the project to divert Siberian rivers to Kazakhstan and Central Asia. "To be perfectly honest," Fedor Ivanovich said, in what seemed to me an almost guilty voice, "in spirit I'm on Perevedentsev's side."

\* LITERATURNAYA GAZETA

# "Why only in spirit?" I said, not quite understanding.

"Because," Fedor Ivanovich continued, "as an engineer Gerardi's position is understandable to me. An important task has been put before his collective, one important to the country and interesting for an engineer... (But), the so-called conqueror of nature and her defender are coming out as opposing forces, the arguments between them are growing sharper and more heated. But this is good: in the argument the truth will come out."

Shilyayev goes on to describe progress in creating hydrotechnical systems which will use less water; for example, overhead mist irrigation systems and low pressure dams which would cause less damage to flood plains. However, he concludes, "I must be honest: the former glory of the powerful river will not return now, but the water level of the Irtysh might be raised."

# CSO: 1800/179

.

141

#### SNAGS IN INCREASING UZBEK LABOR PRODUCTIVITY

[Editorial Report] Tashkent KOMMUNIST UZBEKISTANA in Russian No 12, December 1984 carries on pages 19-25 a 3,000-word article by V. Chervov, sector chief for wages and production work in the Uzbek Council of Labor Unions and candidate of economic sciences, titled "Labor Discipline and Improving the Economic Mechanism." Chervov notes that the republic's ministries and departments are implementing a series of measures to strengthen the system of production quotas. The percent of technically based norms in industry has been raised to 76, for example. Still, work in this area does not yet meet the requirements for ensuring growth in labor productivity. The practice of planning the wage fund on the basis of achieved levels does not stimulate economic interest in lowering the labor intensiveness of production. Norms are increasingly being used to regulate wages without considering the actual contribution of the worker, which has produced a significant discrepancy between the level of productivity and output norms, according to Chervov. Over the last 3 years in the republic there has been a 2.2 percent rate of overfulfilling the plan for labor productivity, while piece-workers have overfulfilled the plan for output norms at a rate of 24 percent. "As we see, growth in output norms does not help in increasing labor productivity."

Chervov comments on the effect of not updating norms. Enterprises of the coal, ferrous metallurgy, and construction materials industries show a particularly high proportion of unfulfilled norms, while at the same time one producer in five overfulfills them at a rate of 150 percent and higher owing to dated norms. Meanwhile labor union organs have actually weakened their attention to updating norms. They do not fully use material stimulation for switching to technically based norms or for encouraging plan fulfillment using fewer laborers. Introduction of new technology often does not result in updating old norms.

The brigade form of labor, which involved 57.4 percent of republic industry workers at the beginning of 1984, has helped the republic increase production volume by 5.1 percent over 1982. In 1983, 45 percent of the brigades in construction were working on contract, and they performed more than half the volume of all construction and installation work. Total length of construction time for living space was reduced by 5.1 percent and its cost was reduced by 1.3 percent. At the same time, says Chervov, wages grew faster than productivity. In 1982-83 the output of a single worker grew from 18,894 rubles to 18,908 (or the 1983 figure was 100.1 percent of the 1982 one). Meanwhile,

the average monthly wage, 253 and 258 rubles respectively for the two years, grew at a comparison rate of 102.1 percent. Thus wages outstripped productivity by 2 percent. In the ministries of construction and installation, and special construction work of the republic, wages outstripped productivity by 5.3 to 10.7 percent.

Chervov observes that most violations of labor discipline occur among workers doing subsidiary jobs, where the rate of manual, unmechanized labor is over twice as high as in the basic professions. In spite of this only 20 percent of the resources expended to mechanize manual labor goes to the subsidiary production area.

COPYRIGHT: "Kommunist Uzbekistana". 1984

CSO: 1830/342  $\label{eq:states} \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} e_{1} & e_{2} \\ e_{2} & e_{3} \\ e_{3} & e_{3} \\ e$ , Ψ. ...

and a start of the start of the

. 

#### ARTICLES VIEW DESERTIFICATION, WATER USE IN TURKMEN SSR

[Editorial Report] Ashkabad TURKMENSKAYA ISKRA in Russian 12 December 1984 carries on page 3 a 1,000-word book review entitled "A New Book on Desertification." Candidate of Geographic Sciences A. Batyrov reviews "Desertification: Battle Strategies" by I. S. Zon and N. S. Orlov, scientists of the Institute of Deserts of the Turkmen Academy of Sciences. Zon and Orlov have compiled data from the 1977 UN conference on problems of desertification as well as research done in the Soviet Union and abroad. The book examines international cooperation in combatting desertification and "emphasizes that desertification is not only a scientific technical problem, but, fundamentally, a social-economic and political problem." Zon and Orlov also discuss the allocation of water resources for energy and agriculture in the Soviet Union. They use the example of the Karakum Canal to examine implications of the territorial redistribution of water under desert conditions. According to reviewer Batyrov, this research is especially important now, when planning work is being done on "the world's largest hydrotechnical project," the proposed diversion of water from Siberian rivers into Central Asia.

On 20 November TURKMENSKAYA ISKRA carries a 200-word unattributed Turkmeninform report entitled "A Prognosis of 'Health' for the Desert." The article describes a long-term study being conducted by the Institute of Deserts of the Turkmen Academy of Sciences. Scientists are attempting to forecast the environmental effects of irrigation on the Karakum desert. Along with soil and climate studies, photos taken from space have been used to predict the future progress of desertification.

The 7 December 1984 issue of TURKMENSKAYA ISKRA carries on page 2 a 1,000-word article entitled "A Firm Foundation for Agriculture" by A. Khodzhamuradov, the Turkmen minister of land reclamation and water management. Khodzhamuradov outlines the progress of irrigation and land improvement projects already under construction, applauding the benefits that will result from the Karakum and Tashauz Canals. He emphasizes the need for the even more extensive programs outlined in the October 1984 CPSU resolution on land reclamation which calls for 1.42 million hectares of irrigated land and a 59,300 km drainage collector network in the republic by 1991.

Khodzhamuradov continues, "The land reclamation and agricultural workers are pinning great hopes on the construction of a unified trans-Turkmen runoff collector for the entire republic. We would gain much from its construction. It would stop the runoff of mineralized waters into the Amu Darya and onto pastureland. A more economically acceptable variant would be to direct drainage waters into the Uzba, the old channel of the Amu Darya, along which the river once carried water to the Caspian."

On 11 January TURKMENSKAYA ISKRA publishes an article entitled "To More Fully Utilize Natural Resources" by N. Lalymenko, director of the Nebit-Dag agricultural, forestry and land reclamation station of the Institute of Deserts of the Turkmen Academy of Sciences. Lalymenko describes efforts to assess and develop the agricultural potential of the Nebit-Dag rayon of western Turkmenistan. He believes that with irrigation the Nebit-Dag could be a valuable producer of forage crops. He advocates full use of water resources already available in the area. According to Lalymenko, subsidiary farms attached to industrial enterprises could make use of purified waste waters. Lalymenko claims that mineralized ground waters can be a valuable resource for agriculture. He cites research done in the Karagidzhakskiy Rayon in which such water was successfully used to irrigate certain varieties of forage crops. According to Lalymenko, "These facts are extremely convincing. I can add that in many countries they have used even more mineralized (even sea) waters for the cultivation of forage, vegetable and melon crops." Lalymenko also cites experiments with collecting and storing rain water.

CSO: 1800/173

#### UZBEK KOMSOMOL FIRST SECRETARY ON REPUBLIC PROBLEMS

[Editorial Report] Tashkent KOMMUNIST UZBEKISTANA in Russian No 12, December 1984 carries on pages 26-33 a 3,500-word article by First Secretary of the Uzbek Komsomol Central Committee B. Allamuradov titled "Communist Upbringing of Youth the Komsomol's Most Important Matter." Most of the article is devoted to recommendations for improvement in work with Uzbekistan's young people.

Allamuradov observes that Uzbekistan is a republic of the young. In industry and construction every other worker is a youth or a young woman. In cotton growing, light industry, and corn growing as well as in the sphere of services this figure is two out of three. The conclusion from this is that much of the republic's economic performance depends on young people.

The Uzbek Komsomol, says Allamuradov, needs to devote more attention to stirring healthy, strapping young people out of their torpor or separating them from their indulgent parents. "Many students decline work in student construction detachments using various pretexts or parental connections. In Nukus State University, for example, during the period from 1981-1984 52 students, for the most part children of management workers, shirked from working together with their peers." At a time when religious figures are more and more actively courting the hearts of young people, says the author, some Komsomol committees are in the position of outside observers in the battle with religion. In spite of measures to combat criminal activity among youth, this activity has not decreased. In the Komsomol it was, in fact, growing. Allamuradov ascribes this to slackening attention to organizing leisure time. Nothing has been done, he says, about the idea of creating sports and cultural complexes. This vacuum is easily filled by a preoccupation among youth with elements of bourgeois culture. Likewise, the recent increase in bourgeois propaganda aimed at fanning religious and nationalistic feelings must not be ignored.

Contacts between republic Komsomol organizations and the military units of the Turkestan Military District are strengthening. This year 656 youths from the republic entered the country's higher military academies. Moreover, since the beginning of the current five-year plan 23,000 young men and women have joined their fates with Komsomol shock worker projects, including 8,000 who left Uzbekistan to do so. The republic's 95,000 young communists, says Allamuradov, form the nucleus of our party's program for future successes.

COPYRIGHT: "Kommunist Uzbekistana". 1984

CSO: 1830/342

# KASSR POWER, ELECTRIFICATION MINISTRY COLLEGIUM MEETS

[Editorial Report] Alma-Ata KAZAKHSTANSKAYA PRAVDA in Russian on 15 February 1985 carries on page 2 a 200-word KazTAG report on the 14 February expanded session of the KaSSR Ministry of Power and Electrification Collegium, which discussed the results for 1984 and the measures being taken to fulfill the plan for 1985. V.T. Kazachkov, KaSSR Minister of Power and Electrification, and others noted that the plan for 1984 was fulfilled for the distribution of thermal energy, the volume of output disposed of, and for profit. New power transmission lines and the final, eighth energy block of the Ekibastuz GRES-1 have been introduced. The construction of other stations of the Ekibastuz complex, the Shchul'binsk GES, and lines for ultra long-range transmissions is continuing. However, some shortcomings still remain, as for example, the production of electrical energy was not fulfilled last year. A number of measures to improve production and workers discipline were developed. K.T. Turysov, secretary of the Kazakh CP Central Committee, spoke at the session.

# PUBLIC CENSURE ENDORSED AS MEANS TO COMBAT ALCOHOLISM

[Editorial Report] Kiev RADYANS'KA UKRAYINA in Ukrainian on 29 January 1985 carries on page 4 a 1,000-word article by RADYANS'KA UKRAYINA correspondent L. Pastushenko entitled "Lost Conscience." Pastushenko reports from the village of Uladivka in Vinnitsa Oblast on a village meeting which was convened to deal with chronic alcoholics. In a village of 5,725, the author finds, "dozens are alcoholics, and every fifth one of these doesn't work!" The meeting, conducted by Vinnitsa Oblast procurator I. D. Temchenko, sought to deal with this widespread problem by interrogating and publicly censuring many of the offenders and concluded by ordering "the most hardened drunkards" to undergo compulsory treatment for alcoholism. A commentary by Temchenko follows in which he cites good results in villages and enterprises which have held this type of meeting and endorses widespread adoption of such tactics.

CSO: 1811/21

## UZBEKS HAVE 4.2 BILLION RUBLES IN SAVINGS

[Editorial Report] Tashkent SOVETSKIY UZBEKISTAN in Russian No 1, January 1985 carries on page 9 a 300-word article titled "Advantageous for Each and Every Person" which gives the information that the republic of Uzbekistan has 2,600 workers' savings banks used by 4 million depositors whose savings amount to 4.2 billion rubles as of the end of 1984. The number of deposits has doubled in the past 14 years. This information was supplied to the editors of SOVETSKIY UZBEKISTAN by Dilarom Sharipova, chair of the republic administration of the USSR State Workers' Savings Bank.

#### UZBEK 'ASKIYA', VERBAL DUELING, A DEVELOPED FOLK ART

[Editorial Report] Tashkent SOVETSKIY UZBEKISTAN in Russian No 1, January 1985 carries on pages 10, 11 an illustrated 600-word article by journalist Shoim Butayev titled "The Strength of 'Askiya' is in Laughter." The article describes a regional form of the verbal dueling found in many Turkic-speaking cultures, the Uzbek contest known as "askiya." The askiya, a popular spectator sport, has formal rules involving a theme which is announced ahead of time, a jury, and participants, often known throughout the oblast for their quick wit, who are judged on speed of response to difficult questions, as well as the clarity and aptness of their answers. This sort of wit matching has a tradition of centuries and achieved a peak in the 15th Century, the time of the famous askiyachi Abdulvase Munshi. It was also widespread in the Fergana Valley and Tashkent in the 18th and 19th centuries, according to Butayev. Folklorists have recorded and studied the devices of the best-known practitioners. Butayev regrets only that the real art of askiya is so closely bound to nuances and linguistic subtleties that it is virtually impossible to translate its entire effect into other languages.

COPYRIGHT: "Sovetskiy Uzbekistan" No 1, 1985

CSO: 1830/341

# UZBEK CP CC MEETING DISCUSSES CONSUMER GOODS

[Editorial Report] Tashkent PRAVDA VOSTOKA in Russian 18 December 1984 carries on page 1 a 200-word UzTAG report titled "Filling the Workers' Needs More Fully" announcing the 17 December session of the Uzbek CP Central Committee which discussed problems of improving trade, domestic services, the fulfillment of the plan for commerce and increasing the production of consumer goods. Participants in the session were: secretaries of oblast party committees and of the Tashkent gorkom; deputy chairmen of the Karakalpak Council of Ministers, oblast executive committees, and the Tashkent Gorispolkom; department and ministry leaders. Reports were read by Uzbek CP Central Committee Second Secretary T.N. Osetrov, first deputy chairman of the Uzbek Council of Ministers V.K. Mikhaylov, and secretary of the Uzbek CP Central Committee I.G. Anisimkin. It was noted that the measures outlined at the 16th Plenum of the Uzbek CP Central Committee were not being carried out with sufficient energy and that the negative phenomena which were revealed in the sphere of trade and domestic services were being eliminated too slowly. The need for significant improvement in organizing trade, domestic services and consumer-goods production was emphasized.

CSO: 1830/335

#### BRIEFS

ASHKHABAD PARTY AKTIV--In Ashkabad today a meeting of a republican party aktiv is being held. Its participants are examining the tasks of the republican party organization arising from the decision of the CPSU Central Committee on the work of the party organization in the Turkmen SSR in fulfilling the decision of the party's Central Committee on intensifying atheistic education. Comrade Gapurov, first secretary of the Turkmen SSR CP Central Committee, delivered a report at the meeting of the aktiv. [Text] [Moscow Domestic Service in Russian 0830 GMT 27 Feb 85 LD]

NEW KIRGHIZ TOWNS--Three new towns were established in Kirghizia. The settlement of Kant is upgraded to urban status. Two other towns were established in the Chu Valley--(Aksu) and (Sopokha). The latter is named after one of the 28 Panfilov heroes. [Summary] [Moscow Domestic Service in Russian 0004 GMT 27 Feb 85 LD]

CSO: 1830/369

END